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Hon Rory McEwen MP 
Minister for Agriculture, Food and Fisheries 

Hon Paul Holloway MLC 
Minister for Mineral Resources Development 

Hon Patrick Conlon MP 
Minister for Energy 

Dear Ministers, 

I am pleased to present the PIRSA annual report for the year ended 30 June 2005. The report has been 
prepared under section 66 of the Public Sector Management Act 1995, in accordance with the Act’s 
accompanying regulations as well as the financial reporting requirements of the Public Finance and 
Audit Act 1987.

Jim Hallion 
Chief Executive 
Primary Industries and Resources South Australia 
30 September 2005 

cc. Hon Karlene Maywald MP 
Minister for Science and Information Economy 
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Chief Executive’s overview 

PIRSA in 2004–05 has made significant contributions to creating opportunities for sustainable 
economic development in South Australia and capitalising on our competitive advantages. 

PIRSA is one of the most diversified State Government agencies with a focus on improving South 
Australia’s global competitiveness for primary industries, food, wine and resources industries. 

Importantly, our goals help in realising South Australia’s Strategic Plan – an initiative of the 
Government to mark out the path for South Australia for the coming decade. 

One of the most important targets for PIRSA arising from the South Australian Strategic Plan is to 
treble exports to $25 billion by 2013. With some 70% of exports coming from industries with direct 
links to PIRSA, such as wine, seafood, grains, horticulture, livestock, minerals, petroleum and food – 
this represents a significant challenge for us all to work towards. 

For the mining industry, the Plan for Accelerating Exploration is paying off with exploration for 
mineral resources increasing by 55% in the last year. The aim is to lift mining exploration investment 
to $100 million per annum by 2007 and boost annual mineral production and processing to $4 billion 
by 2020. 

The SA Seafood Food Plan has been launched, which aims to increase the value of the industry to  
$2 billion by 2015. The 15-point plan aims to take advantage of our seafood’s competitive advantages 
and see greater returns from markets.  

Aquaculture continues to show potential as a sustainable means of meeting the growing international 
demand for seafood. In 2004–05 PIRSA Aquaculture finalised new growth opportunities in Streaky 
Bay, Fitzgerald Bay, Arno Bay and Lacepede Bay with the approval of new aquaculture management 
plans for those areas. Adelaide was also successful in winning the right to stage the prestigious 
Australasian Aquaculture world conference in 2006. 

The dairy industry is expected to strengthen through the Driving Internationally Competitive, 
Sustainable Dairy Development project in the South East and Murraylands Regions, which has a focus 
on attracting industry investment and working towards a more viable and profitable production sector. 

By 2010 the wine industry and the South Australian Government aim to grow the contribution of the 
wine industry to the State to at least $3.1 billion per annum, by applying the new wine strategy Wine: 
A Partnership 2005–2010.

The South Australian Food Centre will receive $6.4 million over 4 years to develop and further South 
Australia’s food products. The South Australian Wine Industry Council will benefit from funding of 
$2 million over 4 years to develop and promote the wine industry. 

Marine Innovation SA (MISA), a major State Government initiative to underpin the future of the 
State’s seafood industry, has achieved several major milestones. Planning for the $25.8 million 
initiative ($13.7 million State Government and $12.1 million partner funding) is well underway to 
establish the necessary infrastructure at Port Lincoln and West Beach. Research and education 
programs are being developed by MISA partners, the South Australian Research and Development 
Institute, Flinders University, the University of Adelaide, SA Museum and the seafood industry. 

Helping SA Farmers position themselves to compete in global food markets will be a major focus for 
FarmBis 3, the joint Australian and SA Governments program to lift skills and capability in the State’s 
primary industry sector. 
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PIRSA has significantly improved its capacity to respond to emergency animal and plant disease 
incursions and participated in a major national exercise to test our systems to deal with Avian Bird 
Influenza.

Our emergency procedures were utilized, with more than 90 PIRSA staff rallying to assist farmers and 
the community, when a devastating bushfire hit the Lower Eyre Peninsula. Our work didn’t stop once 
the initial fire response was over as we continue to help the Lower Eyre Peninsula community to 
rebuild.

This year, South Australia marked its first fruit fly free season in 32 years, a significant achievement 
praised by industry in protecting the State’s $250 million fruit industry from this pest. PIRSA staff and 
the public are to be congratulated on their efforts, particularly in communicating to the traveling public 
to not bring any fruit and vegetables into the State and in boosting our quarantine controls at Adelaide 
Airport and roadblocks at key border entry points. 

Sustainable energy sources will be boosted with the formal go-ahead given for a $130 million wind 
farm on South Australia’s Eyre Peninsula, on a site between the towns of Cleve and Cowell. Hot rock 
exploration, which has the potential to create zero emission energy for South Australia and Australia, 
is also being progressed by PIRSA. 

The long-term sustainability of the State’s fisheries was further enhanced with the State Government’s 
voluntary buyback scheme with a significant 62 of the State’s 113 marine scalefish licence holders 
relinquishing their net endorsements. A new charter boat management plan, which requires fishing 
charter boat operators to be licensed from 1 August 2005, was released during the year. 

Taking another step towards building native fish stocks and improving river health, South Australian 
Research and Development Institute scientists and interstate colleagues conducted successful trials of 
two fishways through a barrage on the River Murray.

With the unifying theme of sustainable development, the department’s capacity to drive sustainable 
economic growth in South Australia has been boosted with an expansion of the organisation. From 1 
July 2005, closer integration between planning, economic development and sustainability, will be 
achieved through the inclusion of Planning SA, the Office of Local Government, the Office of the 
North, the Office for the Southern Suburbs, the Office of the North West, the Office of the Murray 
Mallee and Office of the Upper Spencer Gulf, Flinders Ranges and Outback into PIRSA.  

From 1 July 2005, the Energy SA division moved from PIRSA to the Department for Transport, 
Energy and Infrastructure. 

In the coming year we will keep on building strong partnerships and alignment with our industry 
sectors. We will also increase our capability to promote sustainable economic growth with particular 
emphasis on exports for the key industry sectors of food, wine, fibre, fisheries, aquaculture, livestock, 
grain, minerals and energy. 

I look forward to continuing to work with highly motivated and committed people to achieve our 
shared goal of sustainable development in a new era for PIRSA. 

Jim Hallion 
Chief Executive 
Primary Industries and Resources South Australia
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Highlights

PIRSA highlights for 2004–05 are provided below. 

AGRICULTURE AND WINE 
Worked with growers and Rural Solutions SA to examine the economic impacts of lower grape 
prices on the Riverland community. 
Completed a $160 000 upgrade of the Yamba Quarantine Station. 
Completed the first Fruit Fly Free season in 32 years, despite numerous outbreaks in New South 
Wales and Victoria. This includes no Mediterranean fruit fly outbreaks for the third consecutive 
year, for the first time since the 1960s. 
Secured more than $2 million in support, including Federal grants, for the development of 
sustainable horticulture and value adding on the Northern Adelaide Plains. 
Fully implemented the National Livestock Identification System (NLIS) for cattle. 
Overhauled the Citrus Industry Act and repealed the Dried Fruits Act to comply with National 
Competition Policy. 
Completed seven internal training exercises in emergency response to agricultural incidents, 
involving more than 100 PIRSA staff as well as staff from other agencies. 

AQUACULTURE 
The joint Fisheries and Research Development Corporation and PIRSA “Innovative Solutions 
for Aquaculture Planning and Management” suite of projects commenced, aimed at developing 
tools to ensure a sustainable and competitive aquaculture industry for South Australia. 
Secured hosting of the Australasian Aquaculture Conference 2006 in Adelaide. 
Aquaculture zones were finalised for Fitzgerald Bay, Streaky Bay, Arno Bay and Lacepede Bay, 
providing the opportunity for further growth in the shellfish and finfish sectors. 

COMMERCIAL PROJECTS 
Contribution to the establishment of a $30 million biodiesel production facility, currently under 
construction at Birkenhead, to produce 45 million litres of biodiesel each year for local and 
export markets. 
Contributions to a $43 million upgrade of the Eyre Peninsula grain logistics system for more 
efficient delivery of the region’s grain, equating to one third of the State’s annual production. 

FISHERIES
The development of a new Fisheries Management Bill. 
The development and review of fishery management plans. 
Progress on implementation of the Introduced Marine Pests program as part of the national 
system. 
Completion of the review of recreational boat and boat limits and their implementation.
South Australian fisheries were assessed by Commonwealth Department for Environment and 
Heritage as being ecologically sustainable against criteria established under the Environment
Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act (Cmlth) 1999 (rock lobster, abalone, prawns, 
pilchards, blue crabs and beach cast seagrass fisheries). 
Management Plans for Abalone and Lakes & Coorong Fisheries were completed. 
Management Plan for the Charter Boat Fishery, with subsequent implementation of regulations 
to licence charter boat operators by 1 August 2005. 
Revised regulations for King George whiting in response to sustainability isues. 
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Restructure of commercial net fishery with the removal of 61 net licences and the subsequent 
closure of coastal areas of Eyre Peninsula and Yorke Peninsula to net fishing in July 2005. 
Provision of policy advice along with input into the risk assessment process for Commonwealth 
fisheries including Southern Bluefin Tuna, Great Australian Bight Trawl Fishery, Small Pelagic 
Fishery and Gill Net Haul and Trap Fishery. 
Successfully completed a second stage eradication of the introduced exotic weed Caulerpa
taxifolia in the Port River, achieving 97% reduction in treated areas. 
The enhancement of on-water fisheries compliance capacity with the acquisition of purpose built 
patrol vessels for Kingston, Yorketown and Port Lincoln. 
Levels of voluntary compliance continue to be strengthened with in excess of 17 000 fisheries 
checks and awareness contact made with fishers. 
There were 23 successful court prosecutions for illegal fishing activity and 381 expiation notices 
were issued. 
The successful Fishcare Volunteer Program was maintained. During the year more than 85 
Fishcare Volunteers donated in excess of 13 000 volunteer hours and advised more than 25 000 
recreational fishers. 

FOOD SOUTH AUSTRALIA 
Food South Australia is responsible for implementation of the State Food Plan.

The new State Food Plan 2004–07 was launched by the Premier in September 2004. The Plan 
included the establishment of the Food Centre and the National Centre for Cold Chain 
Management as key strategies. 
A three-year Business Plan for the Food Centre was developed, and an Operational Plan for 
2004–05 developed and implemented. 
A partnership, between Regional Food Groups and other similar food industry organisations, 
Regional Development Boards and other economic development agencies as well as Food South 
Australia, was developed to establish a network of twelve food industry development officers 
around South Australia. 
The partnership was continued via a new one-year agreement with Food Adelaide (SA Food and 
Beverage Exporters Association Inc.) to deliver international export development services to 
export ready food companies.  
Food South Australia continued in partnership with National Food Industry Strategy Ltd. 
(NFIS), particularly in relation to the Dubai food service project. 
A three-year partnership with the Regional SA Food Cooperative was established to develop 
interstate markets for small regional food companies. 
A one-year agreement was established with Austrade to place a Food South Australia officer in 
Austrade’s Adelaide office to facilitate greater integration in relation to export development 
services.
Innovation – work progressed on the development of an innovation system for the food industry 
in conjunction with a number of stakeholders, including Regency TAFE, with the objective of 
delivering appropriate infrastructure and services. Facilitating companies to access federal 
funding was a key element of the program, with several companies successfully gaining Food 
Innovation Grants and New Export Development Grants. 

INDUSTRY STRATEGY 
Coordinated development of the National Research and Development Vision for 2005–15 to 
guide state and federal government investments in primary industries. 
Assisted development of a State Government Research and Development Strategy aligned with 
the National Vision, to ensure future state success in international markets. 
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MINERALS AND ENERGY RESOURCES
Energy 

Commenced the implementation of energy efficiency initiatives in line with the Government 
response to the Demand Side Measures Task Force. 
Increased compliance audits by 15 per cent compared with 2003–04 figures.
Implemented the Energy Efficiency Program for Low Income Households. 
Ensured, using audits, that risks to the community from the operation of gas and electricity 
networks were managed at acceptable levels. Electrical and gas related fatalities are now at an 
all time low. 
Managed the gas shortage in the South East of South Australia to minimise adverse economic 
impact. 
Assisted with the reconnection of electricity to several houses on the lower Eyre Peninsula 
following bushfires in the region. 
Increased the number of random safety audits by 10% compared with 2003–04. 

Minerals
In the 2004 calendar year, South Australia reached its highest level of mineral exploration on 
record, up 55% to a record high of $55.5 million, and reaching 6% of the national exploration 
expenditure.
Under Plan for Accelerated Exploration (PACE), key achievements included 

funding of 69 drilling projects through the Government/industry collaborative drilling 
program to the sum of $4.6 million and in turn generated more than $10 million in 
company exploration expenditure 
the professorial Chair of the Centre for Mineral Exploration is expected to be in residence 
at the University of Adelaide in the second half of 2005 
new gravity data has been acquired over highly prospective regions of the Gawler Craton 
and Curnamona Province. 

Mineral Resources Group completed its first year of geological mapping in the Musgrave 
Province. The opening up of the Anangu Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara (APY) lands to the 
Geological Survey to undertake mapping was the result of the government developing a good 
working relationship with the APY Executive, APY Land Council and Tjukurpa APY Law and 
Culture Group. In June 2005 PepinNini Minerals was granted an exploration licence to explore 
in the Musgrave Province. 
Monthly chemical analysis of the Dawesley Creek watercourse (from the former Brukunga Mine 
site) during the year indicated that metal, sulphate and acidity levels were for the first time in 
approximately 50 years (and for the majority of the year) at levels suitable for livestock 
watering.
The identification of the Eucla Basin as a new mineral province with the discovery of the Jacinth 
and Ambrosia Heavy Mineral Sand deposits. Early exploration indicates an inferred resource of 
more than 4 Mt of zircon. 
PIRSA continues to progress access to land for resource exploration, with the National Native 
Title Tribunal registering two Indigenous Land Use Agreements (ILUAs) in South Australia. 
The Arabunna and Antakarinja ILUAs are now available for use by the mineral exploration 
industry. 
New Extractive Areas Rehabilitation Fund (EARF) Guidelines were approved by the Minister 
for Mineral Resources Development in November 2004. These guidelines emphasise 
progressive rehabilitation and miner accountability. 
South Australia continues to be recognised as producer of the world’s best geoscientific data 
retaining its world number one ranking in the Fraser Institute’s Survey of Mining Companies for 
the second year in a row. 
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The re-emergence of South Australia’s uranium exploration industry, with several explorers 
adding the commodity to their portfolios and new uranium exploration companies floated on the 
ASX.

Petroleum
Successfully managed a South-East gas supply shortfall in the first half of 2005. 
Encouraged exploration, with new oil and gas pools discovered in 57 per cent of exploration 
wells in the Cooper Basin, and petroleum in 88 per cent of exploration wells, while nine 
companies applied for 54 Geothermal Exploration Licences. 

SARDI
Secured involvement in five of fourteen Federal Government cooperative research centres in the 
2004–05 round, reinforcing South Australia’s growing reputation for its world-class bioscience 
capability. South Australia will become the national headquarters for one of these centres, CRC 
for an Internationally Competitive Pork Industry. 
Instigated critical new research into suitable crops to support the emerging biodiesel fuel 
industry. 
Opened $90 million export markets for tuna from results of food safety research. 
Pioneered research into the ecology of the Eastern Great Australian Bight with award-winning 
research into the early stages of the food chain. 
Supported development of the inland biosaline aquaculture industry through innovative research 
to make use of water from the salt interception scheme. 
Developed management strategies for horticultural production under increasing saline 
environments. 
Delivered improvements in the handling of perishable produce and products as a core 
stakeholder in the formation of the Cold Chain Centre. 
Provided leadership to establish a new centre of excellence – Marine Innovation SA (MISA) 
with key sites at Pt Lincoln and West Beach involving collaboration with SA Universities and 
other research providers. The MISA initiative will establish South Australia as an internationally 
recognised centre for temperate marine research and will provide research to underpin the South 
Australian Seafood Food Plan that aims to increase the value of the seafood sector to $2 billion 
by 2010. 
Addressed the management and rehabilitation of coastal environments impacted by urban 
settlements by delivering a suite of interlinked research initiatives including ground-breaking 
methods to rehabilitate seagrass meadows. 
Secured major $2 million funding from the Grape and Wine Research and Development 
Corporation for a project to coordinate research to improve vineyard soil health. 
Delivered 64 research innovations that were funded through industry grants to meet industry 
priorities.

RURAL SOLUTIONS SA 
Significant achievements include: 

Renewed an agreement with the State and Australian Governments to provide Regional Liaison 
Officers to align with the nine Natural Resource Management Boards. 
Introduced “SaltSmart” mapping and analysis services. 
Completed “IRES” software for improving water use efficiency. 
Won a national tender to develop a framework for engaging seafood stakeholders in 
environmental management systems. 
Delivered a significant program for the Murray Darling Basin Natural Resource Management 
Group investigating the impacts and risks of pest plants and animals on primary industries and 
regional natural resources. 
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Designed and implemented a program to replant transport corridors as one initiative towards 
balancing carbon emissions from the South Australian public transport (train and bus) fleet. 
Commenced a major Pastoral Lease Assessment service on behalf of Department of Water, 
Land and Biodiversity Conservation. 
Launched the national ChemClear Program for agricultural chemical waste. 

AGENCY SUPPORT 
PIRSA’s financial controls and reporting capabilities have been boosted with improved 
processes. 
A new web-based service ‘PIRSA Payments Plus’ gives customers an electronic payment 
facility and on-line access to their account information. 
Some corporate support is provided to Department of Trade and Economic Development and 
South Australian Motor Sport Board. 
Major capital works were undertaken at the offices in Mount Gambier, Coober Pedy and 
Grenfell Street resulting in a more efficient work environment, improved service delivery, 
accessibility and security. 
Significant information technology and spatial mapping support was provided for emergency 
incidents and exercises. 
The Commissioner for Public Employment recognised PIRSA’s excellence in HR practice with 
an award for the ‘Stuck Cases’ project. The project devised a framework for the resolution of a 
range of employee relation issues. 
Excellent results against targets for Occupational Health, Safety and Injury Management 
continued with a further reduction in the lost time injury frequency rate from 10.23 hours to 6.04 
hours, for each million hours worked. 
An analysis of the structural and competition issues for the Riverland Wine Industry was 
completed and has led to a program of cross industry collaboration. 

GENERAL
PIRSA Executive continued to meet in country regions, providing opportunities to see the results of 
policies or projects and get feedback from primary producers and other key stakeholders. 
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The Year Ahead 

Some important projects and challenges in 2005–06. 

AGRICULTURE AND WINE 
Continue to enhance productivity growth in the agricultural sector, through uptake of new 
technologies and techniques. 
Continue to implement Environment Management Systems to enhance on farm sustainability. 
Increase emphasis on protection from plant diseases, and maintain disease barriers to ensure 
continuing market access both nationally and internationally. 
Continue the staged upgrades of quarantine stations for improved safety for both staff and the 
public.
Implement new and expand current value adding opportunities, particularly in the citrus, olive 
oil and vegetable sectors. 
Continue to develop the Whole of Government approach to wine industry development, and 
implement the Partnering Strategy with Industry Task groups and through Interagency Issues 
groups.

AQUACULTURE 
Ecologically sustainable development for marine and inland aquaculture resources will be 
reinforced through improved management practices and implementation of a nationally 
endorsed ESD framework. 
It is expected economic and employment opportunities will increase in regional areas with 
increased investment in aquaculture and the opening of aquaculture zones. 
New Aquaculture Regulations will come into effect, with PIRSA Aquaculture undertaking a 
comprehensive awareness campaign to promote licensee and leaseholder compliance with their 
obligations under the Aquaculture Act, licence conditions and regulations. 
There will be continued development of response capabilities in aquatic emergency animal 
disease and a broadening of the resource base to cope with emergencies. 
Innovative and incentive based management tools will be developed to promote best practice 
environmental performance for aquaculture. 

FISHERIES
Pressures on some fish stocks from all fishing activity and the need to ensure fishing activity and 
effort of all sectors (commercial and recreational) is sustainable over the long term. 
Incorporating ecological, social and economic indicators as a means of reporting on ecologically 
sustainable development for all fisheries. 
Combat increased organised crime in the fishing industry. 

FOOD SOUTH AUSTRALIA 
Development and implementation of a Food Centre Operational Plan for 2005–06. 
Continuing the partnership with Regional Food Groups and Regional Development Boards to 
build capabilities of regional food enterprises to underpin long-term sustainable growth in the 
Food Industry. Delivery capability of the food groups will continue to be consolidated through 
the Regional Food Co-operative. 
Implementation of a food industry workforce development project, in partnership with DFEEST 
and the Training and Skills Commission. 
Development of a new two-year agreement with Food Adelaide, for the delivery of international 
trade development services in 2005–06 and 2006–07. 
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Innovation – Work will continue on the development of an innovation system for the food 
industry. A full time Project Officer will be appointed to facilitate the food industry to have 
more information on the federal funding programs available and improve access to them. In 
terms of innovation diffusion, a food innovation development program will be piloted with the 
University of South Australia and a series of seminars focusing on trends in food manufacturing 
will be run in 2006. 

MINERALS AND ENERGY RESOURCES 
Minerals

Increasing South Australia’s share of the national exploration expenditure to levels only 
surpassed by Western Australia and Queeensland.  
The successful implementation of work programs associated with Year 2 of the Plan for 
Accelerating Exploration. 
The completion of the Mining Act Review, with recommendations to be acted upon. 
The Indigenous Land Use Agreement Negotiation Team will facilitate the establishment of new 
land use agreements with native title claimants of the Far West Coast and Gawler Ranges. 
The successful implementation of the Extractive Areas Rehabilitation Fund Guidelines. 
Gaining the approval for additional exploration licences in the Anangu Pitjantjatjara 
Yankunytjatjara lands. 
Maintaining PIRSA’s World No.1 position for the provision of geoscientific data. 
Raising the profile of PIRSA’s one-stop-shop capabilities for new and emerging resource based 
projects within South Australia. 
Making available fully integrated 3D imagery in the South Australian Resources Information 
Geoserver (SARIG). 

Petroleum
The Petroleum Group will continue to focus its resources to maximise the community’s net benefits 
from the State’s ownership of the rights to petroleum and geothermal resources. 

The Petroleum Group will also continue to manage the State’s petroleum, gas and geothermal 
resources on behalf of the people of South Australia by regulating operations; providing 
comprehensive, high quality geoscientific data and advice; developing sustainable practices for 
exploration and development, facilitating projects through approval processes; developing an effective 
and efficient policy and legislative framework and collecting royalties and fees. 

SARDI
SARDI expects to deliver 66 research innovations to support living environmental systems and for 
ongoing development of marine, crop, horticulture, viticulture, livestock and food based industries. 
Key projects and challenges include: 

Develop a biofuels research capability to enable South Australia to become the national leader in 
biodiesel production and innovation. 
Chart a new research direction in biotechnology innovation. A new group has been formed to 
explore the genetics of crop disease resistance, drought tolerance and product quality. The group 
will draw together SARDI’s capabilities in molecular genetics, cell culture and double haploid 
technology. Ultimately the group’s work will enhance industry competitiveness through the 
faster release of new improved varieties. 
Grow and enhance capabilities in Systems and Technologies for greater sustainability in 
agriculture including climate applications, saline water utilisation, soil salinity management, 
nutrient management and natural resources management. 
Deliver new, improved cereal and pulse varieties to the SA cropping industries through 
involvement with Australian Grain Technologies (AGT), the National Barley Breeding Program, 
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the National Pulse Breeding Program, the National Oat Breeding Program and the National 
Variety Testing Program. 
Encourage investment and upgrades to infrastructure at Loxton Centre to support the 
Riverland’s irrigated crop industries. 
Continue to develop the Marine Innovation SA initiative with a focus on the establishment of 
new infrastructure and research and teaching programs to support marine and seafood based 
industries.
Pursue research and development investment opportunities to build the infrastructure for 
intellectual research support capabilities of the Lenswood Research Centre. 
Coordinate new research capability to assist the development of a business plan for the SA Food 
Innovation Hub, a new initiative. The research capability will support product innovation and 
export access.
Identify opportunities to secure funding for Cooperative Research Centres of excellence.  
Initiate a new round of important research programs to help the pork and beef industries increase 
export earnings. The new programs are the result of securing two new Cooperative Research 
Centre - CRC for Internationally Competitive Pork Industry; and CRC for Beef Genetic 
Technologies which will be launched. 

AGENCY SUPPORT
Workforce skills and retention rates are a significant business risk. A Performance Management 
and Development framework will be implemented to give a consistent approach to supporting, 
developing and recognising each employee so they are successful in their work and career. In 
addition, an integrated workforce planning strategy will be developed to identify future 
workforce needs and address critical issues including attraction and retention. 
The security of our people, information and assets are important. The recently developed 
Security Policy will be implemented to further reduce security risks. 
An electronic document and records management system will be installed, improving the 
management and accessibility of agency information. 
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PIRSA’s role 

Organisation
The Department of Primary Industries and Resources South Australia (PIRSA) is a key government 
agency focused on sustainable economic development. 

PIRSA delivers specialist services and advice with the potential to increase the prosperity of South 
Australians, to improve their quality of life and to ensure sustainable development of the State’s 
resource base for future generations. PIRSA delivers these services through locations across South 
Australia.

PIRSA’s business is to optimise the return on South Australia’s natural assets by: 
fostering sustainable development of new and existing primary and resource industries 
facilitating global competitiveness and innovative solutions 
providing information and knowledge to industries to help them make the right decisions for 
themselves 
enabling the preservation of resources for future generations. 

During 2004–05, PIRSA comprised four industry divisions and four enabling divisions: 

INDUSTRY DIVISIONS ENABLING DIVISIONS 
Agriculture and Wine Rural Solutions SA 
Minerals and Energy Resources Food SA 
Aquaculture Commercial Projects 
Fisheries South Australian Research and Development Institute 

PIRSA’s corporate support requirements are provided through the Corporate Division. 

From 1 July 2005, the strengthened Agency will build a closer integration between planning, 
economic development and sustainability with the inclusion of Planning SA, Office of Local 
Government, Office of the North, Office for the Southern Suburbs, Office of the North West, Office of 
the Murray Mallee and Office of the Upper Spencer Gulf, Flinders Ranges and Outback. 

From 1 July 2005, the division Energy SA moves from PIRSA to the Department for Transport 
Energy and Infrastructure. 

Strategic context 
VISION

South Australia’s resources are appreciated. 
Our people are enthusiastic, capable and inspired. 
The future is exciting and full of promise. 
Focusing on results that share opportunities and provide for future generations. 

VALUES

PIRSA is an organisation that values people, commitment, integrity, empowerment and accountability, 
innovation, collaboration, customer service and achievement. These values drive the culture and style 
of the agency.
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OUTCOMES

Consistent with the overall objectives of South Australia’s Strategic Plan, PIRSA will deliver the 
following outcomes for South Australia: 
1. Growth and development of innovative and internationally competitive primary, resource and 

energy based industries in South Australia. 
2. Ecologically sustainable development of the primary industries, resources and energy sectors. 
3. Prosperous and self-reliant regional communities that confidently respond to change. 
4. PIRSA is a respected, credible and successful organisation. 

Practising sustainability 
PIRSA’s strategic focus combines financial, social and environmental aspects. Together these 
comprise a ‘triple bottom line’ approach to performance, which is recognised internationally as a 
method of demonstrating sustainability. 

PIRSA’s approach to sustainability applies equally to its external industry development focus as well 
as to its internal performance. In this way PIRSA seeks to ‘practice what it preaches.’ 

PIRSA is reviewing its measures covering the agency’s financial performance, environmental impact 
and social wellbeing to ensure appropriate information is being gathered and has a better fit with wider 
government influences. 

PIRSA’s Corporate Executive team has provided its commitment and support to greening the agency’s 
internal operations. A dedicated resource was allocated to facilitate PIRSA in initiating efforts to 
reduce its ecological footprint. As a result, work has commenced on the following: 

Continuing strategies to improve energy management processes. 
Identifying appropriate processes for collecting data on water conservation and wastewater 
management to establish a baseline for improvements. 
Implementing waste management initiatives and establishing data collection processes to 
measure the reduction. 
Identifying appropriate improvements to built facilities. 
Improvements in travel and fleet management activities towards a carbon neutral future. 
Appropriate systems and processes in green procurement to ensure environment soundness of 
purchased goods and services. 

A new Agency reference group ensures a coordinated approach to implementing initiatives across the 
organisation. Over the next 12 months the group will review, develop and implement the following: 

Green PIRSA Policy. 
A Communication/Education Strategy for its greening operations. 
Agency Action Plan and Framework to address greening options. 
Action Plans for each PIRSA division to assist in meeting the agency approach. 
Review reporting requirements for the identification of improvements. 
Other initiatives. 

PIRSA continues to demonstrate an ongoing commitment to greening its operations, such as: 
Implementation of the PIRSA Bike Policy that encourages staff to use their bicycles for travel to 
and from work meetings in an effort to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. 
Reducing waste to landfill by establishment of worm farms to treat food waste. 
Reducing waste to landfill by recycling office products such as paper, plastics and metals. 
Reducing waste and mercury contamination to landfill by recycling fluorescent tubes. 

Over the next 12 months the Agency will continue to commit to a sustainable future for its employees 
and the wider community of South Australia. 
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ENERGY EFFICIENCY ACTION PLAN REPORT 

Performance against annual energy use targets 
The Government Energy Efficiency Action Plan (EEAP) requires a number of government agencies to 
participate in an annual audit that verifies information they have provided for inclusion in the SA 
Government Energy Use Annual Report. 

In 2004, PIRSA participated in the audit process which was conducted by an independent auditor 
appointed by Energy SA. The resulting report documented a number of recommendations, most of 
which have been actioned by PIRSA. 

The table below summarises PIRSA’s energy expenditure and use and greenhouse gas emissions for 
2004–05 against the base year of 2000–01 and portfolio targets. 

Energy consumption in 
buildings (leased/owned)

Expenditure 
($) 

Energy use 
(gigajoule)

Greenhouse gas 
emissions (tonnes of 

carbon dioxide)
2000–01 (base year)a 1 558 985 76 372 15 092 
2004–05b 2 022 989 61 928 13 315 

Portfolio target b (2010) – 64 916 – 
Portfolio target c (2014) – 57 279 – 

a Figures based on information available as at 12th September 2005 - due to varying billing cycles for different sites assumptions have been 
made based on previous billing period trends 

b The portfolio target (2010) meets the government’s undertaking of a 15% reduction in energy use in government buildings before 2010 
c The portfolio target (2014) meets the government’s undertaking of a 25% reduction in energy use in government buildings within 10 years

Energy consumption has decreased by approximately 19% against the baseline. 
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Performance Review 

The efforts of the Agency underpin some important targets in South Australia’s State Strategic Plan. 

AGRICULTURE AND WINE 
South Australia’s Strategic Plan targets
OBJECTIVE 1 – EXPORTS 

ASSIST IN MEETING THE FOOD PLAN TARGET OF $7.5 BILION BY THE FOOD 
INDUSTRY BY 2013, OVER $3 BILLION NATIONALLY BY THE WINE INDUSTRY BY 
2010 (T1.12) 

OBJECTIVE 2 – IMPROVING WELLBEING 

INCREASE HEALTHY LIFE EXPECTANCY OF SOUTH AUSTRALIANS (T2.2) OBJECTIVE 
3 – REDUCE ECOLOGICAL FOOTPRINT (T3.10) 

OBJECTIVE 5 – BUILDING COMMUNITIES 

BUILDING COMMUNITY CAPACITY AND MAINTAINING INFRASTRUCTURE (T5.11) 

The Agriculture and Wine division develops and implements policies, legislation, regulatory 
frameworks and programs to promote an optimal business, natural and social environment within 
which primary industries can grow. 

Animal Health 
PIRSA has provided leadership to national animal health policy particularly in the development of 
national performance standards, national animal welfare standards, livestock export standards, national 
surveillance program and review of veterinary and diagnostic capabilities to support the livestock 
industries.

Industry support for livestock disease control programs was enhanced with the launch by the Minister 
for Agriculture, Food and Fisheries in February 2005 of the innovative “Dairy ManaJD” program for 
quality management of Bovine Johne’s disease, as well as the introduction of the industry-led National 
Approach to OJD Management to implement risk-based trading. 

The expanding livestock disease surveillance program, which protects market success for South 
Australia, has been complemented by the full implementation of the National Livestock Identification 
Scheme for cattle (NLIS – Cattle) and the successful disease simulation exercises that form part of 
competency-based and specialist training. 

The Animal Health unit responded to the Lower Eyre Peninsula bushfire with assessment of injured 
livestock, advice on destruction and disposal of stock and general rehabilitation advice. 

TARGETS FOR 2005–06
Participate in Exercise Eleusis, a national simulation of Avian Influenza outbreak with cross-
agency and cross-jurisdictional impacts. (T1.12) 
Targeted training of staff to achieve national competency standards in EAD preparedness. 
(T1.12)
Implement recommendations of review of SA Footrot Program, with a view to using new 
vaccine technology and shared funding. (T1.12) 
Maintain the current OJD program into its second year and participate in the national review of 
strategic directions for OJD management. 
Continue the rollout of Dairy ManaJD program. (T1.12) 
Re-establish the Apiary Industry Advisory Group and review the provision of government 
disease control services to the industry. (T1.12) 
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Continue to meet national targets for disease surveillance programs and extend their range to 
targeted groups, including low-value animals, remote areas, peri-urban owners and owners with 
English as a second language. (T1.12) 

Emergency Management 
The “Goose” series of emergency response training and continued. Seven exercises were conducted, 
including several regional events as well as a national event in Adelaide. Over 100 PIRSA staff 
participated in the series with support and participation from other South Australian government 
agencies and animal health officers from all Australian jurisdictions. 

The PIRSA Emergency Management document set now includes emergency response plans relevant 
to PIRSA’s responsibilities for all significant plant, animal, aquatic, food and bushfire events. 

TARGETS FOR 2005–06
Publication of a comprehensive set of emergency response plans and implementation of a 
training program for staff in all PIRSA divisions. (T1.12) 
Exercising emergency response on at least three occasions with involvement of other agencies 
from this jurisdiction. (T1.12) 

Grains 
Field Crops has undergone an extensive planning process, developing a strategic plan to take to the 
grains industry in September 2005. 

TARGETS FOR 2005–06
Finalise and begin implementing a Government and Grains Industry strategic framework to 
contribute to the South Australia’s Strategic Plan export targets. (T1.12) 
Work with local processors to develop vacuum packed, consumer-ready pulse and oilseed based 
food products for export. (T1.12) 
Attract investment for a facility to process South Australian oilseeds, initially canola, for the 
Australian Renewable Fuels plant at Port Adelaide and to supply protein meal to meet 
anticipated additional demand from the chicken meat industry. (T1.12) 
Work with the local pasta industry to build sufficient capacity to satisfy demand for pasta in 
South East Asia and India. (T1.12) 
Ensure that market intelligence about emerging demand, for new grain traits and grain products, 
is reflected in the priorities of research funding providers. (T1.12) 
Facilitate further adoption of no-till grain production systems. (T3.10) 
Explore niche market opportunities with AWB and ABB Grain for small volume, high-value 
grains. (T1.12) 
Develop industry capacity to satisfy emerging demand from the livestock industry for a range of 
grain based livestock rations. (T1.12) 

Food and Plant Standards 
PIRSA’s Plant Health Program delivers outcomes that ensure South Australia’s horticultural produce 
has access to existing markets and assists industries to gain entry into new markets. The fruit fly free 
status in the Riverland is recognised as a potential turning point for the South Australian citrus 
industry having gained access to markets in Japan, with other Asian markets such as Korea, Taiwan 
and China awaiting finalisation. Freedom from fruit fly outbreaks translates into reduced costs to 
government and continued market access for South Australia’s $480 million horticultural sector. 

PIRSA’s Food Safety Program continues to develop and apply efficient regulation and food safety 
initiatives that promote and improve food safety in meat and primary industry sectors, resulting in 
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better food hygiene outcomes, ongoing consumer and industry confidence and enhanced market 
access. 

Meat hygiene legislation was modified to meet the requirements of the National Competition Policy 
review. The Meat Hygiene (Miscellaneous Amendments) Act 2004 introduced through-chain 
regulation of the meat industry by including rabbit meat and retail processing. 

An enhanced poultry food safety project was implemented, delivering improvements in food safety 
and bio-security from farm through to retail, aimed at improved public health. 

TARGETS FOR 2005–06
Mobile office accommodation will be introduced with multiple uses across emergency response 
and bio-security programs including, locust, animal or plant disease outbreaks, fruit fly 
outbreaks and mobile quarantine roadblocks. (T1.12) 
A program to complete the review of the Fruit and Plant Protection Act 1992. (T1.12) 
Implementation of the national seafood food safety standard. (T1.12) 

Food Regulation Policy 
In 2004–05 the government established the Primary Produce (Food Safety Schemes) Act 2004 to 
enhance and maintain the excellent reputation of food produced in South Australia and underpin 
primary industry strategic growth targets as well as support consumer access to safe food. (T 1.12) 
(T2.2)

PIRSA supported government promotion of food innovation and growth in development of policy 
initiatives by the Australia and New Zealand Food Regulation Ministerial Council, e.g. establishing 
the Review of FSANZ processes to streamline assessment and approval systems and protect 
confidential commercial information 

TARGETS FOR 2005–06 
Establish Food Safety Scheme regulations pursuant to the Primary Produce (Food Safety 
Schemes) Act 2004 for the dairy, citrus, meat and shellfish industries. (T1.12) (T2.2). 
Repeal the Dairy Industry Act 1992 and Meat Hygiene Act 1994 (T1.12). 
Provide policy support to South Australian members of the Australia New Zealand Food 
Regulation Ministerial Council. Support Chief Executives from South Australian in the Food 
Regulation Standing Committee (T1.12). 

Horticulture
PIRSA assisted the Virginia Horticulture Centre to develop a community kitchen to provide support to 
a value-adding program that enables growers to add value to their produce, thus strengthening their 
business position and facilitating further private investment. 

Services include information programs that assist growers to access relevant technical, industry and 
market intelligence such as electronic market newsletters, Internet sites, regional community 
newsletters and regional forums.  

Industry training programs were developed and delivered with Northern Adelaide Plains vegetable 
growers and in the Citrus and Olive industries. 

PIRSA has successfully attracted over $2 million of support (including Federal grants) for the 
development of sustainable horticulture and value adding on the Northern Adelaide Plains. 
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The Industry Development Board – Horticulture met seven times to progress key strategic 
development activities in the horticulture sector. Regional meetings included interaction with 
developing businesses and industry representatives. 

The Dried Fruits Act was repealed and a major overhaul of the Citrus Industry Act was introduced so 
that these Acts now comply with National Competition Policy. 

New value adding and marketing opportunities have been identified for value added potato products, 
fresh cut salads and fruit products. A new crop opportunity has been identified for watercress. 

Together with Department of Health and industry partners, launched the program ”Go for 2&5™” to 
increase the consumption of fruit and vegetables. 

TARGETS FOR 2005–06
Hold eight meetings of the Industry Development Board – Horticulture to steer strategic 
development plans of the horticulture industry (T1.12). 
Conduct economic studies of the citrus, fresh potato, olive and apple industries to examine costs 
and future opportunities, and assist industry to set strategic directions for industry development 
(T1.12).
Develop value adding and export opportunities for the horticulture industries (T1.12). 
Implement the Citrus Industry Development Act and supporting Regulations to ensure 
compliance with National Competition Policy guidelines and provide a framework for industry 
growth (T1.12). 
Investigate and plan for future industry growth trends, including access to land, water and 
infrastructure (T5.11). 

Irrigation and Water Issues 

RIVER MURRAY IRRIGATION IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM

The Irrigation and Recording Evaluation Systems (IRES) computer based tool, that models drainage 
from irrigated horticulture at farm and district levels, has been successfully field-tested. The pilot 
groups have expanded from Bookpurnong Lock 4 and Pike River to include two more groups, Murtho 
and Taylorville. A workshop and tutorial booklet have been developed to assist irrigators with ‘hands 
on’ training in the use of IRES. Four pilot training workshops were conducted with over 50 growers in 
attendance.

Murray - Darling Interstate Water Trade Pilot Project 
The Project Board met four times in the past year to deal with matters essential to the expansion of the 
current pilot water trading zone. These included determination of exchange rates for different water 
products, inter-state approval systems and registers, environmental controls and options for dealing 
with the issue of stranded assets. 

Volumetric Conversion in the South East 
PIRSA has continued to contribute to the technical program managed by Department for Water Land 
and Biodiversity Conservation for the change of licensing in the South East groundwater management 
areas from an area basis to a volumetric allocation. To this end, a technical assessment of crop and 
irrigation system requirements has been finalised as well as climatic zones. 

TARGETS FOR 2005–06 
Enhance the functionality of IRES, assisting individuals and districts to prepare water use 
efficiency reports and expand pilot groups into the lower Murray. (T1.12) 
Contribute to Interstate Water Trade Project Board meetings towards policies and procedures for 
water trade between New South Wales, Victoria and South Australia on the basis of an exchange 
rate system. (T1.12) 
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Evaluate a “tagged” trading system for the Murray–Darling southern connected system. (T1.12) 
Provide technical support and contribute towards policies for changes in licensing and water 
allocation of South East groundwater resources. (T1.12) 
Establish an inter-agency framework to support new irrigation development. (T1.12) 

Livestock
Significant industry development has been facilitated by PIRSA. In particular, there has been major 
expansion in the chicken meat industry and important reform and redevelopment in the dairy industry. 
Strategic planning with industry has accelerated development in the beef and chicken meat industries. 

The Chicken Meat Industry Act was enacted following settlement of matters raised by the National 
Competition Council. The Registrar held information meetings with growers and processors and 
initiated the development of a costing model. 

A study of the potential demand for feed grains and protein for feeding intensive livestock in South 
Australia was completed. The study revealed that the potential demand for cereal grains and protein 
would double over the next 5 years. 

Strategic plans and directions for the major livestock industries were completed, highlighting the 
issues relevant to export targets in South Australia’s Strategic Plan. 

TARGETS FOR 2005–06
Attraction of a significant level of new investment in the chicken meat industry. (T1.12) 
Attraction of significant investment in the beef feedlot industry. (T1.12) 

Plant Health Policy 
The Plant Health Policy area has been dominated by outbreaks of Citrus Canker and Currant Lettuce 
Aphid in other states. The completion of a $160 000 upgrade of the Yamba Quarantine Station 
provided the infrastructure to reduce risks to workers. This upgrade also improved driver safety, traffic 
management arrangements and overall amenity. The site is now clearly identified as a point of entry 
point into South Australia. 

South Australia negotiated for the maintenance of secure barriers against disease, while still allowing 
trade from other jurisdictions under strict conditions. A similar situation with Potato Cyst Nematode 
has occurred and South Australia maintains a comprehensive bio-security regime. These policies 
ensure continuing access to existing overseas markets and to potential new markets. 

TARGETS FOR 2005–06
Maintain freedom from Citrus Canker and Potato Cyst Nematode. (T1.12) 

Rural Chemicals 
Export targets for food products are supported and underpinned by PIRSA’s ability to successfully 
manage chemical risk, especially in the eyes of the customer.  

Implementation of the Agricultural and Veterinary Products (Control of Use) Act 2002 and 
Regulations 2004 provided a new clear legal framework for chemical users and the effective 
management of chemical usage. Reports of spray drift are now investigated under this legislation that 
specifically addresses this and other forms of chemical trespass. Investigating officers have received 
training in the new legislation. 

General education and awareness material about the new legal requirements has been developed and 
distributed among chemical users and the community. 
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TARGETS FOR 2005–06
Expand the education and awareness program to reduce the incidence and impact of chemical 
trespass from spray drift. This program will target high-risk areas and involve local communities 
with an expanded role for regionally based investigators. 
Audits of chemical use practices will be conducted in targeted sectors. 

Wine
The joint industry and government Partnering Strategy refined the export figure for the wine industry 
to provide a new State export target of $2.2 billion by 2010, with additional $850 million in national 
domestic sales, giving a total wine sales figure of $3.1 billion nationally by 2010. 

Four meetings of the South Australian Wine Industry Council were held, together with a number of 
Industry Task Group meetings and Interagency Issues Group meetings formed under the Council. 

The Partnership Strategy – “Wine: A Partnership 2005–2010” was launched by the Premier in 
February 2005. 

The Wine Innovation Cluster is a key plank of the joint industry and government partnership, and will 
replace the existing Australian Wine Research Institute facilities at the Waite campus. A budget 
allocation of $7 million has been made for the year 2005–06, with a further allocation of $2.5 million 
in the year 2006–07. 

Primary Industries and Resources SA worked with the Riverland Winegrape Growers Association to 
undertake an economic impact assessment of lower grape prices on the Riverland community. With 
Rural Solutions SA, a number of grower workshops were held to develop solutions to these issues. 

A submission was made to the Senate Inquiry into the Operation of the Wine-Making Industry on 
grape pricing issues impacting on South Australia. 

PIRSA provided support for overseas trade missions involving wine industry members as well as 
support for the SA Wine Export program, managed by the SA Wine Industry Association. 

TARGETS FOR 2005–06
Hold four South Australian Wine Industry Council meetings. (T1.12) 
Implement the Wine Partnering Strategy Operational Program in partnership with industry, to 
contribute to growth target of $3.1 billion nationally by 2010. (T1.12) 
Progress the Wine Innovation Cluster at the Waite Institute to building stage. (T1.12) 
Develop industry programs to assist grape growers to determine future within the industry. 
(T1.12)
Complete the study into the Economic Impact of Regulatory Policy on Development of The 
Wine Industry in the Mount Lofty Ranges Water Supply Catchments. (T1.12) 
Deliver industry development programs in conjunction with South Australian Wine Industry 
Association and Farmbis and through trade missions. (T1.12) 
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AQUACULTURE 
South Australia’s Strategic Plan targets
OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPERITY 

INVESTMENT (T1.6) 

EXPORTS (T1.12) 

OBJECTIVE 3 – ATTAINING SUSTAINABILITY 

REDUCE IMPACT OF HUMAN SETTLEMENTS AND ACTIVITIES (T3.10) 

OBJECTIVE 6 – EXPANDING OPPORTUNITY 

ABORIGINAL WELLBEING 

The key role of the Aquaculture Division is to deliver specialist services and advice across the State, 
fostering growth and development, increasing the prosperity of South Australians, improving quality 
of life, while supporting environmentally sustainable development of the State’s resources. 

The Aquaculture Division is responsible for ensuring the sustainable development of the State’s 
aquaculture industry and has a statutory and regulatory responsibility for the management of 
aquaculture in South Australia. These responsibilities are met through the granting and renewal of 
licences and leases under the Aquaculture Act 2001.

During 2004–05: 
Aquaculture Management (Zone) Policies were finalised for Arno Bay, Streaky Bay, Lacepede 
Bay and Fitzgerald Bay, providing opportunity for future growth in the shellfish and finfish 
aquaculture sectors. 
Information was improved with a new guide to aquaculture applications, resulting in a better 
standard of applications and streamlining the assessment process. 
The joint Fisheries and Research Development Corporation and PIRSA “Innovative Solutions 
for Aquaculture Planning and Management” suite of projects commenced, developing tools to 
ensure a sustainable and competitive industry for South Australia.  
Secured hosting of the Australasian Aquaculture Conference 2006 in Adelaide.  
A “Best Practice Framework for Aquaculture Planning and Management” was modelled on 
South Australia’s framework and adopted nationally by the Primary Industries Ministerial 
Council. This framework will form the basis for continued improvement to South Australia’s 
management arrangements, in line with the Economic Development Board’s objective to 
streamline environmental approvals. 
A sub-tidal shellfish lease was granted for 20 hectares to the Port Lincoln Aboriginal 
Community Council (PLACC) to promote indigenous participation in all parts of the 
aquaculture industry. PIRSA continues to work with the Council to bring the project into full 
commercial development. 

TARGETS FOR 2005–06 
Develop zones, protocols and licensing arrangements for the use of water from salt interception 
schemes for aquaculture. (T3.10) 
Increase investment in marine and land-based aquaculture through the creation of aquaculture 
zones and leases. (T1.6) (T1.12) 
Increase indigenous participation in all aspects of the aquaculture industry. (T6.1) 
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COMMERCIAL PROJECTS 
South Australia’s Strategic Plan targets 
OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPERITY 

INVESTMENT (T1.6) 

EXPORTS (T1.12) 

MINERALS AND EXPLORATIONS (T1.15) 

INCREASE INVESTMENT IN STRATEGIC AREAS OF INFRASTRUCTURE (T1.16) 

Commercial Projects supported business groups in the Agency in adopting a range of commercially 
focused projects. The projects will contribute to South Australia’s Strategic Plan targets in terms of 
increased capital investment, greater exports and increased investment in strategic areas of 
infrastructure.

The team assisted with the development of a number of key projects including the establishment and 
expansion of new and existing processing facilities in the grains, meat, dairy and minerals areas. 

Such proposals included: 
Biodiesel – Supported the proponent through the initial search for suitable land to the granting 
of development approval for the establishment of a biodiesel production facility at Birkenhead, 
to produce 45 million litres per annum and valued at $30 million. Construction is underway.  
Eyre Peninsula Grain Logistics project – coordinated development of a strategy that led to the 
funding of a grain logistics system for the region’s grain production, 2.1 million tones per 
annum. Commonwealth Government funding of $15 million and State Government funding of 
$10 million was secured, in addition to private sector contributions. 

TARGETS FOR 2005–06 

Attract new investment in value adding processing across the grains, meat, dairy and mineral 
resources sectors, with a focus on export markets and value adding products for export. (T1.6) 
(T1.12) (T1.15) (T1.16) 
Assist existing processors to expand their operations, with a particular focus on export and 
import replacement opportunities. (T1.6) (T1.12) (T1.15) (T1.16) 
Assist other PIRSA divisions to pursue commercial application of new techniques and 
technologies that deliver greater efficiencies and cost benefits to the South Australian economy. 
(T1.6) (T1.12) (T1.15) (T1.16) 

FISHERIES
South Australia’s Strategic Plan targets 
OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPERITY 

EXPORTS (T1.12) 

TOURISM INDUSTRY (T1.13) 

OBJECTIVE 3 – ATTAINING SUSTAINABILITY 

ECOLOGICAL FOOTPRINT (T3.10) 

The Fisheries Division delivers specialist services and advice across the State, for the purpose of 
fostering growth and development, increasing the prosperity of South Australians, improving quality 
of life, while supporting environmentally sustainable development of the State’s resources. 

Fisheries Division manages and administers of the living marine and freshwater resources of South 
Australia, as required under the Fisheries Act 1982. This includes the development and 
implementation of appropriate management plans for commercial fishing, recreational fishing and 



PIRSA ANNUAL REPORT 2004–05 27

charter fishing; the development of Government policy for sustainable access and allocation of 
resources as well as the administration of licensing and compliance services. 

PIRSA Fisheries continues to provide policy advice and input into the risk assessment process for 
Commonwealth fisheries including the Southern Bluefin Tuna and Great Australian Bight Trawl 
fisheries.

Other key activities include 
Implementation of a new quota system into the Northern Zone Rock Lobster fishery and use of a 
vessel monitoring system was completed in 2003–04. The ability to track vessels, to assess 
fishing effort and target compliance services, has led to more than 12 per cent of all landing 
being checked by PIRSA Fisheries, ensuring a high level of integrity and compliance within the 
fishery. 
PIRSA Fisheries developed a new Fisheries Prosecution system in partnership with Fisheries 
Western Australia. The system is due to be implemented in late 2005. This development takes 
advantage of technological advances and will lead to improved accountability as well as the 
tracking of information and intelligence, vital to the provision of cost effective compliance 
services for the fisheries. 
A new offshore patrol vessel is under construction with delivery anticipated in August 2005. 
This purpose built 22-metre vessel will provide PIRSA Fisheries with the capability to 
undertake monitoring and surveillance activities out to 200 nautical miles. This will improve the 
capacity of PIRSA Fisheries and the Australian Fisheries Management Authority to provide 
compliance services in State waters and increase the operational range of the offshore program.  
Caulerpa taxifolia is an introduced marine pest that has established in the Port River, 
downstream from the West Lakes outlet. An eradication attempt was undertaken with the 
deployment of a blanket of salt across the seabed to cause osmotic shock to the plant. A series of 
trials deployed 5800 tones of salt and treated 58 000 m2 of the most densely infected area. The 
treatment achieved a 97% reduction of the weed but a number of plants survived on the north 
side of Jervois Bridge. Ongoing patch treatment and future large scale treatments are required to 
contain the seaweed within the Port River system and mitigate further ecological impacts. 

TARGETS 2005–06 
Complete the review of the Fisheries Act 1982. (T1.12) 
Develop State arrangements for the management of introduced marine pests, as part of a 
national system. (T1.12) 
Complete the sustainability assessment program of South Australian fisheries. (T1.12) 
Complete the management plan for the marine scalefish fishery and plan reviews of the prawn, 
rock lobster, pilchard and blue crab fisheries. (T1.12) 
Review minimum size limits and recreational bag and boat limits for all targeted fish species, 
with new regulations to be implemented by June 2006. (T1.13) (T3.10) 
Complete the guidelines and a code of conduct for recreational fishing tournaments. (T1.13) 
(T3.10)
Implement management arrangements for charter boat fishery. (T1.13) (T3.10) 
Formalise management arrangements for the Lake Eyre Basin commercial and recreational 
fishery. (T1.12) 
Review management of the Gulf St Vincent prawn fishery. (T1.12) 
Implement a Vessel Monitoring System in the Pilchard Fishery. (T1.12) 
Implement E-Brief Prosecution Management System across the State. (T1.12) 
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FOOD SOUTH AUSTRALIA 
South Australia’s Strategic Plan targets 
OBJECTIVE 1 – EXPORTS 

TREBLE THE VALUE OF SOUTH AUSTRALIA’S EXPORT INCOME – INCLUDING $7.5 
BILLION BY THE FOOD INDUSTRY BY 2013. (T1.12) 

State Food Plan 2004–2007 targets 

Capability Development and Regional Networks
Partnerships were developed in 12 regions in South Australia to employ food industry development 
officers to provide services targeted at key State Food Plan and Food Centre objectives. These include 
building basic business capabilities of food enterprises, encouraging the development and operation of 
industry led collaborative organisations, stimulating the development of education and training options 
that are customised to the needs of the food industry and provide support for the development of 
distinctive regional food cultures and food tourism in South Australia. 

Key outcomes for 2004–05 have included: 
Completion of a state-wide needs analysis that has identified specific capabilities and enabled 
development of targeted programs for food businesses in regions. 
Consolidation of nine Regional Food Groups around the State, with another three in the process 
of formation. 
Establishment of a pilot workforce development program targeted at specialist meat retailers in 
the Mid North and Barossa regions. 
Establishment of a number of regional initiatives specifically targeting food tourism. 

Market Development 
Food Adelaide implemented exhibits on behalf of South Australian food companies at the following 
international trade shows - Gulf Foods in Dubai, United Arab Emirates, Fancy Foods in San Francisco, 
HOFEX in Hong Kong, Foodex in Tokyo, Japan, World of Food Asia, Bangkok and Fine Foods 
Australia, Melbourne. Flavour SA was also involved in Fine Foods Australia. 

Interstate market development and promotions were undertaken by Flavour SA and the Regional Food 
SA Cooperative. 

The Dubai food service project involved Food SA and NFIS and resulted in new South Australian 
food export sales to the United Arab Emirates of $4 million in 2005–06 and the Dubai partner 
establishing their Australian sourcing office in Adelaide. 

Minister for Trade and Economic Development, Paul Holloway led a food mission to the Aichi World 
Expo in Japan. The mission was jointly developed by Food SA and Food Adelaide and included 
dinner for major Japanese importers and distributors at the Australian Ambassador’s Residence in 
Tokyo to promote South Australian seafood. A number of business meetings were also held with 
Japanese companies that are importing and distributing South Australian food products. 

An industry needs analysis in relation to food value chains, was completed. 

TARGETS FOR 2005–06 
Implement the Food Centre Operational Plan 2005–06. (T1.12) 
Implement a food industry workforce development project. (T1.12) 
Develop a fresh agreement with Food Adelaide for the delivery of international trade 
development services into 2006–07. (T1.12) 
Further the development of an innovation system for the food industry. (T1.12) 
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Pilot a food innovation development program with the University of South Australia, focusing 
on trends in food manufacturing. (T1.12) 

INDUSTRY STRATEGY 
Assisted development opportunities in the following:

Two $30 million Riverland vineyards.
One citrus plantation of 300 hectares.
Planting 10 000 hectares of blue gums in the Mount Lofty Ranges over the next 10 years.
Fishmeal production from Bolivar wastewater for the aquaculture industry. 
Use of wastewater for large-scale forestry production. 
Forestry investment in the South East. 

MINERALS AND ENERGY RESOURCES
Energy 
South Australia’s Strategic Plan targets
OBJECTIVE 2 – IMPROVING WELLBEING 

GREATER SAFETY AT WORK (T2.10) 

OBJECTIVE 3 – ATTAINING SUSTAINABILITY 

ENERGY CONSUMPTION GOVERNMENT (T3.2) 

GREENHOUSE EMISSIONS (T3.3) 

ECOLOGICAL FOOTPRINT (T3.10) 

OBJECTIVE 5 – REGIONAL INFRASTRUCTURE 

TO SUPPORT SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES IN REGIONS (T5.11)

Energy SA and the Office of the Technical regulator ensure the coordinated development and 
implementation of policies, regulatory responsibilities and delivery of programs for the competitive, 
sustainable, safe, and reliable supply and use of energy, for the benefit of the South Australian 
community. 

During 2004–05, a focus of energy policy and planning work has been the coordination of cross 
agency contributions to the State Infrastructure Plan and Greenhouse Strategy. An energy sector 
Advisory Group was established to inform on Government energy-related planning and strategies. 

Advisory support was provided for businesses and the community, to reduce energy costs through a 
suite of demand management and energy efficiency advisory services, via the Community Programs 
and the Business Energy Efficiency Program. 

The 2004–05 Remote Areas Energy Supplies (RAES) scheme subsidised the supply of electricity to 
2600 customers in 13 remote South Australian communities. A capital program was established to 
maintain generating set capability and improve power station control and monitoring. 

Sustainable energy technologies were supported via administration of rebate and subsidy programs: 
The State Government’s Solar Hot Water Rebate scheme delivered about 2600 rebates valued at 
$1.8 million. Similar levels of uptake are anticipated in 2005–06.  
The Australian Government funded Photovoltaic Rebate Program allocated $2.6 million in 
rebates during 2004–05. The combined installed capacity of 927 kW of photovoltaic panels will 
generate approximately 1500 MWh of electricity and save about 1700 tonnes of CO2 being
released into the atmosphere each year. The Australian Government recently announced an 
$11.4 million two-year extension of this program. 
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Rebates amounting to $816 660 were provided for the installation of 23 renewable energy 
systems, under the Australian Government funded Renewable Remote Power Generation 
Scheme. The systems have a combined capacity of 101 kW, saving more than 230 tonnes of 
CO2 emissions each year. The program will focus on energy efficiency in off-grid systems 
during 2005–06. 

The Government’s Energy Efficiency Program for Low-Income Households continued to receive 
strong support from welfare agencies and their clients. Almost 6900 energy audits were delivered 
during 2004–05, bringing the total number of completed audits to more than 7800 audits at 30 June 
2005. In addition, 291 inefficient refrigerators were retired and 98 interest free loans were approved 
during the year.  

The Office of the Technical Regulator continued to meet its regulatory responsibilities under 
Electricity Act 1996, the Electrical Products Act 2000 and Gas Act 1997. The regulatory 
responsibilities assigned by those Acts to the Technical Regulator, were performed during the year 
within the allocated resources. 

The Office of Technical Regulator was particularly active in the promotion of energy safety within the 
industry, with 178 industry group seminar presentations in 2004–05. 

Electrical appliance safety continues to be a key focus. A significant number of appliances were found 
to be non compliant. In 2004–05, there were 92 incident reported, eight hazard alerts, two stop sale 
notices and 24 recall notices were recorded. 

A public energy safety awareness campaign continued in 2004–05. The campaign targeted the correct 
use of safety switches, Certificates of Compliance, power-line safety, correct use of gas appliances and 
general energy safety issues. It was publicised by advertisements in newspapers and other print media.  

TARGETS FOR 2005–06
Contribute to the State Greenhouse Strategy and energy planning arising from the State 
Infrastructure Plan. (T3.2) (T3.3) 
Deliver the remaining energy audits to complete the two year target of 10 000 audits under the 
Energy Efficiency Program for Low Income Households, using six partner welfare agencies to 
deliver the program across South Australia. (T3.10) 
Deliver around 2600 Solar Hot Water Rebates to South Australians through the State 
Government Rebate Program, leading to the reduction of around 7000 tonnes of greenhouse gas 
emissions. (T3.10) (T3.2) 
Ensure safe, reliable and affordable electricity supply and demand management services are 
provided to 13 communities in rural and remote South Australia through the RAES scheme. 
(T5.11)
Increase the number of gas fitter and electrician compliance audits by five per cent compared 
with 2004–05 figures. (T2.10) 
Increase the number of Office of Technical Regulator energy safety seminars presented to 
industry by 20% compared with 2004–05 figures. (T2.10) 
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Mineral Resources 
South Australia’s Strategic Plan targets
OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPECTIVITY 

MINERALS AND EXPLORATION (T1.15) 

OBJECTIVE 6 – EXPANDING OPPORTUNITY 

ABORIGINAL WELLBEING (T6.1) 

The vision of the Mineral Resources program is to make South Australia a favoured mineral 
investment destination for private investment with exploration expenditure targeted to reach
$100 million per annum by 2007 and mineral production and processing to reach $4 billion by 2020. 

The key activities of the Minerals Division is to manage the State’s mineral resources on behalf of the 
people of South Australia by regulating mining operations, implementing significant exploration 
initiatives, providing comprehensive, high quality geoscientific data and advice, developing 
sustainable practices for exploration and mining, facilitating mineral resource projects thorough 
approvals processes, developing an effective and efficient policy and legislative framework and 
collecting mineral royalties and fees. 

South Australia’s Strategic Plan has set the targets of $100 million in exploration expenditure by 2007 
and $4 billion in production and processing by 2020 (T1.15). In the 2004 calendar year South 
Australia reached it highest level of mineral exploration on record, up 55% to a high of $55.5 million 
and reaching 6% of the national exploration expenditure. Combined production and refining was 
$2.017 billion for the 2003–04 year, up 2% ($30 million) on the previous year and is well on track to 
achieve the South Australian Strategic Plan Target of $3 billion of mineral production and a further 
$1 billion of mineral processing by 2020. (T1.15) 

Plan for Accelerating Exploration (PACE)
Established in April 2004, PACE addresses critical uncertainties that impede exploration investment. 
The program utilises a multiple land use framework to facilitate access to land in partnership with 
indigenous people and environmental interests. The program also provides new pre-competitive 
geoscientific data that showcases the state’s mineral and petroleum prospectivity for investment 
attraction.

In 2004–05, other key roles for the Mineral Resources Group were project management of the 
government permitting process for emerging projects such as Olympic Dam expansion, OneSteel’s 
Project Magnet, Oxiana’s Prominent Hill, Iluka Resources’ and Australian Zircon’s HMS projects. 
Ongoing support has enabled good progress on the Barns and Menninnie Dam prospects on the 
Gawler Craton, White Dam, Portia and Kalkaroo prospects in the Curnamona Province and 
Kanmantoo and Angus prospects in the Adelaide Hills. 

TARGETS FOR 2005–06
Continue to increase South Australia’s share of the national exploration expenditure to levels 
only surpassed by Western Australia and Queeensland. (T1.15) 
Successful implementation of work programs associated with Year 2 of the Plan for 
Accelerating Exploration. (T1.15) 
The Mining Act Review will be completed, with recommendations to be acted upon. (T1.15) 
The Indigenous Land Use Agreements Negotiation Team will facilitate establishment of two 
new ILUAs, with both the Far West Coast and Gawler Ranges native title claimants. (T1.15) 
Successful implementation of the Extractive Areas Rehabilitation Fund Guidelines. (T1.15) 
Gain the approval of additional exploration licences in the Anangu Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara
lands. (T6.1) 
Maintain PIRSA’s World No.1 position for the provision of geoscientific data. 
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Raise the profile of PIRSA’s ‘one stop shop’ capabilities for new and emerging resource based 
projects within South Australia. 
To make available fully integrated 3D imagery in SARIG. 

Petroleum
South Australia’s Strategic Plan targets
OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPECTIVITY 

COMPETITIVE BUSINESS CLIMATE (T1.4) 

MINERALS AND EXPLORATION (T1.15) 

STRATEGIC INFRASTRUCTURE (T1.16) 

COST EFFECTIVE GOVERNMENT SERVICES (T1.18) 

PERFORMANCE IMPROVEMENT IN SA PUBLIC SECTOR (T1.19) 

OBJECTIVE 3 – ATTAINING SUSTAINABILITY 

ECOLOGICAL FOOTPRINT (T3.10) 

OBJECTIVE 6 – EXPANDING OPPORTUNITY 

ABORIGINAL WELLBEING (T6.1)

A gas supply shortfall in the South East was successfully managed in the first half of 2005. The 
South East South Australian (SESA) pipeline from the SEAGas Pipeline to the Katnook plant 
was commissioned to schedule in May 2005. This critical infrastructure considerably enhanced 
security of gas supplies for the Mount Gambier region. 
South Australia’s comparative advantages in the form of naturally occurring Hot Rock 
geothermal resources, government designed (supportive) investment framework and effective 
marketing has, attracted nine companies to apply for 54 Geothermal Exploration Licences 
(GELs) covering 25 636 km2 in this State, up to 30 June 2005. Three ASX listings have been 
based on SA GELs (Geodynamics, Petratherm and Greenrock Energy) and at least one more is 
expected in 2005. Three SA GEL holders gained PACE grants for drilling operations in SA. 
While it might not all eventuate, the aggregate investment for work programs in these 54 GELs 
is estimated to be $400 million. 
South Australia’s comparative advantages in the form of proven prospective petroleum trends, 
government designed (supportive) investment framework and effective marketing has sustained 
the South Australian Cooper Basin as a preferred destination for exploration investment. The 
new entrant explorers and the incumbent Santos Joint Venture continued to be successful and 
rewarded at a time when liquid petroleum product prices are at record highs. 
In the term 2002 through 30 June 2005: 

45 exploration wells were drilled in exploration licences. New oil and gas pools have been 
discovered in 26 (57%) of the 45 wildcats drilled. 
A respectable 44% commercial exploration success rate has been achieved through this 
program with 20 new commercial fields. Some of the new oil fields were producing to 
markets in three to six months from discovery. 
In 2002 there were two active petroleum licence operators. Now there are 12 operators. 
There were formerly three licensees paying royalty pursuant to the Petroleum Act. Now 
there are nine licensees paying royalty. 
The Santos joint venture drilled 153 new wells; and 88% encountered commercial 
quantities of petroleum. 

This is a very positive outcome for the explorers, the State and the relevant Native Title 
claimants. 
Environmentally sustainable exploration, development and production activities in South 
Australia resulted in more than $53 million in petroleum royalties being paid to the State in 
2004–05. 
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TARGETS FOR 2005–06 
Maximise land access for responsible exploration and development of petroleum and geothermal 
resources through efficient and effective objective-based regulation. (T1.15) (T1.18) (T1.19) 
Maximise exploration and development investment to realise significant net benefits derived 
from the State’s ownership of rights to petroleum and geothermal resources. (T1.15) (T3.10) 
Minimise the ecological footprint of petroleum and geothermal activities undertaken pursuant to 
the Petroleum Act 2000 through Statements of Environmental Objectives that meet the 
expectations of stakeholders. (T3.10) 
Maximise competition within the upstream petroleum and geothermal resource sector by 
enticing diverse investors and in doing so, enhance the security of gas supplies to South 
Australians. (T1.4) (T1.15) (T1.16) 
Instigate and facilitate the development of a conjunctive Indigenous Land Use Agreement 
(ILUA) for the South Australia Cooper Basin in the year 2005–06 through to 2006–07. (T1.4) 
(T1.15) (T1.19) (T6.1) 

RURAL SOLUTIONS SA 
South Australia’s Strategic Plan targets 
OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPERITY 

EXPORTS (T1.12)

MINERALS AND EXPLORATIONS (T1.15)

LEAD THE NATION IN COST EFFECTIVENESS OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES IN 5 
YEARS (T1.18)

OBJECTIVE 3 – ATTAINING SUSTAINABILITY 

ECOLOGICAL FOOTPRINT (T3.10)

OBJECTIVE 5 – BUILDING COMMUNITIES 

VIABLE REGIONAL COMMUNITIES (T5.8)

OBJECTIVE 6 – EXPANDING OPPORTUNITY 

ABORIGINAL WELLBEING (T6.1)

Rural Solutions SA is a South Australian Government owned business that combines economic, 
environmental and social dimensions into an integrated service package. It has two shareholders: the 
Chief Executive of Primary Industries and Resources South Australia and the Chief Executive of 
Department of Water Land and Biodiversity Conservation and fulfils a key service delivery role for 
both agencies. Consultancy services are also provided for other government agencies, natural resource 
management bodies, agricultural industry development organisations, food, wine, forestry and 
resources companies, regional bodies, primary producers and community groups. Rural Solutions SA 
is currently turning over $22 million each year and employs approximately 260 consultants across 30 
locations throughout South Australia. 

Rural Solutions SA is well positioned to be a significant contributor to South Australia’s Strategic 
Plan, with customer-funded services having the potential to enhance South Australia’s rural economy, 
environment and society. 

During 2004–05, Rural Solutions SA achieved the following business outcomes: 
Enhanced the international competitiveness of local primary producers through quality 
assurance programs for the grain and wine industries. 
Expanded areas of national and international expertise in livestock and field crop services, 
providing primary producers with access to world-class, local consultancy services. 
Influenced South Australia’s Natural Resource Management reform agenda through the 
provision of services to the Department of Water, Land and Biodiversity Conservation and the 
interim Natural Resource Management groups. 
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Provided technical services for regional natural resource management programs that are funded 
by the State and Commonwealth Governments. 
Contributed to sustainable production within South Australia by managing State, 
Commonwealth and private sector projects in land management, environmental management 
systems, salt mapping, water use efficiency, water recycling and property assessment and 
planning. 
Played a significant role in the State Government’s initial response to the Lower Eyre Peninsula 
bushfires and the re-establishment phase. Provided program coordination for revegetation and 
water catchment rehabilitation and property management planning.  
Provided support to Indigenous Communities with training programs in committee management, 
executive officer support for the Aboriginal Lands (Alinytjara Wilurara) Interim Natural 
Resource Management Group and development of cultural awareness programs for non-
indigenous organisations. 
Established a “Southern Alliance” with Victoria and NSW for securing national contracts. 
Promoted the safe and rational use of farm chemicals and pesticides to industry and the general 
public through delivery of consultancy, advisory and educational services. 
Provided a network of service delivery outlets in regional areas throughout South Australia. 
Increased business revenue by 10% compared with 2003–04, demonstrating cost effectiveness 
of the services and continuing demand. 

TARGETS FOR 2005–06 
Expand Rural Solutions SA services in state, national and international markets. (T1.18) 
For exported food, wine, fibre, timber and minerals, enhance the value chains through services 
that focus on product quality integrity, traceability, and environmental management. (T1.12) 
Expand environmental management services to the minerals industry. (T1.15) 
Reduce environmental impacts by industries and communities through the integration of 
environment management systems. (T3.10) 
Position Rural Solutions SA to effectively deliver services in the newly integrated natural 
resource management arrangements. (T3.10) 
Support regional communities in their adoption of structural change resulting from 
environmental, social or market forces, for example major influences such as drought, climate 
change and changes in commodity prices. (T5.8) 
Increase awareness and use of programs for indigenous communities. (T6.1) 
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South Australian Research and Development Institute
SARDI
SARDI’s scientific outcomes align with the State Government’s Science 
Plan (STI10) to 

MEET SPECIFIC INDUSTRY PRIORITIES

PURSUE INNOVATION IN ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

ATTRACT INVESTMENT

DEVELOP CRITICAL INFRASTRUCUTRE

INCREASE INDUSTRY PRODUCTIVITY AND ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE

SARDI’s scientific outcomes also align with South Australia’s Strategic 
Plan targets
OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPECTIVITY 

PRODUCTIVITY (T1.10)

EXPORTS (T1.12)

OBJECTIVE 2 – IMPROVING WELLBEING 

HEALTHY SOUTH AUSTRALIANS (T2.2)

OBJECTIVE 3 – ATTAINING SUSTAINABILITY 

THE RIVER MURRAY (T3.1)

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS (T3.3)

MARINE BIODIVERSITY (T3.5)

NATIVE VEGETATION (3.6)

ECOLOGICAL FOOTPRINT

OBJECTIVE 4 – FOSTERING CREATIVITY 

COMMERCIALISATION OF RESEARCH (T4.2)

INVESTMENT IN SCIENCE, RESEARCH AND INNOVATION (T4.6)

COOPERATE RESEARCH CENTRES, CENTRES OF EXCELLENCE … (T4.8)

IMPROVE CONNECTIONS BETWEEN EDUCATIONAL INSTITUTIONS AND INDUSTRY 
TO ENHANCE CREATIVITY AND INNOVATIONS (T4.10)

OBJECTIVE 5 – BUILDING COMMUNITIES 
REDUCE REGIONAL UNEMPLOYMENT RATES (T5.10)

The South Australian Research and Development Institute is the South Australian Government’s 
principal resource for innovation in primary industries. Research programs are designed to drive 
economic development in the State’s food, fibre and bioscience industries and to protect living 
environmental systems. 

SARDI has core research expertise in sustainable industries including biodiesel development, climate 
risk, water and irrigation management, food safety, post harvest handling, fishery stock assessment, 
aquaculture development, aquatic sciences, the plant industries - crops, horticulture, viticulture, 
pasture and livestock industries.  

SARDI research and development services are sought by primary industry sectors (agriculture, 
fisheries and aquaculture), commercial enterprises, manufacturing and processing industries, natural 
resource conservation agencies, primary industry research and development corporations and various 
State Government agencies.  
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Growing prosperity 
SARDI delivered innovative research to boost the capacity of primary producers and processors to 
compete on export markets in keeping with the State goal of increasing export earnings of the State’s 
food industries (T.12). In 2004–05 SARDI innovations to enhance the viability and competitiveness of 
industries underpinning export growth included: 

Two apricot varieties (Riverbright and River Ruby) purpose-bred for the dried apricot industry 
and suitable for drying. More than 6500 trees will be available from nurseries for planting in 
July 2006. 
Leading-edge reproductive technologies (Jivet, Mivet) to improve the economic efficiency of 
the beef and wool industry. 
A series of improved food handling procedures designed to keep products in peak condition. 
This was achieved through the formation of the Cold Chain Centre in Port Adelaide. 
Three new improved varieties of barley (Sloop SA, Dhow and Maritime), two oat varieties 
(Mitika and Kangaroo) and a faba bean variety (Fiesta VF), bred for the cereal growing districts 
of SA with improved grain yields, disease resistance and grain quality. 
Effective systems for environmental management of rural landscapes through the development 
of computer based models to optimise nutrient delivery and spray application technologies to 
achieve reduced chemical usage and better disease control. 

In 2004–05 SARDI’s Food Safety team delivered world-class research that has played a pivotal role in 
assuring food safety with the spin-off of securing export market access. Through food assessments, the 
Food Safety team: 

Helped a South Australian tuna processor gain access to US supermarkets to take advantage of 
the Australia-US Free trade agreement. Projections show increased exports of canned tuna will 
create 50 new jobs and increase annual turnover by $50 million per annum. 
Established the `green’ credentials of the farmed Southern Bluefin Tuna industry through 
benchmarking residue levels to assure product safety. This work was funded by Aquafin CRC 
and financial analysis puts gains, from being able to prove safety to the industry, at about  
$40 million per annum. 

In addition, the Food Safety Unit: 
Pioneered and validated baitfish sampling methods to address international residue standards for 
Southern Bluefin Tuna. This will inform purchasing policy for the industry so as to minimise 
accumulation of chemicals/metals.  
Identified factors to improve carcass-dressing hygiene at SA Beef export abattoirs. 
Developed an on-farm food safety program for red meat producers to underpin export market 
access - and reported this in international literature. 
Supported the development of food safety systems for the pork export industry by evaluating the 
risk of welfare-friendly production systems on carcase contamination. 
Developed a risk-profiling tool for food businesses and primary production as a basis for 
developing and implementing food safety systems that reflect risk and meet international market 
access requirements. 
Developed web-based market access guides on country-specific residue standards for the 
seafood industry. 

In support of increasing market penetration of research through community involvement in research 
design, SARDI was actively involved in: 

Launching the Cropwatch On-Line initiative to the viticulture industries. This is a web-based 
disease warning weather information system aimed at safeguarding the State’s valuable wine 
crop. The service was launched at Loxton and McLaren Vale and is a further development of the 
successful fax-based system that was supported by the Riverland Wine Industry Development 
Council.
Setting up the Eyre Peninsula Agricultural Research Foundation. 
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Launching the Community Based Monitoring of Reefs program. This program is primarily 
funded by FRDC and jointly supported by the SARDI, EPA, SA Water and DEH. The program 
is enhancing our understanding of anthropogenic impacts on coastal reefs and empowering 
communities to take a more active role in coastal resources assessment and management through 
targeted education and training programs. 

The application of the Monash econometric model of economic impact to these developments, 
together with other SARDI programs, predicts a "life of research outcome" contribution of $1070 
million to South Australia's gross domestic product (GDP). 

Improving Well-being 
The State strategic plan sets the goal to improve quality of life. Food safety research helps to safeguard 
community health. 

In 2004–05, SARDI Food Safety Research provided reports to industry and regulators to protect 
public health (T2.1). These included: 

Options for reducing food poisoning risk through egg product profiles. 
Evaluating treatments to decontaminate chicken carcases. 
Providing risk management policy advice on the sale of non-pasteurised goat milk.  

Attaining Sustainability 
In line with the goal of responsible use of water in the River Murray catchment (T3.1), SARDI 
scientists delivered reliable models to show drainage from irrigated horticulture at both the farm and 
district levels.  

In line with the State Strategic Plan priority to protect marine biodiversity and install 19 protected 
marine areas by 2010 (T3.5), SARDI:  

Provided scientific advice on the sustainable development, use and where necessary, 
rehabilitations of near shore coastal systems to ensure their long-term ecological viability. This 
will ultimately assist in defining suitable habitats for marine protection.  
Addressed the management and rehabilitation of coastal environments impacted by urban 
settlements by interlinked research programs. Initiatives included developing new methods to 
rehabilitate seagrass, contributions to the Adelaide Coastal Water Study and overseeing 
community-based monitoring of reefs. 
Undertook world-first satellite tracking research to study the feeding ecology of Little Penguins 
in the Great Australian Bight.  

In support of the goal to protect native vegetation/biodiversity in South Australia’s Natural Resource 
Management Plans (T3.7), SARDI: 

Identified two biological control agents for Paterson’s Curse. The value of flea beetle, an agent 
that attacks leaves and roots of plants, has been confirmed and will be widely established within 
SA within three years. Another agent, a seed-feeding beetle has been successfully released. This 
means the State now has four biological control agents for Paterson’s Curse. 

In support of the state target to reduce ecological footprint from agriculture (T3.11), SARDI: 
Delivered a novel integrated farming and biological waste water management system that will 
produce bio-fuels, aquaculture and horticulture products. The system will reduce environmental 
risks and maximise production for regionally based and intensive livestock enterprises.  
Delivered advanced climate risk tools to manage production risks, improve productivity and 
reduce land degradation.  
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Fostering Creativity – Investment in Science, Cooperate Research 
Centres, Centres of Excellence, commercialisation of research, improve 
connections 

CENTRES OF EXCELLENCE

The State’s strategic plan sets the target of having the headquarters or a major node of at least 40% of 
all existing CRC, national Research facilities and Centres of Excellence based within the state within 
five years (T4.8). SARDI is on track to meet this goal with its success in securing involvement in five 
of fourteen new CRCs and one of two supplementary projects. 

In the latest round of CRC funding, SARDI helped to secure the national headquarters for a $55.8 
million CRC for an Internationally Competitive Pork Industry, aimed at reducing production costs and 
lifting demand for quality pork and niche products. This CRC will run for seven years and be based at 
the Roseworthy Campus of the University of Adelaide, where its core participants, SARDI and the 
university, will run programs in pig nutrition and reproduction. 

Other successful bids include involvement in CRC’s for: 
National Plant Biosecurity to safeguard industries against the economic and environmental 
impact of exotic plant-pest incursions. 
Australasian Invasive Animals where SARDI will contribute to the project with research into 
strategies for eradication of carp.  
e-Water which will develop planning and decision support tools for water managers and 
ecological support to ensure these tools correctly capture the environmental consequences of 
management action. 
Beef Genetic Technologies aimed at securing the future of the beef industry with world 
leadership in precision cattle breeding with a target of 1.5% per year increase in economic 
growth of the industry from 2012. 
 Molecular Plant Breeding, a supplementary project which aims to produce the world’s first 
highly nutritious highly digestible, hayfever-free pasture grasses. 
To date, SARDI has been involved in nearly 40% of the successful CRC bids nationally, lifting 
research investment by more than $87 million over the seven-year life of the projects. 

On behalf of the State Government, SARDI has progressed plans to install a new centre of excellence 
– Marine Innovation SA (MISA) with key sites at Pt Lincoln and West Beach. MISA will underpin the 
South Australian Seafood Food Plan and has the ultimate goal of increasing the volume and value of 
aquaculture and fisheries products. The initiative entails collaboration between the University of 
Adelaide, Flinders University and the SA Museum in both research and education areas. 

COMMERCIALISATION OF RESEARCH 

The state has set the goal of increasing patent applications (T4.2). SARDI successfully applied for and 
secured applications for Plant Breeder’s Rights protection on six varieties: "Mintaro" subterranean 
clover; "Riverbrite" apricot; "River Ruby" apricot; "Rivergold" apricot; "Wilpena" sulla; "Moonbi" 
sulla. Plant Breeder's Rights registration is a form of patent protection for plants, giving the titleholder 
the rights commercialise the particular variety and to earn royalties. 

In addition, a trademark was registered for the variety "SARDI Persian" clover, which has been 
licensed to a seed company. This will provide a specific marketing brand name for the variety. 

Following successful commercialization of the SARDI fan, in collaboration with Croplands Pty Ltd, 
market testing is extending to tree crops and evaluating market potential in Europe. A smaller 
prototype suitable for row crops and cotton is being pursued. 
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IMPROVED CONNECTIONS BETWEEN EDUCATIONAL INSTITUTIONS AND INNOVATIONS

SARDI Aquatic Sciences staff continued to provide teaching programs at both under-graduate and 
post-graduate levels to both the University of Adelaide and Flinders University. Undergraduate 
teaching programs have included lecture series in marine ecology, fish biology and the management of 
invasive species. Post-graduate programs included supervision for both Ph.D. and Honors level 
candidates.

SARDI viticulture staff provided the majority of input at a peak industry conference run by the 
Barossa Technical Working Group. The conference was attended by more than 250 wine industry 
personnel and illustrates the ongoing role of SARDI in effective technology transfer of research 
outcomes to industry. 

TARGETS FOR 2005–06 
In support of the State Government plan to foster creativity (T4.8) through the STI10 plan, SARDI will: 

Commence membership in five new Cooperative Research Centres (CRC’s) and host the 
headquarters of one CRC (Pork) and major nodes of all others in South Australia. (T4.8)  
Submit or participate in at least five new proposals under the National Collaborative Research 
Infrastructure Strategy (NCRIS) to support the development of SA based research infrastructure 
over the next five years. 
Continue to develop the Marine Innovation SA initiative with a focus on the establishment of 
new infrastructure and research and teaching programs that will support marine and seafood 
based industries. (T4.8) (T1.12) 

Encourage momentum through collaboration in the wine industry through progressing plans with 
Waite Campus partners to plan science programs at the Wine Innovation Centre now under 
construction. (T4.8) (T1.12) 

In pursuit of the State Government goal to treble the value of South Australia’s export income and 
support regional employment in SA communities, SARDI will: 

Deliver new, improved cereal and pulse varieties to the SA cropping industries through 
involvement with Australian Grain Technologies (AGT), the National Barley Breeding Program, 
the National Pulse Breeding Program, the National Oat Breeding Program and the National 
Variety Testing Program. (T1.10) (T1.11) 
Encourage and facilitate infrastructure and project investment at Loxton Centre to enhance the 
research effort and achieve market penetration of results to support the irrigated crop industries 
of the Riverland region. (T3.1) (T5.11) 
Pursue research and development investment opportunities to build the infrastructure, 
intellectual research support capabilities of the Lenswood Research Centre. (T5.11) (T4.8) 
(T4.6)
Develop capacity to expand opportunities for value-adding in the food processing sector through 
industry and investor collaborations. (T1.12) 

To meet the State Government goal to attain sustainability, SARDI will: 
Deliver and refine production systems to support the innovative use of plant products in 
partnership with industry and foster mainstream community acceptance of bio-fuels such as bio-
diesel. (T3.3) (T1.12) 
Deliver new technologies to horticulture and in-land aquaculture industries through further 
expansion and development of the Bio-saline and Waste Stream utilisation programs. (T3). 
Secure major grants to conduct innovative research to support natural resource management 
initiatives throughout the State. (T3) 
Continue pioneering research into marine and land ecology and industry recycling systems. 
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AGENCY SUPPORT 
OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPECTIVITY 

EXPORTS (T1.12)

MINERALS AND EXPLORATION (T1.15)

COST-EFFECTIVENESS OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES (T1.18)

TIMELY AND TRANSPARENT GOVERNMENT DECISION MAKING (1.19)

The Corporate Division provides the governance support functions and services for PIRSA. Corporate 
delivers services to PIRSA Executive, staff and managers across a wide and diverse range of 
functional areas including finance and shared business services, risk management and audit, corporate 
strategy and policy, communications and marketing, human resources, information management and 
legal services which are provided through an outposted arrangement with the Crown Solicitor’s 
Office.

Finance and Shared Business Services 

SHARED SERVICES MANAGEMENT

The Corporate Business Reform project that was established early in 2004 moved into pilot phase 
during 2004–05 with Rural Solutions SA. The overarching goal of the project is to ensure the 
provision of customer-focused services in a shared services environment by formal business 
relationship between PIRSA Corporate and the respective PIRSA Divisions. Service delivery will be 
provided that is more business-like in terms of quality, cost and timeliness. A further expansion of the 
pilot will continue in 2005–06 with a view to formal relationships with all of the Agency’s divisions 
during 2006–07. 

PIRSA also commenced providing a range of corporate support functions to the Department of Trade 
and Economic Development and the South Australian Motor Sport Board with both being supported 
by formal service level agreements. 

BUSINESS SERVICES

A policy was implemented on 1 July 2004 to facilitate PIRSA achieving equal participation of men 
and women on its government boards and committees by 2006 and 50% of its boards and committees 
chaired by women by 2008. These targets align with targets set in South Australia's Strategic Plan. 
Strategies are continuing to be developed and implemented to encourage more women onto PIRSA's 
boards and committees to achieve these targets.  

A Procurement Manual was developed and disseminated across PIRSA, ensuring that people who 
undertake procurement have easy access to information they require to carry out their roles. The 
manuals will also provide a useful tool in ensuring that the risks associated with procurement are 
effectively managed and that procurement delivers appropriate business outcomes for PIRSA. 

The Mount Gambier and Coober Pedy business operations were moved to new offices following major 
capital works at those sites, resulting in more efficient work environments with greater service 
delivery, accessibility and security. Major works were also undertaken at 25 and 101 Grenfell Street, 
Adelaide to cater for new reception areas - creating a single customer service access point with 
enhanced security facilities in each building. 

A security policy was developed to reduce security risk in the agency. The policy provides a guide to 
staff in identifying security risks and sets out procedures for preventing these risks and directions in 
the event of a security incident. 
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FINANCIAL SERVICES

A new chart of accounts is effective from 1 July 2005. It was developed to improve PIRSA’s financial 
reporting for internal and external purposes. 

New and improved financial controls and processes for the preparation of monthly bank and clearing 
account reconciliations were implemented, providing improved completeness of financial information. 

A web-based accounts receivable system, ‘PIRSA Payments Plus’, which provides PIRSA customers 
with on-line access to their invoice, statement and personal account details and enables payment 
facilities over the Internet, was developed and commenced a roll-out to PIRSA customers. 

TARGETS FOR 2005–06 
Improve and streamline the asset management process. (T1.18) 
Across the Agency, improve efficiency of the approval process for accounts payable invoices. 
(T1.18) (T1.19) 

Budget Strategy 
During 2004–05, the Budget Strategy Unit provided support to the agency’s annual budget cycle. This 
included assisting business units to develop new proposals and prepare Cabinet submissions and 
facilitating the preparation of Budget Bilateral papers and preparation of the agency’s Portfolio 
Statements released with the Budget. 

Other activities undertaken during the year include the provision of financial statements for various 
industry funds (e.g. the Adelaide Hills Wine Industry Fund), the annual financial statements for the 
agency, financial assessments (e.g. business cases and board papers) and commencement of the 
development of a business financial framework. Improvements were also made to the internal budget 
processes to better align it with the whole of government process. 

Rural Finance and Development 
During 2004–05, Rural Finance and Development approved 982 grants and loans totalling 
$17 659 421 under various schemes (excluding grants made on behalf of Department of Water, Land 
and Biodiversity). 

The number of applications approved and the amounts approved under each scheme is provided in the 
following table. 

Scheme
Number of 

Applications
Approved 

Amount 
Approved* 

($) 
FarmBis 368 2 516 497 
Exceptional Circumstances 55 657 440 
Loans Cooperatives 1 130 000 
River Fishery 8 668 114 
Rural Counselling 12 256 000 
Marine Scalefish Fishery Buyback 62 10 924 446 
Energy Efficiency Low Interest Loan Scheme 91 77 119 
Bushfire – Lower Eyre Peninsula 385 2 429 805 

TOTAL 982 17 659 421 

* This includes all grants and loans approved as a commitment during 2004-05 and will vary from  
actual payments made 



PIRSA ANNUAL REPORT 2004–05 42

FarmBis 
The FarmBis program is funded by the Australian and State governments and provides financial 
support to assist primary producers improve their business management skills. 

Exceptional Circumstances  
Exceptional Circumstances support, which is funded by the Australian and State governments, 
provides interest rate relief for pastoralists located in the Central North East, Far North East, Central 
North pastoral and Upper North cropping areas of the State.

Loans to Cooperatives 
Cooperatives in South Australia that are engaged in the primary industries sector can access loans to 
assist in developing their business. 

River Fishery 
Under the restructure of the River Fishery, funding was provided to assist individual licence holders.  

Rural Financial Counselling 
Funding was provided to 12 Rural Financial Counselling Services (14 counsellors) to assist with the 
provision of financial counselling and information to primary producers. 

Marine Scalefish Fishery 
A government funded buy back scheme to restructure the commercial net sector of the marine 
scalefish fishery was offered to marine scalefish licence holders with a haul or gill net endorsement to 
voluntarily surrender the endorsement or whole licence, as a first step in a comprehensive 
management plan for the State's marine scalefish fishery. 

Interest Free Loans – Energy Efficiency Program 
Interest free loans were made available under the Energy Efficiency Program for low-income earners 
to acquire energy efficient goods without having to pay interest costs and fees. 

Lower Eyre Peninsula Bushfire Support 
Support was provided to assist Lower Eyre Peninsula producers and landholders recover from the 
January 2005 bushfires. 

Risk Management and Audit 
The Risk Management and Audit unit is structured to provide a strategic approach to risk management 
by being integrated within the agency’s quality management and strategic planning framework. 
Operational responsibility for identifying and managing risks resides with the business divisions. 

PIRSA adopts a risk management framework and reporting system to ensure that whole-of-agency 
risks and opportunities are identified, analysed and appropriate management strategies are 
implemented. This risk management approach assists PIRSA to mitigate the potential risks and 
maximise the opportunities in achieving its strategic and operational objectives. The deployment of 
this approach is through the PIRRISK risk management system. The PIRRISK system has been 
updated during the year to incorporate the new Risk Management Standard AS/NZS 4360:2004. 

The key focus of PIRRISK is to assist management and staff to make informed decisions, encourage 
knowledge sharing and develop a formal risk management plan. This enables groups to understand the 
risks and opportunities PIRSA faces in an environment of constant change. PIRSA Executive, 
Agriculture, Food and Fisheries, Minerals and Energy Resources, SARDI, Rural Solutions SA and 
PIRSA Corporate have conducted workshops to develop ‘Risk Profiles’ using this approach. In 
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addition, this approach was used during the year to develop Risk Profiles for emergency management 
projects such as Citrus Canker and Barramundi Nodavirus. 

PIRSA RISK AND AUDIT COMMITTEE

The PIRSA Risk and Audit Committee was established in April 2001 and members include PIRSA 
senior managers, an independent committee member and representatives from the Auditor-General’s 
Department in an observer role. The committee assists PIRSA Executive in fulfilling its governance 
responsibilities in relation to the management of PIRSA. The PIRSA Risk and Audit Committee met 
on three occasions during the year. (T1.19) 

Human Resources 

HR DELEGATIONS

During 2005, the Commissioner for Public Employment devolved a number of HR delegations to 
agencies to provide more flexibility at the agency level for workforce management. Corporate HR 
managed the introduction of these delegations into PIRSA to ensure that appropriate governance 
frameworks, policies and processes were developed and implemented to ensure appropriate levels of 
accountability and transparency.  

WORKFORCE STRATEGY AND REPORTING

Quarterly workforce reporting focused on identifying specific workforce characteristics, with some 
strategic alignment to workforce planning. An integrated workforce planning strategy is being 
developed in partnership with the Commissioner for Public Employment in 2005–06, to enable PIRSA 
to identify its future workforce needs and address specific issues including attraction and retention. 

RESPONSIVE AND SAFE WORKING CONDITIONS

Employee Assistance Program 
The contract with the three Employee Assistance Program (EAP) providers for the provision of 
counseling support services was reviewed and extended for a further 12 months. EAP Services are 
available to all staff, with a total of 59 visits recorded for the year. 

OHS&W
Occupational health, safety and injury management statistics, Appendix 2. 

WORKPLACE BULLYING OR HARASSMENT

PIRSA has an established policy on workplace harassment and discrimination, which incorporates the 
role of Harassment Contact Officers. This year a total of 17 harassment contact officers were provided 
with introduction or refresher training. 

QUALITY STAFFING

Recruitment and Selection 
Corporate HR continued to offer two-day Recruitment and Selection Workshops, panel coaching and 
HR consultancy advice to support recruitment and selection across the agency. Executive endorsed the 
requirement for a minimum of two panel members to have undertaken the Recruitment and Selection 
Workshop or to be experienced in capabilities based recruitment and selection processes.  

MANAGED PERFORMANCE

During 2004–05 a performance management and development framework was collaboratively 
developed for implementation across the agency. The framework will support alignment between the 
goals required of the agency in South Australia’s Strategic Plan, and agency strategy and outcomes, to 
what needs to be achieved by each division, team and individual. It will enable a consistent approach 
to supporting, developing and recognising each employee so that they are successful in their work and 
career, and provides divisions and teams with the flexibility to tailor processes to suit their context and 
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requirements. Implementation of the framework will commence across PIRSA by September 2005 and 
align with Executive Performance Agreements. 

PLANNED HUMAN RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT

PIRSA has continued to place a high priority in leadership and management development with 
opportunities offered during the year including Leadership for the Future, Women in Leadership, The 
Art of Management – HR Delegations, The Art of Management – OHS&W, Front Line Managers 
workshops and the Public Sector Mobility Program. Half of the participants on the Leadership for the 
Future program were senior staff from the Department of Water, Land and Biodiversity, increasing 
understanding and collaboration between the agencies. Further development of these programs will be 
undertaken in 2005–06. 

The percentage of training expenditure relative to total employee remuneration costs was 3.46% (an 
increase of 0.67% since 2003–04). 

The percentage of leadership and management expenditure relative to total employee remuneration 
costs was 1.66% (an increase of 0.26% since 2003–04). 

PROTECTION OF MERIT AND EQUITY

All employees received a Code of Conduct outlining the public sector requirements for employees to 
act with respect, integrity and accountability. New employees receive the Code of Conduct as part of 
their induction program. 

Work commenced on the development of an equity and diversity framework that incorporates 
employment initiatives for people with disabilities and the Indigenous. 

The principles of merit and equity were incorporated into the recruitment and selection process. 

Continuous Improvement 
AWARD FOR HR ACHIEVEMENT

In 2004, PIRSA received an award for excellence in HR practice from the Commissioner for Public 
Employment for the ‘Stuck Cases’ project. Stuck Cases has enabled PIRSA to resolve a number of 
difficult employee relations issues including redeployment, work injured and disciplinary matters.  

EMPLOYEE SURVEYS

Two whole-of-agency surveys were undertaken to support policy and program development in the 
areas of workforce planning and performance management and development. 

CHRIS – HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

PIRSA introduced electronic payslips for employees in May 2005. A significant proportion of the 
workforce elected to receive their payslip electronically, which improved timeliness and distribution 
of information to employees. 

Communications and Marketing 
During 2004–05, PIRSA’s Communications and Marketing team delivered high-level communication 
strategies and advice, supporting the Agency’s various business divisions. Activities included: 

On going use of the Stock Journal supplement ‘Open Gate’ to showcase PIRSA’s innovation 
and achievements to key external stakeholders. 
On-site communications during the Eyre Peninsula bushfires. 
Participation in state-based and national emergency exercises to test communications 
capabilities.
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Development of presentation materials for Ministers attending overseas trade delegations and 
conferences.
Taste! South Australia and the project management of field days and events supporting the Plan 
to Accelerate Exploration (PACE). 
Promotional support for various industry strategies that link into South Australia’s Strategic 
Plan.

TARGETS FOR 2005–06 
Capture the benefits of international delegations and potential investors for increased 
exploration and buyers of South Australian produce. (T1.12) (T1.15) (T1.19) 
Grow participation in Taste! South Australia by 10%. (T1.12) 

Corporate Strategy and Policy 
The Corporate Strategy and Policy Branch operates four program areas to enhance the effectives and 
efficiency of PIRSA as an economic development agency. The primary role of the Corporate Strategy 
and Policy Branch is to provide PIRSA with a policy framework and strategy development process 
that enables planning in PIRSA for resource allocation and strategic decision-making. The framework 
also guides choices about programs in order that PIRSA’s impact in facilitating sustainable economic 
development is maximized. The development and use of sophisticated economic models to measure 
the impact of PIRSA programs on South Australia’s regional and State economies is an integral part of 
the services provided by the Branch. 

The Corporate Strategy and Policy Branch continued to play a key-enabling role across all PIRSA 
Divisions, supporting their industry-based planning and understanding of disciplines that enhance the 
strategic focus of the Agency. Key projects for the year included the Triple Bottom Line Scorecard for 
the Resources Sector, a competitiveness analysis of the Riverland Wine Industry and an analysis of the 
economic impacts of salinity on the Lower Murray.  

Information Management 

Customer Services 
Customer Services continues to provide an increasing range of products and services to customers 
from 101 Grenfell Street. The Customer Services Centre will be moving to a new facility on Level 7, 
101 Grenfell Street in August 2005. The new centre will provide greater access to recently digitised 
data through enhanced electronic access facilities. 

Records Management 
PIRSA Executive approved the Document and Records Management Strategy (DARMS) project in 
2002. The objective of the strategy is to develop and implement a document and records framework 
comprising policies, guidelines, tools, induction and training programs, and technology to enable 
effective management of PIRSA’s information assets. The framework will also enable compliance 
with agency legislative requirements under the State Records Act 1997 and SA Government policy 
requirements under the Whole-of-Government Records Management Framework. 

Project outcomes for 2004–05 were the tender, evaluation, selection and procurement of an electronic 
document and records management system, the development of education, awareness and training 
strategies to govern its use and the development of a range of tools to assist users to access relevant 
data and information quickly and easily.  

Spatial Information
The demands for spatially related information continue to grow both within PIRSA divisions and from 
other government agencies. Major projects in 2004–05 included: 

A significant analytical report on opportunities to expand intensive livestock industries. 
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Use of spatial mapping technologies to facilitate the ongoing monitoring of Genetically 
Modified crops. 
An extension to the Valuation Quality Project was undertaken for Valuation SA, Land Services 
Group, DAIS. 

Information and Communication Technology 
The PIRSA websites were improved with the installation of a new search engine, which facilitates 
improved customer access to information and products through the ability to search across all PIRSA 
websites and attached documents. Plans have been established to replace the underlying Internet 
Content Management system and review the published content in 2005–06. 

PIRSA business divisions have continued their utilisation of on-line service delivery models to support 
internal and external customers. A new FarmBis website was developed to provide training 
information to primary producers. 

The second phase of the eRevenue project was delivered for Financial Services. Ongoing 
improvements were also made to the Primary Industries Information Management System, which was 
expanded to incorporate aquaculture licensing, and to provide an interface to laboratory tests allowing 
for improved disease surveillance and control for the agricultural sector. 

Improvements have been made to the communications network through the installation of network 
optimisation equipment at regional sites and connection of the Waite and Glenside campuses to the 
PIRSA network by fibre optic cable. Server equipment continues to be replaced in accordance with the 
overall infrastructure management plan. 

Publishing Services 
Modifications were made to the interim branch structure following introduction of the branch business 
plan in the previous year. These modifications took into account new customer relationship 
management approaches within the Corporate Division, which help to provide a more seamless 
approach to service provision for all clients. Several trips to PIRSA regional centres focused on 
making clients more aware of the range of services provided by Publishing Services. 

Brochures, booklets, journals, technical reports and poster displays continue to be the main products, 
but there is an increasing move towards preparation of electronic copies of larger publications and data 
compilations for distribution via CD, DVD and the Web. Audio-visual displays that include interactive 
data, video clips and animation are also being increasingly sought. Significant publications produced 
during the year were the World Energy Congress interactive CD, Petroleum Exploration and 
Development in South Australia interactive DVD and The Waite Business Case promotional package. 
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MANAGEMENT OF HUMAN RESOURCES 
Employee Numbers, Genders and Status 

Persons at 30 June 2005 1492

FTE's at 30 June 2005 1404.6

Gender at 30 June 2005 % Persons % FTE 
Female  40.2 38.0 
Male  59.8 62.0 

Number of persons separated from the 
agency during the 2004-05 financial year 

180 

Note: This includes 44 employees who started and separated within 2004-05 

Number of persons recruited to the agency 
during the 2004-05 financial year 

198 

Note: This does not include 44 employees who started and separated within 2004-05. 

Number of persons on leave without pay at  
30 June 2005 

28

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES BY SALARY BRACKET AT 30 JUNE 2005 

Salary Bracket Male Female Total 

$0 – $38 599  139 205 344 

$38 600 – $49 999  241 213 454 

$50 000 – $65 999  305 144 449 

$66 000 – $85 999  182 34 216 

$86 000+  26 3 29 

Total  893 599 1492 

STATUS OF EMPLOYEES IN CURRENT POSITION AT 30 JUNE 2005 

FTE's Ongoing Short-term 
contract 

Long-term
contract 

Other
(Casual) 

Total 

Male 560.4 46.6 245.8 18.6  871.4 
Female  297.9 85.9 130.3 19.1  533.2 
Total  858.3 132.5 376.1 37.7 1404.6 

 Persons Ongoing Short-term 
contract 

Long-term
contract 

Other
(Casual) 

Total 

Male 562 48 248 35  893 
Female  324 90 141 44  599 
Total  886 138 389 79 1492 
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Executives

NUMBER OF EXECUTIVES BY STATUS IN CURRENT POSITION, GENDER AND 
CLASSIFICATION AT 30 JUNE 2005 

Ongoing Contract tenured Contract 
untenured

Total
Classification

Male Female Male Female Male Female Male Female
Total 

EXEC0A  0 0 8 0 3 2 11 2 13

EXEC0B  0 0 2 0 5 0 7 0 7

EXEC0C  0 0 3 0 3 0 6 0 6

EXEC0D 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 1

EXEC0F  0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 1

TOTAL 0 0 15 0 11 2 26 2 28

Leave Management 

LEAVE – AVERAGE DAYS TAKEN PER FULL TIME EQUIVALENT EMPLOYEE 

Leave Type 2000–01 2001–02 2002–03 2003–04 2004–05 

Sick leave taken 5.15 5.14 5.4 5.4 4.9 

Family carer's leave taken 0.04 0.06 0.1 0.5 0.5 

Special leave with pay N/A N/A 1 0.4 0.6 

Workforce Diversity 

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES BY AGE BRACKET BY GENDER AT 30 JUNE 2005 

Age Bracket Male Female Total % of Total
South 

Australian 
Workforce*

15 – 19 2 4 6 0.40 7.4 

20 – 24 43 58 101 6.77 11.3 

25 – 29 84 107 191 12.80 10.0 

30 – 34 94 83 177 11.86 10.7 

35 – 39 83 77 160 10.72 11.1 

40 – 44 105 65 170 11.39 12.2 

45 – 49 148 97 245 16.42 12.3 

50 – 54 163 71 234 15.68 11.3 

55 – 59 126 21 147  9.85  8.1 

60 – 64 32 14  46  3.08  4.0 

65+ 13 2  15  1.01  1.6 

Total  893  599  1492  100.00  100.0 
*As at February 2005 from ABS Supertable LM8 

NUMBER OF ABORIGINAL AND/OR TORRES STRAIT ISLANDER EMPLOYEES 
AT 30 JUNE 2005 

Male Female Total % of 
Agency 

Strategic Plan 
Benchmark* 

Aboriginal or  
Torres Strait Islander 

4 1 5 0.34 2.0% 

*Benchmark from South Australia’s Strategic Plan 
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CULTURAL AND LINGUISTIC DIVERSITY AT 30 JUNE 2005 

Name Male Female Total % of 
Agency 

SA
Community* 

Number of employees born overseas 98 76 174 11.66 20.3 

Number of employees who speak 
language(s) other than English at home  

1 0 1 0.07 15.5 

*ABS Publication Basic Community Profile (SA) Cat No. 2001.0 

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES WITH ONGOING DISABILITIES 
REQUIRING WORKPLACE ADAPTATION AT 30 JUNE 2005 

Male Female Total % of Agency

Total  17 10 27 1.81 

Voluntary Flexible Working Arrangements 

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES USING VOLUNTARY FLEXIBLE 
WORKING ARRANGEMENTS BY GENDER AT 30 JUNE 2005 

Leave Type Male Female Total 

Purchased leave   14  10  24 

Flexitime  444 391 835 

Compressed weeks   13  4  17 

Part-time job share   6  30  36 

Working from home   34  26  60 
Note: These figures do not represent informally negotiated flexible working arrangements.  

Improvements in data collection and recording are planned. 

Training and Development 

DOCUMENTED INDIVIDUAL PERFORMANCE DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

Salary Bracket % with a plan negotiated 
within 2004-05 

% with a plan negotiated 
within 2003-04 

$0 – $38 599  50 54 

$38 600 – $49 999  46 45 

$50 000 – $65 999  47 44 

$66 000 – $85 999  44 42 

$86 001+  53 53 

Note: Data older than 2003-04 is not available 

TRAINING EXPENDITURE AS PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL 
REMUNERATION EXPENDITURE 

Target 2004– 05 Actual 2004–05 Target 2005–06 

Total 3 3.46 3.5 
Note: Data is currently not available by salary bracket.  

Equal Opportunity Employment Programs 

YOUTH TRAINING STRATEGY

PIRSA employed a total of seven trainees under the 2004–05 SA Government Youth Traineeship 
Program. The trainees were employed in administrative and information management roles. 
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INDIGENOUS RECRUITMENT AND DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

Corporate Human Resources is progressing the development of an Indigenous Strategy within an 
Equity and Diversity framework. During 2004–05 employment opportunities were sourced from the 
Aboriginal Employment Register. A number of PIRSA divisions currently work in collaboration with 
Indigenous communities, which increases opportunities for recruitment. A representative Working 
Group is to target incentive schemes with relevant stakeholders to increase numbers of Aboriginal 
employees working in PIRSA. 

STRATEGY FOR EMPLOYMENT OF PEOPLE WITH A DISABILITY

Corporate Human Resources continued to provide leadership in the promotion of PIRSA’s Disability 
Action Plan and Implementation Strategy 2004–06. Employment of people with a disability is a key 
theme in the strategy. New policies and procedures were developed to encourage participation in the 
strategy. A joint program with Disability Recruitment Service led to the on-going employment of a 
person with a disability. 

Workplace adaptation, to cater for specific needs of employees with disabilities, continues as a matter 
of priority. 

Occupational Health, Safety and Injury Management 
PIRSA is recognised in South Australian Government as a high performer in occupational health, 
safety and injury management with excellent results continuing for 2004–05. 

Key highlights for the year include: 
Excellent results with continuing improvement in the number of Lost Time Injuries from 23 in 
2003–04 dropping to 14 in 2004–05. The lost time injury frequency rate reduced from 10.23 to 
6.04 hours for each million hours worked, well below the target of 9.72 hours for each million 
hours worked. 
An injury management audit recommended some minor improvement. These were actioned. 
PIRSA has successfully achieved all targets set under the Whole of Government Workplace 
Safety Management Strategy 

Occupational health, safety and injury management statistics, Appendix 2. 

PIRSAFE SYSTEM

PIRSA continues to strive for excellence and the PIRSAFE system is continually improved. The 
following summarises activities supporting continuous review and improvement of the PIRSAFE 
program over 2004–05. 

PIRSAFE FUNCTIONAL AUDITS

The period 2004–05 saw a significant focus on the implementation of PIRSA’s new OHSW internal 
audit program. A total of 29 PIRSAFE Functional Audits were implemented across all business 
divisions. The results are being analysed and reports highlighting areas for improvement over the next 
year will be presented to Executive. 

PIRSAFE PROCEDURES

The OHSW Policy and eight procedures were reviewed in the last 12 months. Two new PIRSAFE 
procedures - the Defibrillator Procedure and the Mail Handling Procedure - were developed and 
implemented.  
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WORKPLACE SAFETY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY – IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

PIRSA has ensured that the Premier’s Safety Commitment Statement has been communicated in the 
workplace including access on the PIRSA Intranet and the induction program.  

As part of the whole of government strategy to improve safety performance in the Public Sector, DAIS 
– Public Sector Workforce Relations selected PIRSA to participate in an evaluation of performance 
against the Workplace Safety Management Strategy. The evaluation identified that PIRSA has 
comprehensive Safety Management Systems in place and there is a commitment from Executive to 
providing training to PIRSA staff and reviewing the PIRSAFE system for continuous improvement. 

PIRSA has integrated the Ministerial Safety Checklist into the planning processes for OHS. This will 
ensure PIRSA is reporting on a regular basis on the implementation of the Workplace Safety 
Management Strategy.  

PIRSAFE TRAINING FOR MANAGERS

A new initiative involving the training of all PIRSA managers in PIRSAFE requirements was 
developed as a module in PIRSA’s ‘Art of Managing’ program. Thirteen sessions were held with 208 
management representatives attending the training. Executive Management attended a half day 
Responsible Officer training. The training has increased management awareness of their 
responsibilities surrounding occupational health and safety. 
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OTHER MATTERS 
Contractual Arrangements 
PIRSA had one contractual arrangement in place during 2004–05 where the contract value exceeds  
$4 million in total and extends beyond a single year. The contract was entered into by PIRSA in  
2003–04 with The Gribbles Group Ltd for the provision of a veterinary diagnostic services to the 
livestock industry (including apiary and aquatic industries). This service provides data on the 
incidence of and control of diseases and residues in South Australia, which is then used to minimise 
the incidence of diseases and residues in livestock or livestock products. The contract with The 
Gribbles Group Ltd is for a five-year term and has a total value of $4.3 million (or $860 000 per 
annum). 

Account Payment Performance
The Payment of Accounts (Public Finance and Audit Act 1987) requires all undisputed accounts to be 
paid within 30 days of the date of the invoice or claim unless there is a discount or a written agreement 
between the agency and the creditor. As indicated in the table below, PIRSA paid 80% of all invoices 
in 2004–05 on time. This compares with 82% of all invoices paid on time in 2003–04. PIRSA is 
concerned that the benchmark target of 90% has not been met and will be seeking to increase the 
efficiency of the approval process for accounts payable invoices. One method to be trialled is the 
scanning and electronic approval of accounts payable invoices using workflow technology.  

ACCOUNT PAYMENT PERFORMANCE 2004-05 
Particulars Accounts paid Amount paid

Number % $’000 % 
Paid by the due date 50 568 80 397 356 94 
Paid late but within 30 days of the due date 9 848 16  19 317  4 
Paid more than 30 days from the due date  2 503 4  7313  2 

Fraud
There were no instances of fraud reported during 2004–05. 

Risk Management and Audit facilitated a Fraud Risk Workshop during the year with participation 
from all divisions to identify fraud risks, document controls and treatments to mitigate fraud. The 
fraud ‘Risk Profile’ will be reviewed by Internal Audit to provide assurance around controls and 
treatments to mitigate fraud. 

Urban Design Charter 
The Urban Design Charter was released in November 2004. The Urban Design Charter aims to 
promote the benefits of good urban design, embed the principles of good urban design into 
government processes and record the South Australian Government's commitment to good urban 
design. PIRSA will consider the implications of the Urban Design Charter during 2005–06. 

Regional Impact Assessment Statements  
The following Regional Impact Assessment Statements were prepared during 2004–05: 

Management of the King George Whiting Fishery 
Net buyback Scheme in the Marine Scalefish Fishery. 

Asbestos Management 
The following table shows the number of non-residential sites owned by PIRSA against various 
priorities for risk assessment. All sites with asbestos containing material (ACM) were inspected during 
the year and reports making recommendations on removal or future maintenance were provided to 
PIRSA. Works recommended for high to urgent priority sites will be addressed in 2005–06. 
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SITE ASBESTOS PRESENCE 
STATUS

PRIORITY FOR RISK 
ASSESSMENT 

NO. OF SITES IN 
PRIORITY FOR 
ASSESSMENT 
CATEGORY

No data Urgent 5 
Unstable, accessible 
Unstable, damaged or decayed 

Urgent 6 

Unstable, inaccessible 
Unstable, partly accessible 

High 2 

Stable, accessible 
Stable, accessible, initial signs of decay 

Medium 21 

Stable, inaccessible 
Stable, partly accessible 

Low 4 

Asbestos free Not applicable 23 

Disability Action Plans 
PIRSA is committed to the rights of people with disabilities and will promote the recognition and 
acceptance within PIRSA of the principle that people with disabilities have the same fundamental 
rights as the rest of the community. 

PIRSA’s Disability Action Plan has been developed to fulfil the inclusive and non-discriminatory 
requirements of progressive legislation and policies.  

However, PIRSA’s plan also goes further - in a spirit of partnership and participation across the 
organisation, the benefits of the plan are infused into its services to industry and communities. Over 
the next three years, by building a stronger understanding of the issues, the plan will begin the process 
of an inclusive and accessible environment within PIRSA. 

PIRSA’s progress on the key outcomes to be achieved through the implementation of the Whole of 
Government Promoting Independence – Disability Action Plans for South Australia are: 

1. Portfolios and their agencies ensure accessibility to their services to people with disabilities.
PIRSA’s Disability Action Plan and Disability Implementation Strategy 2004–06 has been 
developed in consultation with PIRSA’s Promoting Independence Working Party. This working 
party is comprised of staff with, or experience in, disabilities. The Plan and Implementation 
Strategy were endorsed by Executive in November 2004. 

PIRSA actively promotes and supports the Disability Recruitment Service and has provided 
continuing employment for a trainee employed through a disability employment initiative.  

An audit on all buildings and facilities by an accredited access auditor is planned in the next 12 
to 18 months to build on the preliminary audit conducted in April 2003. 

A Landlord Model is currently being developed which will involve the further training of 
Property and Facilities staff to be able to identify the basic requirements of the Disability
Discrimination Act 1992 when undertaking property site inspections. 

Works undertaken in the last 12 months include: 
The upgrade of facilities at the Port Lincoln office with the installation of an accessible 
toilet and a number of access ramps. 
Fitout work associated with the temporary occupation of the QBE building included the 
installation of an electronic door. 
Several other specific modifications have been and are being undertaken to accommodate 
employees with disabilities. 
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Three counter hearing systems have been included in the refurbishment plans for Adelaide 
offices.
Human Resource policies continue to include disability awareness and promote positive 
practices.

2. Portfolios and their agencies ensure information about their services and programs is inclusive 
of people with disabilities. 

Budget provisions have been made to purchase a new web content management system, which 
will enable PIRSA to improve the overall useability and accessibility of our websites. 

PIRSA’s publicity and communication processes are designed to be user friendly to people with 
disabilities.

Clients requiring publications/information in an alternative format are accommodated on an 
individual basis. 

3. Portfolios and their agencies deliver advice or services to people with disabilities with 
awareness and understanding of issues affecting people with disabilities. 

A Disability Awareness Training Program has been developed and implemented throughout the 
agency in the last quarter of this year. Twenty five percent of staff have participated so far with 
an expectation of 95% by June 2006. 

The program is also available on PIRSA’s intranet and is included in PIRSA introduction days 
and the agency’s new online induction program. 

4. Portfolios and their agencies provide opportunities for consultation with people with disabilities 
in decision-making processes regarding service delivery and in the implementation of 
complaints and grievance mechanisms. 

PIRSA’s awareness training program addresses the need for consultation with people with 
disabilities in relevant decision making processes. 

Policies in relation to complaints and grievance processes are currently being reviewed.  

5. Each portfolio chief executive will ensure that their portfolio has met the requirements of the 
Disability Discrimination Act 1992 and the Equal Opportunity Act 1984. 

Our Disability Action Plan and Implementation Strategy 2004–06 was endorsed by Executive in 
November 2004 and submitted to the Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission. 

PIRSA’s Chief Executive and Executive Directors are accountable for achieving the key 
outcomes of the Strategy and have this accountability included in their individual performance 
contracts.

All Human Resource policies and guidelines are inclusive of people with disabilities.  
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
Financial Overview 
The tables and figures below provide summaries of the Statement of Financial Performance, the 
Statement of Financial Position and the Statement of Cash Flows that compare the 2004–05 budget 
with the results for 2004–05 and the results for 2003–04. The detailed financial statements reflecting 
the actual results for 2004–05 are presented in Appendix 8. 

Summary Statement of Financial Performance 

Budget 
2004-05 
$’000 

(a) 

Actual 
2004-05 
$’000 

Actual 
2003-04 
$’000 

Expenses from ordinary 214 516 208 355 185 612 

Revenue from ordinary activities 81 325 80 784 78 808 

Net cost of services 133 191 127 571 106 804 

Revenues from SA Government 128 814 128 814 107 877 

Net result before restructuring (4 377) 1 243 1 073 

Decrease in net assets due to 
administrative restructuring 

– – 5 147 

Net result after restructuring (4 377) 1 243 (4 074) 
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(a) The 2004-05 Budget figure includes additional approvals made subsequent to the figures published in the 2005-06 Portfolio Statements. 
This was mainly additional funding to meet the demand for the rationalisation of the marine scalefish commercial net licences prior to 30 
June 2005.  

The table above shows for the financial year ending 30 June 2005, PIRSA’s net cost of services was 
$127.6 million, which was a favourable outcome of $5.6 million against the budget.  Approximately 
$3.1 million of this amount is due to the net impact of adjustments to expenses and revenue relating to 
prior years, mainly arising from the recognition of assets that were previously recorded as operating 
expenses in prior periods.  

PIRSA’s overall financial performance for 2004–05 was a $1.2 million operating surplus. 

During the year PIRSA received an additional $21 million in revenue from the State Government 
compared to the 2003–04 year. This was mainly associated with new initiative funding, including the 
Plan for Accelerated Exploration (PACE) program within the mining industry ($5.6 million) and the 
rationalisation of the marine scalefish licence holders ($12 million) as well as funding to assist with 
the emergency relief and recovery for the Lower Eyre Peninsula bushfire ($2.6 million). 

Expenses from ordinary activities were $6.2 million lower than budget due to a combination of lower 
grants and subsidies ($4.0 million), lower supplies and services ($1.6 million), lower other expenses 
including recognition of prior period adjustments ($1.2 million) and partly offset by higher employee 
expenses ($0.6 million). 
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Summary Statement of Financial Position 

Budget 
2004-05 
$’000 

Actual 
2004-05 
$’000 

Actual 
2003-04 
$’000 

Current Assets 71 775 76 567 77 056 

Non Current Assets 122 019 125 914 120 870 

Total Assets 193 794 202 481 197 926 

Current Liabilities 14 694 20 386 16 288 

Non Current Liabilities 30 260 29 708 30 494 

 Total Liabilities 44 954 50 094 46 782 

Net Assets 148 840 152 387 151 144 
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Current assets were $4.8 million higher than budgeted due to a combination of higher receivables  
($7 million), higher inventory ($2.7 million), lower than budgeted cash balance ($4.5 million) and 
lower other current assets ($0.4 million). 

Non current assets were $3.9 million higher than budget mainly due to the capitalisation of $2.8 
million in development costs for the Primary Industries Information Management System (PIIMS) that 
were expensed in prior periods. 

Liabilities were $5.1 million above budget largely due to higher than budgeted payables ($3.4 
million), higher employee benefits ($0.6 million), and higher other liabilities ($0.9 million).  

Summary Statement of Cash Flows
 Budget 

2004-05 
$’000 

(a) 

Actual
2004-05 

$’000 

Actual
2003-04 

$’000 

Cash flows from operating activities   
 Payments (206 808) (224 044) (210 001) 
 Receipts 81 356 99 049 108 753 
 Net cash flows from Govt 128 814 128 814 107 877 
Net cash provided by operating 
activities 

3 362 3 819 6 629 

Cash flows from investing and financing activities
 Payments (10 663) (12 728) (5 307) 
 Receipts 6 080 4 344 5 111 
 Repayment of Borrowings (3 517) (2 578) (3 007) 
Net cash used in investing and 
borrowing activities 

(8 100) (10 962) (2 807) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held (4 738) (7 143) 3 426 
Cash at 1 July 67 910 67 910 64 484 
Cash at 30 June 63 172 60 767 67 910 
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(a) The 2004-05 Budget figure includes additional approvals made subsequent to the figures published in the 2005-06 Portfolio Statements. 
This was mainly additional funding to meet the demand for the rationalisation of the marine scalefish commercial net licences prior to 30 
June 2005. 

Operating activities in the statement of cash flows vary with the results shown on the statement of 
financial performance in relation to accrual accounting for both revenues and expenses. In addition, 
receipts and payments in respect of the goods and services tax are included in the actual results on a 
gross basis but on a net basis in the budget and this accounts for the main variations between budget 
and actuals. 

Payments for investing activities were higher than budget partly due to the capitalisation of 
expenditure that was budgeted under operating activities. 



PIRSA ANNUAL REPORT 2004–05 57

Independent Auditor Report 
Appendix 8 contains the 2004–05 Independent Auditor Report of the Auditor-General. In response to 
the audit qualification on the 2003–04 financial statements the Department has invested significant 
effort in reviewing, understanding and resolving the underlying issues that led to the qualifications. In 
addition to addressing the issues raised, the Department has implemented further key control 
enhancements to ensure the process improvements are maintained in the future. 

Property, Plant and Equipment assets 
PIRSA owns and manages property, plant and equipment assets valued at $107 million, including a 
number of large research centres across the State. PIRSA has an ongoing need for investment in 
building, equipment and information technology to produce its agreed service delivery outcomes. The 
figure below illustrates that the agency’s largest investment is in property assets at 76%. 

In 2004–05 the total value of property, plant and equipment increased by 1.0% from $106 million in 
2003–04. 

Property, Plant and Equipment as at 30 June 2005 

Buildings 
60%

Land
16%Plant and 

equipment 
24%

Land $17.1 million

Buildings $64.1 million

Plant and equipment $26.2 million

MAJOR PROJECTS

BIOSECURITY

The Biosecurity Fund provides financial support in the event of outbreaks of fruit fly, plague locusts 
and other biological threats, which come within the responsibility of PIRSA. As a result, PIRSA has a 
core role in responding to a wide-range of incidents resulting from pest and disease incursions which 
threaten production systems and market access. The cost of implementing biosecurity incident 
response activities is minimal compared to the potential financial losses that could be incurred by the 
State’s plant and animal industries in the event of unchecked biosecurity outbreaks.  

Expenditure relating to biosecurity incidents during 2004-05 was greater than in 2003-04, and was due 
principally to South Australia’s contribution as part of a national emergency plant pest response 
program initiated following the detection of the bacterial disease citrus canker on a citrus producing 
property in central Queensland.  

There have also been expenditures during 2004–05 for State Ovine Johnes Disease, other ongoing 
national commitments, preventative and response activities for fruit fly, and monitoring associated 
with Caulerpa taxifolia.

It should be noted that the State did not record a single fruit fly outbreak this season. 

The table below shows a comparison in biosecurity expenditures over the last four financial years. 
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Biosecurity Expenditure 

2001–02 2002–03 2003–04 2004–05 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Fruit Fly 3 039 1 592 1 129 1 115 
Ovine Johnes Disease 2 987 2 142 657 595 
Branched Broomrape* 2 100 151 0 0 
Grasshopper/Locust 40 12 18 24 
Caulerpa taxifolia 0 1 090 185 253 
Citrus Canker 0 0 0 1 326 
Other 622 733 509 660 

8 788 5 720 2 498 3 973 
*Responsibility transferred to Department of Water, Land and Biodiversity Conservation. 
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Appendixes

APPENDIX 1 PIRSA MINISTERIAL RESPONSIBILITIES
Legislation 
The principal legislation, for which PIRSA has administrative responsibility for, through the Minister 
for Agriculture, Food and Fisheries, Minister for Mineral Resources Development, Minister for 
Energy and Minister for Science and Information Economy, is listed below. Many of these Acts are 
supported by Regulations, Notices and Indentures or Directions in some instances. 

AGRICULTURE, FOOD AND FISHERIES 
Agricultural and Veterinary Chemicals (South Australia) Act 1994 
Agricultural and Veterinary Products (Control of Use) Act 2002 
Aquaculture Act 2001 
Barley Marketing Act 1993 
Biological Control Act 1986 
Branding of Pigs Act 1964 
Brands Act 1933 
Chicken Meat Industry Act 2003 
Citrus Industry Act 1991 
Dairy Industry Act 1992 
Fisheries Act 1982 
Fisheries (Gulf St Vincent Prawn Fishery Rationalisation) Act 1987 
Fruit and Plant Protection Act 1992 
Genetically Modified Crops Management Act 2004 
Impounding Act 1920 
Livestock Act 1997 
Meat Hygiene Act 1994 
Noxious Insects Act 1934 
Phylloxera and Grape Industry Act 1995 
Primary Industry Funding Schemes Act 1998 
Primary Produce (Food Safety Schemes) Act 2004 
Primary Producers Emergency Assistance Act 1967 
Rural Industry Adjustment and Development Act 1985 
South Australian Meat Corporation Act 1936 
South Australian Meat Corporation (Sale of Assets) Act 1996 
Veterinary Surgeons Act 1985 
Wheat Marketing Act 1989 
Wine Grapes Industry Act 1991

MINERAL RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT 
Broken Hill Proprietary Company’s Indenture Act 1937 
Broken Hill Proprietary Company’s Steel Works Indenture Act 1958 
Cooper Basin (Ratification) Act 1975 
Mines and Works Inspection Act 1920 
Mining Act 1971 
Offshore Minerals Act 2000 
Opal Mining Act 1995 
Petroleum Act 2000 
Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Act 1982 
Roxby Downs (Indenture Ratification) Act 1982 
Santos Limited (Regulation of Shareholdings) Act 1989 
Stony Point (Liquids Project) Ratification Act 1981 
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ENERGY
Gas Act 1997 
Electricity Act 1996 
Electrical Products Act 2000 
Gas Pipelines Access (South Australia) Act 1997 
Natural Gas Authority Act 1967 
Natural Gas (Interim Supply) Act 1985 
Natural Gas Pipelines Access Act 1995 
Petroleum Products Subsidy Act 1965 

OTHER ACTS 
In addition, PIRSA has limited administrative functions under the following Acts that are committed 
to other ministers. 

Fisheries Act 1995 (Vic.) 
Fisheries Management Act 1994 (NSW) 
Fisheries Management Act 1991 (Cwlth) 
Fish Resources Management Act 1994 (WA) 
Harbours and Navigation Act 1993 
Historic Shipwrecks Act 1976 (Cwlth) 
Historic Shipwrecks Act 1981 
National Parks and Wildlife Act 1972 
Petroleum Products Regulation Act 1995 
Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Act 1967 (Cwlth)

Legislative changes 
Legislative changes are summarised below. 

ACTS REPEALED

Agricultural Chemicals Act 1955 
Stock Foods Act 1941 
Stock Medicines Act 1939 

ACTS WHOSE REPEAL RECEIVED ASSENT FROM PARLIAMENT DURING 2004–05 BUT WERE NOT 
PROCLAIMED BY 30 JUNE 2005: 
Mining (Royalty) Amendment Bill 2004 

ACTS PASSED, PROCLAIMED OR AMENDED DURING 2004–05
Chicken Meat Industry Act 2003 
Gas (Temporary Rationing) Amendment Act 2004 (assent 3/6/04, however, some sub-sections not 
commenced until 19/8/2004) 
Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Act 1982 
Primary Produce (Food Safety Schemes) (Miscellaneous) Amendment Act 2005 

BILLS INTRODUCED INTO PARLIAMENT IN 2004–05 BUT NOT PASSED

Citrus Industry Bill 2005 
Electrical Products (Expiation Fees) Amendment Bill 

Reviews of legislation 
PIRSA continued to review many of the Acts, particularly with respect to the Fisheries Act, Citrus 
Industry Act, Fruit and Plant Protection Act and the Broken Hill Proprietary Company’s Steel Works 
Indenture Act. 
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Administered items 
PIRSA administers but does not control the following funds on behalf of the Commonwealth 
Government, the Minister for Agriculture, Food and Fisheries, Minister for Mineral Resources 
Development, Minister for Energy and Minister for Science and Information Economy. These funds 
are not recorded in the agency’s operating statement or statement of financial position as the agency 
does not have any discretion to deploy the resources for achievement of its own objectives. 

Adelaide Hills Wine Industry Fund  
Aquaculture Lease Rehabilitation Fund 
Aquaculture Resource Management Fund 
Cattle Industry Fund 
Dairy Industry Fund 
Deerkeepers’ Compensation Fund  
Egg Industry Deregulation Fund 
Energy Management Task Force  
Extractive Areas Rehabilitation Fund 
Fisheries Research & Development Fund  
Grains Industry Levy  
Gulf St. Vincent Prawn Fishery Levy  
Langhorne Creek Wine Industry Fund 
Marine Scalefish Industry Fund 
McLaren Vale Wine Industry Fund 
Mining Royalties 
Minister’s salary and allowances 
Natural Gas Authority of SA 
Petroleum Products Subsidy 
Photovoltaic Rebate Program 
Pig Industry Fund 
Renewable Remote Power Generation Program 
Riverland Wine Industry Fund 
Seed Levies Fund 
South Australia Apiary Industry Fund  
SA Water Corporation (community service obligation payment) 
Samcor Fund administered 
Sheep Industry Fund 

Authorities 
STATUTORY

Statutory authorities associated with primary industries and resources and regional development and 
within the ministers’ areas of responsibility are listed below. PIRSA provides relevant advice and 
assistance to these. Asterisks indicate those bodies (agencies) that have their own staff and other 
resources.

Alpaca Advisory Group 
Apiary Industry Advisory Group (ended November 2003) 
Aquaculture Advisory Committee 
Aquaculture Tenure Allocation Board 
Board of Examiners for Mine Managers 
Cattle Advisory Group 
Citrus Board of South Australia* 
Dairy Authority of South Australia* 
Deer Advisory Group 
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Fishery management committees (Abalone, Blue Crab, Inland Waters, Marine Scalefish, Northern 
Zone Rock Lobster, Southern Zone Rock Lobster, Spencer Gulf, West Coast and Gulf St Vincent 
Prawn)
Goat Advisory Group 
Horse Industry Advisory Group 
Meat Hygiene Advisory Council 
Phylloxera and Grape Industry Board* 
Pig Industry Advisory Group 
Sheep Advisory Group 
Veterinary Surgeons Board*

Other
There are many non-statutory authorities on which PIRSA is represented. Significant ones are 
discussed under ‘Performance review’ (e.g. Premier’s Food Council, industry development boards and 
the Advisory Board of Agriculture). 
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APPENDIX 2 OCCUPATIONAL, HEALTH, SAFETY AND INJURY 
MANAGEMENT STATISTICS 

2004-05 2003-04 2002-03

1 OHS legislative requirements 

 Number of notifiable occurrences pursuant to OHS&W 
Regulations Division 6.6 

0 0 1 

 Number of notifiable injuries pursuant to OHS&W Regulations 
Division 6.6 

0 2 0 

 Number of notices served pursuant to OHS&W Act s35, s39 and 
s40

0 0 7 

2 Injury Management legislative requirements 

     

 Total number of employees who participated in a rehabilitation 
program

8 18 20 

 Total number of employees rehabilitated and reassigned to 
alternative duties 

1 0 3 

 Total number of employees rehabilitated back to their original 
work

6 9 12 

3 WorkCover Action Limits 

 Number of open claims as at 30 June 40 63 63 

 Percentage of workers compensation expenditure over gross annual 
remuneration

0.36% 0.90% 0.79% 

4 Number of claims 

 Number of new workers compensation claims in the financial year 44 56 58 

 Number of fatalities, lost time injuries, medical 
treatment only 

(F)

(MTO)

(LTI)

0

30

14

0

33

23

0

30

28

Total number of whole working days lost 700 688 n.a. 

5 Cost of workers compensation 

 Cost of new claims for financial year $54 911 $281 582 $135 201 

 Cost of all claims excluding lump sum payments $231 261 $256 188 $256 105 

 Amount paid for lump sum payments  

(s42, s43, s44) 

s42

s43

s44

$100

nil

nil

$261 524 

$104 738 

nil

$163 300 

$95 853 

nil

 Total amount recovered from external sources (s54) nil nil $55,845 

 Budget allocation for workers compensation $430 000 $429 156 $362 490 

6 Trends 

 Injury frequency rate for new lost-time injury/disease for each 
million hours worked 

6.04 10.23 12.56 
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2004-05 2003-04 2002-03

 Most frequent cause (mechanism) of injury Body 
Stressing 

Body 
Stressing 

Muscular 
stress 
while
lifting, 
carrying 
or putting 
down
objects

 Most expensive cause (mechanism) of injury Falls, 
Trips and 
Slips

Body 
Stressing 

Muscular 
stress 
while
lifting, 
carrying 
or putting 
down
objects

7 Meeting the organisation's strategic targets 

 All groups have OHSW plans completed and audited. Target 
met 

N/A N/A 

 100% of non conformances identified in the audit program are 
managed through a planned process 

Target 
met 

N/A N/A 

 100% of managers to participate in management training Target 
met 

N/A N/A 

 2 or 3 employee wellbeing initiatives are trailed Target 
met 

N/A N/A 
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APPENDIX 3 CONSULTANCIES 
During 2004–05, 46 consultancies were engaged for a total expenditure of $412 826. These are 
grouped as follows: 

CONSULTANCIES BELOW $10 000 
32 consultancies costing below $10 000 were engaged for a total expenditure of $101 489. 

CONSULTANCIES BETWEEN $10 000 AND $50 000 
14 consultancies costing between $10 000 and $50 000 were engaged for a total expenditure of  
$311 337. 

The consulting firms that were engaged and a brief summary of the services for which they were 
engaged are provided in the table below:  

CONSULTANT SUMMARY OF SERVICES 

Advanced Geomechanics Review WMC (Olympic Dam) technical reports on the Tailings storage 
facility at Olympic Dam.  Also review and advise the Regulation and 
Rehabilitation Branch within PIRSA on issues to improve the storage 
of the tailings on the site.  

Agriculture KI Inc Preparation of Waterlogging Management Options Report. 

Energetics Pty Ltd Peak Demand Management Techniques for SA - undertaking a 
preliminary assessment of current and emerging techniques as part of 
the Demand Management stream of the Energy Plan. 

Parsons Brinckerhoff  Contribution in partnership with the Eyre Peninsula Regional Board 
for the preparation of a master plan for the development of all Eyre 
Peninsula Ports. 

GEI Consulting Modelling commercial feasibility of value-adding waste stream off 
intensive piggeries and abattoirs. 

GEI Consulting Specialist energy management plant optimisation modelling for 
minerals processing pre-export. 

Hans Ohff Advice on SANTOS’s rehabilitation of the Moomba Plant following 
the Moomba Gas Plant Fire which occurred on 1 January 2004. 

Hydro Tasmania  Evaluation plan and survey for the Energy Friends implementation. 

KPMG Management Consulting – 
SA

2004 independent verification report of the Government Energy 
Efficiency Action Plan. 

McPhee Andrewartha Pty Ltd Employee Counselling Services. 

PROCOS Business Plan for the Regulation and Rehabilitation Branch in line with 
South Australia’s Strategic Plan and provision of specialist advice in 
relation to the review of the program management plan for the Plan for 
Accelerated Exploration. 

S Mackie Conduct petroleum survey to measure PIRSA’s performance relative to 
other State and Commonwealth agencies. 

T & T Projects Advice in relation to fugitive dust control for OneSteel Magnet 
proposal. 

TCG Professional advice regarding the development of research outcomes 
into commercial products and services. 

CONSULTANCIES ABOVE $50 000 
No consultancies costing above $50 000 were engaged. 
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APPENDIX 4 OVERSEAS TRAVEL 
Overseas travel by PIRSA employees for the period 1 July 2004 to 30 June 2005 is summarised below. 
In 2004–05, 98 overseas visits were made by PIRSA employees, for a total agency cost of $426 697. 

PIRSA’s financial support for overseas visits varied from full payment (salary plus on-costs, fares, 
necessary living expenses, registration fees etc.) to nil. In the latter instance there are generally two 
categories. All costs, including salary, are either externally funded or the monies are recouped through 
charging consultancy fees. 

a Includes salary component. 
b Some overseas travel incurs no agency cost (see notes above the table). 

EMPLOYEES DESTINATION PURPOSE
AGENCY 
COST a, 

b
AGRICULTURE & WINE
1 Canada, UK, 

USA 
Attend International Grains Council 2005 Conference in London; 
“The Functional Generation” conference in Surrey, England; “A 
New Era in Grains Quality Assurance” conference in Canada; and 
also to explore a range of issues relevant to the development of 
the grain industry in South Australia. 

$15 976 

1 UK Establish professional relationships with East Malling Research, 
Warwick HRI and CCFRI R&D centres and to learn of their 
current programs and determine potential future opportunities. To 
glean information on new crop options for SA and gain 
understanding of environmental compliance systems in the UK. 

$1 925 

1 USA Attend Californian Agriculture Symposium and visit 
winegrowers, winemakers and government in California wine 
industry. 

$8 502 

   Subtotal $26 403 
    
AQUACULTURE 
1 Indonesia Attend World Aquaculture 2005 Conference to represent SA 

Government and PIRSA to help publicise the Australasian 
Aquaculture Conference 2006 to be held in Adelaide. 

$5 756 

1 South Africa Attend 11th International Conference on Harmful Algae held in 
Cape Town. 

$1 850 

   Subtotal $7 606 
    
FISHERIES 
1 Mauritius, 

Reunion Island, 
Southern 
Antarctic 
Islands and 
International 
High Seas 

Participate in a joint Australian/French patrol of the Southern 
Ocean on behalf of the Australian Fisheries Management 
Authority and Australian Customs Service in order to protect the 
Patagonian fish species and other incursions to Australian waters. 

Nil

1 Mauritius, 
Reunion Island, 
Sub Antarctic 
Regions 

Patrol the Southern Ocean to ensure compliance with fisheries 
management arrangements in the Sub Antarctic Regions. 

Nil

   Subtotal Nil 
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EMPLOYEES DESTINATION PURPOSE
AGENCY 
COST a, 

b
FOOD SOUTH AUSTRALIA
1 Italy, Hong 

Kong 
Attend inaugural Terra Madre conference and Slow Food Salone 
del Gusto in Italy; coordinate attendance of five South Australian 
Food SA supported participants; and visit Food SA’s promotional 
activities in the Great Supermarket, Hong Kong. 

$6 694 

1 United Arab 
Emirates

Undertake a range of in-market activities in relation to the 
National Food Industry Strategy Dubai Foodservice Project. 

$6 289 

1 USA Lead a group of South Australian food and beverage companies 
to the USA to participate in G’Day LA trade day in Los Angeles 
and Fancy Foods in San Francisco. 

$4 180 

   Subtotal $17 163 
    
MINERALS & ENERGY RESOURCES
Minerals   
2 Canada Attendance and promotional display at Prospectors and 

Developers Association of Canada (PDAC) meeting and various 
additional promotional meetings/presentations with government 
and industry personnel/ organisations. 

$32 719 

2 Canada To work with Inco Exploration at the Thompson Nickel deposit, 
for training purposes, promote SA’s mineral prospectivity and 
enhance the department’s knowledge of Ni-Cu sulphide deposits. 

$22 888 

1 China Present paper at the 3rd International Conference on Continental 
Earthquakes. 

$1 408 

1 China Attend the first Mining Conference and Exhibition CHINA 
MINING 2004 and assess future mineral promotional strategies. 

$6 961 

Petroleum   
2 Canada Market SA upstream petroleum and geothermal opportunities to 

international investors attending the American Assoc of 
Petroleum Geologists Annual Convention to attract investment to 
the State; and participate in Australian Display with other 
State/NT and Federal Government representatives. 

$15 537 

   Subtotal $79 513 
    
OFFICE OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
1 Canada Attendance at PDAC Conference, Toronto $17 049 
   Subtotal $17 049 
    
RURAL SOLUTIONS SA
1 Canada, USA Invited to present at the International Rural Networking 

Conference on Indigenous Community Engagement in the USA 
and investigate community and economic development models in 
Canada. 

$4 768 

1 Dubai, Jordan Attend Rebuild Iraq trade fair 2005. $22 714 
1 Eritrea Undertake scoping study to identify future aid projects aimed at 

capacity building of dryland farming/agricultural education in 
Eritrea.

Nil

1 Eritrea Conduct Strategic Planning workshops, and development of 
Phase II of an agricultural consultancy project relating to capacity 
building of dryland farming/agricultural education in Eritrea. 

$27 500 

1 Hawaii Attend International Conference on Pesticide Application for 
Drift Management. 

$4 401 
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EMPLOYEES DESTINATION PURPOSE
AGENCY 
COST a, 

b
1 Indonesia Deliver paper on ‘Recognition of Prior Learning (RPL) - An 

Effective and Underutilised Skills / Training Needs Analysis 
Tool’ at the World Aquaculture 2005 conference in Bali, 
Indonesia. 

$4 364 

1 Japan Contracted commercial consultancy – site visit re Marine 
Stewardship Council feasibility review and partial pre-assessment 
for Japanese fishery endeavouring to achieve MSC Certification. 

$913 

1 USA Invited to present at the International Rural Networking 
Conference on Indigenous Community Engagement in the USA. 

$4 768 

   Subtotal $69 428 
    
    
SOUTH AUSTRALIAN RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT INSTITUTE (SARDI)
Aquatic Sciences   
1 Belgium, 

France, Spain 
Attend two training workshops on aquatic habitat restoration and 
monitoring of fishways; present paper at the 5th International 
Symposium on Ecohydraulics – Aquatic Habitats: Analysis & 
Restoration; and visit colleagues and a number of research 
institutions in Belgium. 

Nil

1 Canada Attend 24th International North American Lake Management 
Society Conference. 

$985 

1 Greece Attend annual coordination meeting for the European Union 
project REPRODOTT “Reproduction of Bluefin tuna in captivity: 
a feasibility study from domestication of Thunnus thynnus”.

$3 042 

1 Indonesia Invited to present oral paper “Effects of Harvest and Post-Harvest 
Processes on Quality of Bait Fish for Feeding Southern Bluefin 
Tuna” at the World Aquaculture Society conference. 

$2 555 

1 Israel, USA Identify production systems (fish and crustacean) in arid 
environments, which could be used in SA at the new research 
facility in Waikerie. 

Nil

1 USA Present an oral presentation at the international conference “Sea 
Lions of the World: Conservation and Research and the 21st

Century” in Anchorage, Alaska. 

Nil

1 USA Attend and present paper orally at the 2005 World Conference on 
Natural Resource Modelling. 

Nil

Corporate   
1 Indonesia, 

Malaysia,
Singapore 

Attend World Aquaculture Society Conference in Bali, followed 
by meetings with Malaysian Department of Fisheries re tuna 
aquaculture, and then discussions at Agriculture and Veterinary 
Authority (Singapore) and the Tropical Marine Science Institute 
(Singapore) re collaborative projects in cold chain handling and 
logistics. 

$6 340 

1 Malaysia Requested by Malaysian Minister for Agriculture to work with 
AMSAT Pty Ltd and Sea Resources Malaysia Sdn Bhd to 
develop a project proposal on the establishment of a Malaysian 
Tuna Aquaculture Industry. 

$4 536 

Crops   
2 Austria, 

Finland, 
Germany, Italy, 
Sweden, UK, 
USA 

Attend 7th International Oat Conference in Finland and workshop 
on oat B-glucan; visit public plant breeding institutions and 
private breeding companies to discuss scientific issues and see 
technical aspects of their oat breeding programs. 

$17 324 
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EMPLOYEES DESTINATION PURPOSE
AGENCY 
COST a, 

b
2 China Lecturer/expert for Crawford Fund Masterclass on Soilborne 

Diseases of Wheat; and provision of training services in 
nematology. 

$3 592 

1 China Discuss progress of current and future collaborative projects; 
research project to isolate beneficial bacteria in China; and 
investigate scale-up and fermentation technologies for biocontrol 
agents. 

Nil

1 Egypt, Syria To meet the research exchange requirements within an ongoing 
collaborative project in Syria, and meet with scientists in Egypt. 

Nil

1 Finland, 
Sweden 

Attend 7th International Oat Conference in Finland and visit with 
oat workers in Sweden. 

Nil

1 France Attend ISTA Seed Health Symposium and associated meetings of 
ISTA Seed Health Committee. 

$2 366 

1 Sweden, UK Present paper “Managing soilborne diseases in Australian field 
crops using precision agriculture” to the 5th European Conference 
on Precision Agriculture in Sweden; and visit researchers, 
consultants and farmers in the UK to discuss Precision 
Agriculture and soil sampling issues. 

$4 951 

2 USA Present summary of research results at Fluid Fertiliser Forum; 
present workshop for farmers on “Using Fluid Fertilizers”; visit 
colleagues at Missouri State University, University of North 
Dakota, and agronomy and soils units of Kansas State University. 

$4 887 

Horticulture   
1 Brazil Assist with setting up of new SARDI fan designed for spraying 

grapevines (and fruit trees); and discuss possible business 
arrangements and options for ongoing contract research for 
SARDI in partnership with Ag Jacto. 

$1 802 

1 China At the invitation of Horticulture Australia, attend and participate 
in the first Australia China Forum on Horticulture Cooperation 
providing technical expertise on the cold chain handling 
requirements of horticulture products. 

$497 

2 China Invited by the Liaoning Institute of Pomology to inspect facilities 
and plant apricot germplasm repository; and discuss future 
collaboration on apricot breeding, research and extension. 

$3 854 

1 Singapore Meet with a number of key organizations, agencies and 
companies to further evaluate SARDI’s opportunities to 
increasing involvement in the provision of technical and applied 
R&D services in the region. 

$3 471 

1 Singapore Participate as an invited speaker in the launch of the Singapore 
Cold Chain Centre; deliver two introductory/awareness training 
workshops; support and develop opportunities for the delivery of 
the Cold Chain Centre (Aust) training programs in Singapore; and 
further develop international commercial collaboration 
opportunities for SARDI in Singapore and SE Asia region. 

$2 808 

1 Singapore Attend and present paper on “Opportunities and Challenges in the 
Handling of Food and Perishables in the Asia-Pacific” at a 2 day 
conference; and progress negotiations relating to collaboration of 
SARDI with local enterprises in the region that were identified 
during earlier visit. 

$3 683 

2 South Africa Attend Pre-harvest Workshop of the South African Society for 
Enology and Viticulture; International Workshop for Grapevine 
Trunk Diseases; Southern African Society for Plant Pathology 
Congress; and collaborative meetings at University of 
Stellenbosch and ARC-Infruitec 

$3 068 
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EMPLOYEES DESTINATION PURPOSE
AGENCY 
COST a, 

b
1 Spain Attend XIIIth International Symposium on Apricot Breeding and 

Culture. 
$1 100 

1 Turkey Set conference theme and attend 5th International Cherry 
Symposium in Bursa; and edit scientific papers submitted to 
conference organisers. 

$2 042 

1 Turkey Attend International Botrytis Symposium. $1 482 
1 USA Further develop international commercial and R&D collaboration 

opportunities for SARDI through attendance at BIO 2005 and 
visits to relevant research groups. 

$14 190 

1 USA Present a talk “Adverse soil chemistry and impact on vine 
nutrition – salinity and sodicity, and impact of rootstocks” at Soil 
Environment and Vine Nutrition Symposium; and attend the 
Society’s 55th Annual Meeting. 

$1 491 

Livestock Systems   
1 Argentina Attend as a member of the Australian delegation to the 37th

Session of the CODEX Committee on Food Hygiene. 
$8 252 

1 Belgium, 
China, 
Denmark, 
Germany, 
Norway, UK 

Present paper “Levels of dioxin and PCBs in a random sample of 
Australian aquaculture-produced Southern Bluefin Tuna” at 
Dioxin 2004 Symposium in Berlin and market access discussions 
with regulatory agencies and related researchers in Europe and 
Hong Kong. 

$2 081 

1 Belgium, Italy, 
Netherlands, 
UK

Develop capability in latest risk assessment methodologies; visit 
key groups to further discuss latest statistical and predictive 
modelling approaches used in their application in risk 
assessments; discuss recent advances in work on Campylobacter 
at the State Institute for Public Health and Environment; and 
further position SARDI/PIRSA as a national leader in the area of 
food safety research to support policy development and maintain 
market access. 

$14 889 

3 China Invited by the China Rural Technology Development Centre to 
demonstrate a new technology developed by SARDI whereby 
embryos are produced from juvenile animals. 

$10 339 

1 China, Hong 
Kong, Japan, 
Taiwan

Attend meetings with Chinese and Japanese Government 
Agencies responsible for seafood product integrity programs and 
standards setting. 

Nil

1 China, Spain, 
Sweden 

Participate in, and present two papers to, ASABE endorsed 
“International Livestock Environment Symposium” Conference 
in China; and participate in CIGR endorsed “Concrete for 
Sustainable Agriculture” Conference in Spain and “Second 
European Precision Livestock Conference” in Sweden. 

Nil

1 China, Thailand Assess feasibility of establishing a frog farming industry in 
Australia by visiting frog farms and markets, Tropical Feed 
Resources R&D Centre, and Institute of Subtropical Agriculture; 
and attend the 2nd International Symposium on Animal Nutrition, 
Animal Health and Feed Additives. 

$2 385 

1 Denmark Attend International Embryo Transfer Society (IETS) 2005 and 
Post-IETS Symposium Conferences, and present an abstract 
poster titled “Pregnancy rates for in vitro and in vivo produced 
ovine embryos vitrified using the minimum volume cooling 
cryotop method”. 

$1 432 

1 France Participate in, and present five papers to, the International Society 
of Animal Hygiene Conference. 

Nil
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EMPLOYEES DESTINATION PURPOSE
AGENCY 
COST a, 

b
1 France, 

Holland, UK 
Present paper, which included some of the results from PhD 
Thesis “The effects of airborne pollutants on the feed intake, 
immune function and physiology of the pig” at the International 
Society for Animal Hygiene congress; present a seminar at the 
Silsoe Research Institute; and visit research facilities. 

$1 950 

1 Greece Attend 6th International Sheep Veterinary Conference, including 
pre-conference tour to a wide range of sheep production systems 
and veterinary diagnostic and educational institutions. 

$7 010 

1 Ireland, 
Scotland 

Attend and present 3 papers, which relate to work within local 
and national Sustainable Grazing on Saline Lands Research 
Projects, at the XX International Grassland Congress in Dublin 
and attend satellite meeting in Glasgow. 

$4 591 

1 Netherlands Attend International Conference on Pig Reproduction in Rolduc, 
The Netherlands, and then spend time at Wageningen University 
learning the use of trans-rectal and transcutaneous real time 
ultrasonic scanning to detect and measure growing oocytes in 
pigs. 

$8 469 

2 Solomon 
Islands 

Undertake project “Feeding village poultry in the Solomon 
Islands” to develop rations for village-based layer and meat birds 
based on locally available feedstuffs through establishing a 
production unit in Honiara. 

Nil

1 USA Invited to talk at a Salmonella colloquium by the US National 
Pork Board and attend a welfare forum. 

Nil

1 USA Attend BIO 2005 Conference and to progress discussions with 
current and potential R&D collaborators and industry 
organisations relevant to SARDI core business. 

$15 768 

1 USA Attend and present a paper at the International Salinity Forum, 
Riverside California in my capacity as National Research Leader 
of the Sustainable Grazing on Saline Lands Research Project. 

$2 594 

Sustainable Systems & Technologies 
2 Azerbaijan Lead an International team of scientists to collect seeds and 

rhizobia of a wide range of pasture and crop plants as part of an 
International plant germplasm collection mission. 

$14 781 

2 Canada Attend joint meeting of the 39th North American Alfalfa 
(Lucerne) Improvement Conference; hold discussions re proposed 
Medic Centre of Excellence at Waite; and present paper on 
‘Breeding strategies in balansa clover (Trifolium michelianum 
Savi)’ at the 18th Trifolium conference. 

$3 890 

1 China Attend and present paper titled ‘Vertical progressive tillage to 
remove subsoil compaction will increase water use efficiency” at 
the 2004 CIGR International Conference in Beijing, and 
participate in Conservation Tillage Field Trip. 

Nil

1 China Invited by CSIRO to help develop soil and water quality protocol 
and assist Chinese scientists on FILTER projects. 

Nil

1 China Help develop soil and water quality protocol working with 
Chinese scientists for a funded wastewater reuse trial in China. 

Nil

3 China Attend 5th annual planning meeting and inspect field trials as part 
of funded project “Lucerne adapted to adverse environments in 
China and Australia”. 

$7 828 

2 China Participate in review of international collaborative project 
“Lucerne adapted to adverse environments in China & Australia”; 
and inspect field trials involved in the project work. 

$2 250 

1 Ireland Attend and present a poster “Field performance of an annual 
medic tolerant of sulfonylurea herbicide residues” at the XX 
International Grassland Congress. 

$4 460 
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EMPLOYEES DESTINATION PURPOSE
AGENCY 
COST a, 

b
2 Laos Visit and review field sites as part of funded project “Lucerne 

adapted to adverse environments in China and Australia”. 
$2 600 

1 Switzerland Invited by the World Meteorological Organisation to meet with 
other members and present paper on communicating seasonal 
climate forecasts. 

$1 950 

1 USA Australian and Philippine teams met to develop work-plans for 
project “Bridging the gap between seasonal climate forecasts and 
decision makers in agriculture”. 

$1 950 

   Subtotal $209 535 

   TOTAL $426 697 
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APPENDIX 5 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 
Information statement 
The following information is published pursuant to Section 9 of the Freedom of Information Act 1991 
(“the Act”).

Freedom of Information 
The Act extends as far as possible the rights of the public to access documents held by the 
Government, and to ensure that records held by government concerning the personal affairs of 
members of the public are not incomplete, incorrect, out of date or misleading. 

The Act encourages disclosure of information to the public, subject to such restrictions within the Act 
as are necessary to protect legitimate agency, public and private interests. 

Agency’s structure and functions 
A number of organisational changes to PIRSA came into effect from 1 July 2005. As from 1 July 
2005, Planning SA, the Office of Local Government, Office for the Southern Suburbs, Office of the 
North, Office of the North West and Regional Ministerial Offices (Office of the Murray Mallee and 
Office of the Upper Spencer Gulf, Flinders Ranges and Outback) joined PIRSA from the former 
Department of Transport and Urban Planning. These changes see a closer integration between 
planning, economic development and sustainability issues. As from 1 July 2005, Energy SA and the 
Office of the Technical Regulator left PIRSA and joined the new Department of Transport, Energy 
and Infrastructure. The current Divisions of PIRSA and their functions are listed below: 

Agriculture and Wine – Development and implementation of policies, legislation, regulatory 
frameworks and programs to promote an optimal business, natural and social environment 
within which primary industries can grow.  
Aquaculture – Ensuring the sustainable development of the State’s aquaculture industries, with a 
statutory and regulatory responsibility for the management of aquaculture in South Australia. 
These responsibilities are met through the granting and renewal of licenses and leases under the 
Aquaculture Act 2001.
Commercial Projects – Responsible for identifying and facilitating strategic industry-wide 
initiatives that boost GSP, value-adding and export opportunities beyond the ‘farm gate’ in 
primary industry and resource sectors to achieve sustainable economic growth. 
Corporate – Provision of a corporate support service to all PIRSA Divisions.  
Fisheries – The management and administration of the living marine and freshwater resources of 
South Australia, as required under the Fisheries Act 1982. This includes the development and 
implementation of appropriate management plans for commercial fishing, recreational fishing, 
and charter fishing, development of government policy for sustainable resource access and 
allocation and the administration of licensing and compliance services.  
Food SA – Responsible for implementing the South Australian Food Centre as a key service 
delivery strategy of the State Food Plan 2004–2007. The South Australian Food Centre is a three 
way partnership between the State Government, industry food groups and Regional 
Development Boards, to achieve the objectives of the State Food Plan through: Market 
Development, Capability Development and Regional Networks, Sector Development, 
Innovation and Communications Hub and Premier’s Food Council Secretariat.  
Minerals and Energy Resources – Management of the State’s mineral, petroleum, gas and 
geothermal resources on behalf of the people of South Australia by regulating operations; 
implementing significant exploration initiatives; providing comprehensive, high quality 
geoscientific data and advice; developing sustainable practices for exploration and mining; 
facilitating projects through approval processes; developing an effective and efficient policy and 
legislative framework; and collecting royalties and fees. 
Office for the Southern Suburbs – To assist in the realisation of the Government’s policy 
commitments to improve economic development, social and environmental outcomes for the 
communities identified as being of high need in the Southern Suburbs.  
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Office of Local Government (OLG) – Maintenance and development of the local government 
system and State-Local government relations.  
Office of the North – To assist in the realisation of the Government’s policy commitments to 
improve economic development, social and environmental outcomes for the communities 
identified as being of high need in the North.  
Office of the North West – To assist in the realisation of the Government’s policy commitments 
to improve economic development, social and environmental outcomes for the communities 
identified as being of high need in the North West.  
Planning SA – Guiding and administering the South Australian Planning and Development 
system. As the State Government’s principal adviser on land use planning, building, urban 
design and development of strategies and policies, its main objective is to provide direction, 
advice, assistance and information on a range of development proposals, opportunities and 
issues.
Regional Ministerial Offices (Office of the Murray Mallee and Office of the Upper Spencer 
Gulf, Flinders Ranges and Outback) – To assist in the realisation of the Government’s policy 
commitments to improve economic development, social and environmental outcomes for the 
communities identified as being of high need in the regions of the Upper Spencer Gulf, Flinders 
Ranges, Outback and the River Murray.  
Rural Solutions SA – Provide a key service delivery role, integrating economic, environmental 
and social dimensions into an integrated ecologically sustainable development based service 
package. A diverse range of services are provided for government agencies, natural resources 
management bodies, agricultural industry development organisations, food, wine, forestry and 
resources companies, regional bodies, primary producers and community groups.  
South Australian Research and Development Institute (SARDI) – South Australia’s principal 
research and development capability and organisation in the primary industries and 
environmental related biosciences, working in collaboration with state, national and 
international collaborators and investors.  

Ways in which the functions of the agency affect members of the public 
PIRSA has a key role in promoting the State’s sustainable development with a particular emphasis on 
exports for the key industry sectors of minerals, food, wine, fisheries, aquaculture, fibre, livestock and 
grain. PIRSA contributes to the sustainable planning and development of our natural resources along 
their value chains. PIRSA focuses on reducing barriers to industry investment and exports, facilitating 
the application of new technologies, services, products and knowledge through its strong partnerships 
with industry sectors and regional communities. Consequently, the agency has a major indirect effect 
on the general public by creating jobs, wealth and prosperity through advice, encouragement and 
support of community development and of various primary industries and resources.  

Arrangements that enable the public to participate in the formulation of the 
agency’s policies 
PIRSA has a diverse range of industry boards and committees upon which there is external 
participation.

The agency’s policy documents 
PIRSA’s policy documents can be broadly defined into the following areas: 

Financial
Human Resources 

- OHS&W 
- Work related policies 

Information Technology 
Procurement  
Risk Management 
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The following documents are also held by the agency  
Corporate files containing correspondence, memoranda, minutes, etc, regarding all aspects of 
the agency’s operations 
Procedures and guidelines prescribing the way various activities are to be performed 
Personnel files relating to PIRSA employees 
Accounting and financial records relating to the administration of the department 
Contracts
Records relating to development applications, environmental impact statements, plan 
amendment reports 

Documents that are available for purchase from the agency 
The following documents are made available for purchase from the agency, by contacting Customer 
Services, Level 7, 101 Grenfell Street, Adelaide:  

publications
scientific papers 
technical reports 
conference and seminar proceedings 
books and theses 
extension and technical publications 
popular articles 
research reports 

Documents that are available from the agency free of charge 
The following documents are made available free of charge from the agency and are available by 
contacting the individual groups or Customer Services: 

brochures
pamphlets 
posters
information packs 
policy documents 
administrative instructions 
Internet
- downloadable education resources 
- community group presentations 
- media releases 
- Prime Time, PIRSA’s quarterly newsletter. 

Accessing documents 
As a general rule, the nearest office of the agency (as listed in the Adelaide and various country White 
Pages) can assist with applying for documents. 

Making a Freedom of Information application 
Application forms to request information under the Freedom of Information Act, or to request 
amendment of personal records, can be obtained by contacting the Freedom of Information 
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APPENDIX 6 STATEMENT OF ABORIGINAL RECONCILIATION 
PIRSA has adopted the Welcome/Acknowledgement protocol and is a standard feature at the 
beginning of all major events or meetings. 

A draft Aboriginal Employment Strategy has been completed and is now being incorporated in to a 
much broader equity and diversity strategy. 

PIRSA is involved with Aboriginal communities in facilitating economic development and community 
capacity building across several industry sectors.  

MINERALS AND ENERGY RESOURCES 
PIRSA and the Anangu Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara (APY) Economic and Resources Development 
Task Group have jointly developed a consultancy project to formulate an APY Economic Initiative 
Strategic Plan to develop economic initiative strategies in a culturally appropriate way. 

PIRSA provides funding for an APY Mining Liaison Officer based at Umuwa, who resides on the 
Lands and who has assisted in Acclaim Exploration NL Work Area Clearance and has assisted the 
Mineral Resources group in progressing its geological mapping program on APY Lands. 

PIRSA, TAFE, DECS Futures Connect/Wiltja, and the SA Chamber of Mines and Energy have 
collaborated in developing a traineeship course specifically for Indigenous Australian youth. 
Participants from remote parts of SA will be able to gain training in Drilling, Spatial Information 
Systems and Land and Environmental Management so as to gain employment in mineral and 
petroleum resources development projects on their lands. 

The inaugural Rio Tinto Indigenous Challenge Cup was played at AAMI Stadium on Saturday 21 May 
2005 between Anangu Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara (APY) Thunder and Maralinga Eagles. The game 
had support from major sponsors Rio Tinto Exploration Pty Ltd, PIRSA and the APY and Maralinga 
Tjarutja (MT) Land Councils and was held as part of the Australian Football League (AFL) 
Community Weekend to encourage families to participate in the sport and recognise regional and 
remote communities.  

FISHERIES 
During 2004–05 PIRSA Fisheries has been engaged in a number of processes relating to indigenous 
fishing. These processes are aimed at recognising and managing indigenous cultural fishing and 
increasing indigenous participation in commercial fishing and fisheries management. 

PIRSA Fisheries, on behalf of the Minister, contributed to the National Indigenous Fishing Technical 
Working Group (NIFTWG), which was convened by the National Native Title Tribunal with a view to 
identifying ways of moving forward in resolving native title issues relating to fishing and aquaculture. 
This group developed a set of principles that have now been supported by each participating 
jurisdiction, except for Queensland and will be presented to Ministerial Council for final endorsement. 

PIRSA Fisheries has also been represented on the Fisheries and Aquaculture Side Table (FAST), a 
body comprising indigenous, commercial fishing and State representatives. This Side Table, and other 
Side Tables relating to other issues, have been established by the South Australian government to 
progress the negotiation of Indigenous Land Use Agreements (ILUAs). ILUAs are agreements that 
may be registered under the Native Title Act 1993 (Cwlth) that are a way of resolving native title 
claims outside of the court system. The State Government has a policy of seeking to address native 
title in this way and to avoid litigation where possible. Following on FAST negotiations relating to a 
statewide approach to such negotiations, local discussions have commenced with the Narungga 
community on Yorke Peninsula.  
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In conjunction with the above two processes, an Act to replace the Fisheries Act 1982 is currently 
being written, and the principles coming out of the NIFTWG and the FAST negotiations are being 
incorporated into that legislation. It is anticipated that this draft Bill will be released for public 
comment in September 2005. 



PIRSA ANNUAL REPORT 2004–05 78

APPENDIX 7 CONTACTS 
Primary Industries and Resources South Australia 
Level 17, Grenfell Centre 
25 Grenfell St, Adelaide 
GPO Box 1671, Adelaide SA 5001 
Phone (08) 8226 0222 
Fax (08) 8226 0476 
Website http://www.pir.sa.gov.au

PIRSA has around 50 offices across the state and Adelaide metropolitan area. Contact details are on 
PIRSA’s website and in the Adelaide and telephone directories. At 31 August 2005: 

INQUIRY CONTACT PHONE, FAX AND LOCATION 

Minister for Agriculture, Food and 
Fisheries
Minister for State/Local Government 

Rory McEwen 
MP

phone (08) 8226 0322 
fax (08) 8226 0316 
Level 17, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell Street, 
Adelaide

Minister for Mineral Resources 
Development 
Minister for Urban Development and 
Planning 

Paul Holloway 
MLC

phone (08) 8303 2500 
fax (08) 8303 2597 
Level 9, Terrace Towers, 178 North Terrace, 
Adelaide

Minister for Science and Information 
Economy 
Minister for Regional Development 

Karlene Maywald 
MP

phone (08) 8207 2190 
fax (08) 8207 2199 
Level 12, SGIC Building, Victoria Square, 
Adelaide

Chief Executive Jim Hallion 
Chief Executive 

phone (08) 8226 0168 
fax (08) 8226 0320 
Level 17, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell Street, 
Adelaide  

PIRSA Corporate Geoff Knight 
Deputy Chief 
Executive 

phone (08) 8226 0466 
fax (08) 8226 0299 
Level 17, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell Street, 
Adelaide

Agriculture and Wine Don Plowman 
Executive Director 

phone (08) 8226 0204 
fax (08) 8463 3363 
Level 9, 101 Grenfell Street, Adelaide 

Aquaculture  Ian Nightingale 
Executive Director 

phone (08) 8226 0261 
fax (08) 8226 0330 
Level 14, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell Street, 
Adelaide

Commercial Projects Leon Byass 
Executive Director 

phone  (08) 8226 0004 
fax  (08) 8226 0060 
Level 16, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell Street, 
Adelaide

Communications and Marketing Kaye Noske 
A/General Manager 

phone (08) 8226 0338 
fax (08) 8226 0027 
Level 17, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell Street, 
Adelaide

Fisheries  Will Zacharin 
Executive Director 

phone (08) 8226 2316 
fax (08) 8226 0434 
Level 14, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell Street, 
Adelaide



PIRSA ANNUAL REPORT 2004–05 79

INQUIRY CONTACT PHONE, FAX AND LOCATION 

Food South Australia Grahame Tonkin 
Executive Director 

phone (08) 8226 0591 
fax (08) 8226 0188 
Level 16, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell Street, 
Adelaide

Industry Strategy and Ministerial 
Liaison 

Roger Hartley 
Executive Director 

phone (08) 8226 0025 
fax (08) 8226 0316 
Level 17, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell Street, 
Adelaide

Minerals and Energy Resources Paul Heithersay 
Executive Director 

phone (08) 8463 4153 
fax (08) 8463 4155 
Level 7, 101 Grenfell Street, Adelaide 

Office of Local Government John Comrie 
Executive Director 

phone (08) 8204 8726 
fax (08) 8204 8734 
Level 7, Roma Mitchell House, 136 North 
Terrace, Adelaide 

Planning SA Bronwyn Halliday 
Executive Director 

phone (08) 8303 0774  
fax (08) 8303 0991 
Level 6, 136 North Terrace, Adelaide 

Rural Solutions SA Locky McLaren 
Executive Director 

phone (08) 8226 0285 
fax (08) 8463 3336 
Level 8, 101 Grenfell Street, Adelaide 

South Australian Research and 
Development Institute (SARDI) 

Rob Lewis 
Executive Director 

phone (08) 8303 9397 
fax (08) 8303 9403 
Plant Research Centre, Gate 2B, Hartley 
Grove, Urrbrae 
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APPENDIX 8 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Primary Industries and Resources South Australia 

2005 2004
Note $' 000 $' 000

Expenses from Ordinary Activities

Employee expenses 5 94,129 88,714
Supplies and services 6 68,110 64,024
Depreciation and amortisation 7 7,370 6,703
Grants and subsidies 8 35,704 22,547
Borrowing costs 500          617          
Expense resulting from prior period adjustments 9 (1,214) -           
Other 10 3,756 3,007

Total Expenses from Ordinary Activities 208,355 185,612

Revenues from Ordinary Activities

User charges and fees 12 36,218 35,643
Advances and grants 13 32,248 30,453
Interest 14 4,247 4,162
Sale of goods 15 3,633 4,037
Net gain (loss) from disposal of assets 16 (314)         (454)         
Revenue resulting from prior period adjustments 9 1,878 -           
Other 17 2,874 4,967

Total Revenues from Ordinary Activities 80,784 78,808

Net Cost of Services from Ordinary Activities 127,571 106,804

Revenues from / Payments to SA Government

Revenues from SA Government 18 128,814 107,877

1,243 1,073

34 -           (5,147)

1,243       (4,074)

1,243       (4,074)

The above Statement should be read in conjunction with accompanying notes.

Decrease in Net Assets due to Administrative Restructuring

Net Result after Restructuring

PRIMARY INDUSTRIES AND RESOURCES

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

Net Result from Ordinary Activities

Total Changes in Equity other than those Resulting from 

Transactions with State Government as owner
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2005 2004
Note $' 000 $' 000

Current Assets

Cash 19 60,767 67,910

Receivables 20 13,016 5,404

Inventories 21 2,689 3,234

Other 25 95            508          

Total Current Assets 76,567 77,056

Non-Current Assets

Receivables 20 7,532 10,863

Investments 22 3,330 2,657

Property, plant and equipment 23 107,422 106,320

Intangibles 24 3,892 746          

Capital works in progress 3,701 231          

Other 25 37            53            

Total Non-Current Assets 125,914 120,870

Total Assets 202,481 197,926

Current Liabilities

Payables 26 8,009 6,231

Employee Benefits 27 7,747 6,854

Interest Bearing Liabilities 28 466          443          

Provisions 29 318          316          

Other 30 3,846 2,444

Total Current Liabilities 20,386 16,288

Non-Current Liabilities

Payables 26 2,137 1,962

Employee Benefits 27 18,909 17,084

Interest Bearing Liabilities 28 6,623 9,094

Provisions 29 814          732          

Other 30 1,225 1,622

Total Non-Current Liabilities 29,708 30,494

Total Liabilities 50,094 46,782

Net Assets 152,387 151,144

Equity

Accumulated surplus 130,413 122,897

Asset revaluation reserve 20,286 20,286

Committed grants reserve 1,688 5,961

General reserve -           2,000

Total Equity 31 152,387 151,144

Commitments 33

Contingent Assets and Liabilities 35

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 30 June 2005
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2005 2004
Note $' 000 $' 000

Cash flows from Operating Activities

Cash Outflows

Employee Payments (92,220) (85,201)
Supplies and Services (64,428) (66,251)
Grants and Subsidies (35,755) (22,039)
Restructuring payments -           (4,724)
Borrowing Costs (546)         (688)         
GST payments on Purchases (25,741) (27,541)
Prior Period Expenditure Adjustment (1,694) -           
Other (3,660) (3,557)

Total Outflows from Operating Activities (224,044) (210,001)

Cash Inflows

User charges and fees 31,211 37,942
Sale of goods 3,633 4,037
Advances and grants 32,248 30,453
Interest received 4,370 4,295
GST receipts on receivables 21,344 24,683
GST input tax credits 3,065 3,528
Prior Period Revenue Adjustment 820          -           
Other 2,358 3,815

Total Inflows from Operating Activities 99,049 108,753

Cash Flows From SA Government

Receipts from SA Government 128,814 107,877

Total Cash Flows From SA Government 128,814 107,877

Net Cash Inflows from Operating Activities 37 3,819 6,629

Cash flows from Investing Activities

Cash Outflows

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (11,488) (3,072)
Loans advanced to the rural sector and industry (233)         (886)         
Investments (610)         (952)         
Payment of lease liability (397)         (397)         

Total Outflows from Investing Activities (12,728) (5,307)

Cash Inflows

Loans repaid by the rural sector and industry 3,508 4,260
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 706          651          

Total Inflows from Investing Activities 4,214 4,911

Net Cash (Outflows) from Investing Activities (8,514) (396)         

For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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Cash flows from Financing Activities

Cash Outflows

Principal repaid to Treasury/SAFA (2,578) (3,007)

Total Outflows from Financing Activities (2,578) (3,007)

Cash Inflows

Borrowings from Treasury 130          200          

Total Inflows from Financing Activities 130          200          

Net Cash (Outflows) from Financing Activities (2,448) (2,807)

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash Held (7,143) 3,426

Cash at Beginning of the Financial Year 67,910 64,484

Cash at the End of the Financial Year 19 60,767 67,910
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2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

$' 000 $' 000 $' 000 $' 000 $' 000 $' 000 $' 000 $' 000

Expenses from Ordinary Activities

Employee Expenses 12,540             11,197             5,161               3,642               76,428             73,875             94,129             88,714             

Supplies and Services 9,265               4,854               5,309               4,674               53,536             54,496             68,110             64,024             

Depreciation and Amortisation 982                  201                  -                   67                    6,388               6,435               7,370               6,703               

Grants and Subsidies 4,354               1,000               5,619               6,085               25,731             15,462             35,704             22,547             

Borrowing Costs -                   -                   -                   -                   500                  617                  500                  617                  

Expense resulting from prior period adjustments (279)                 -                   -                   -                   (935)                 -                   (1,214)              -                   

Other 334                  192                  23                    14                    3,399               2,801               3,756               3,007               

Total Expenses from Ordinary Activities 27,196             17,444             16,112             14,482             165,047           153,686           208,355           185,612           

Revenues from Ordinary Activities

User Charges and Fees 5,691               5,283               1,123               2,754               29,404             27,606             36,218             35,643             

Advances and Grants 153                  121                  3,244               1,569               28,851             28,763             32,248             30,453             

Interest -                   -                   13                    18                    4,234               4,144               4,247               4,162               

Sale of Goods 57                    91                    31                    11                    3,545               3,935               3,633               4,037               

Net Gain/(Loss) from Disposal of Assets (55)                   -                   -                   -                   (259)                 (454)                 (314)                 (454)                 

Revenue resulting from prior period adjustments 243                  -                   -                   -                   1,635               -                   1,878               -                   

Other 261                  137                  103                  90                    2,510               4,740               2,874               4,967               

Total Revenues from Ordinary Activities 6,350               5,632               4,514               4,442               69,920             68,734             80,784             78,808             

Net Cost of Services from Ordinary Activities 20,846             11,812             11,598             10,040             95,127             84,952             127,571           106,804           

Revenues from/Payments to SA Government

Revenues from SA Government 20,846             11,812             11,598             10,040             96,370             86,025             128,814           107,877           

Net Result from Ordinary Activities -                   -                   -                   -                   1,243               1,073               1,243               1,073               

Mineral Resources 

Development
Energy Agriculture, Food and Fisheries Program Total

PRIMARY INDUSTRIES AND RESOURCES

PROGRAM SCHEDULE OF REVENUE AND EXPENSES

For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

Program 1 Program 2 Program 3 Total
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1. The Department

1.1 Purpose and Funding

The Department’s business is to optimise the return on South Australia’s natural assets by:
   fostering the sustainable development of new and existing industries;

facilitating global competitiveness and innovative solutions;
   building partnerships between industry, the community and government;
   providing information and knowledge to help people make the right decisions for themselves; and
   regulating to preserve resources for future generations.

1.2 Response to 2003-04 Audit Findings

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

2.1 Basis of Accounting

This financial report is a general purpose financial report.

2.2 The Reporting Entity

Trust Funds
The Department has received monies in a trustee capacity for trusts as set out in Note 36. As the Department
performs only a custodial role in respect of these monies, and because the monies cannot be used for
achievement of the Department’s objectives, the revenues and expenditures are only disclosed by way of note
and are not brought to account in the Department's financial statements.

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with applicable Australian Accounting Standards, Statements 
of Accounting Concepts, Urgent Issues Group Abstracts and Treasurer’s Instructions promulgated under the 
provisions of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1987.

The accounts have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting and have been prepared in accordance 
with the historical cost convention, except for certain assets which are measured and reported at fair value.

The Department, an Administrative Unit created on 23 October 1997 under the Public Sector Management Act 
1995, produces both Departmental and Administered financial statements. The Department's financial 
statements include the use of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses controlled or incurred by the 
Department.  The administered financial statements (included as a schedule to the Department's Financial 
Statements) include the revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities which the Department administers on behalf 
of the State Government, the Commonwealth Government, private sector organisations and other State 
Government Departments.

In the process of reporting on the Department as a single unit, all internal transactions have been eliminated in 
full.

The principal sources of funds for the Department’s programs consists of monies appropriated by Parliament, 
research grants from Industry Research Corporations, licence receipts, Commonwealth grants and trading 
operations.

In response to the audit qualification on the 2003-04 financial statements the Department has invested 
significant effort in reviewing, understanding and resolving the underlying issues that led to the qualifications.

In addition to addressing the issues raised, the Department has implemented further key control enhancements 
to ensure the process improvements are maintained in the future.

The financial statements represent the operations of the Department for the year 1 July 2004 to 30 June 2005.

PRIMARY INDUSTRIES AND RESOURCES

Notes to the Financial Statements

The Department of Primary Industries and Resources (the Department) is a key government agency focused on 
sustainable economic development. 

The Department delivers specialist services and advice with the potential to increase the prosperity of South 
Australians, to improve their quality of life and to ensure the sustainable development of the State’s resource 
base for future generations. The Department delivers these services through locations across South Australia.
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PRIMARY INDUSTRIES AND RESOURCES

2.3 Transferred Functions

2.4 Comparative Figures

2.5 Rounding

2.6 Taxation

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

2.7 Revenues and Expenses

Resources received/provided free of charge are recorded as revenue and expenditure in the Statement of 
Financial Performance at their fair value. Goods and services received free of charge are recorded as such with 
the revenue being separately disclosed.  Resources provided free of charge are recorded at their fair value in 
the expense line items to which they relate.

Revenue from fees and charges is derived from the provision of goods and services to other South Australian 
government agencies and to the public. This revenue is driven by consumer demand.

Advances and grants have been recognised as revenue when received.

The sale of goods is reported as gross sales revenue. The cost of sales is not separately disclosed due to the 
nature of these operations (sales are mainly for information purposes or occur as a result of by-products of 
research farms), the immaterial amounts involved and the expenditure allocations are not readily available (eg 
water consumption expenditure is shared between research activity and sale of goods activity). 

Revenue from the disposal of non-current assets is recognised when control of the asset has passed to the 
buyer.

The Department is not subject to income tax. The Department is liable for payroll tax, fringe benefits tax, goods
and services tax, emergency services levy, land tax equivalents and local government rate equivalents.

In accordance with the requirements of UIG Abstract 31 ‘Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax (GST)’,
revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except the amount of GST incurred
by the Department as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office is recognised as
part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense.

Revenues and Expenses are recognised in the Department’s Statement of Financial Performance when and 
only when the flow or consumption or loss of economic benefits has occurred and can be reliably measured.

Revenues and Expenses have been classified according to their nature in accordance with Accounting Policy 
Statement 13 'Form and Content of General Purpose Financial Reports' and have not been offset unless 
required or permitted by accounting standards.

In addition, cash held by the Department relating to functions transferred to the Department of Water, Land and 
Biodiversity Conservation (DWLBC) on 1 May 2002, was transferred on 18 June 2004.

The amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenditures relating to all transferred functions are set out in 
note 34.

Comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in these financial statements
where required.

All amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

There have been no functions transferring to or from the Department during the financial year ending 30 June 
2005.

In the previous reporting period several functions of the former Department of Business Manufacturing and 
Trade (now the Department of Trade and Economic Development) were transferred to the Department on 1 
January 2004.  These functions were the Reinvest SA function of the administrative unit relating to primary 
production, the Food Team in the Centre for Innovation, Business and Manufacturing, the support function for 
the Wine Industry Council and the Energy function of the State Infrastructure Division.

The gas related economic function of the Business and Financial Services Group, Minerals and Energy Division 
and the functions of the South Australian Independent Pricing and Access Regulator (SAIPAR) were transferred 
to the Essential Services Commission of South Australia (ESCOSA) on 1 July 2003.
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PRIMARY INDUSTRIES AND RESOURCES

2.8 Revenues from/Payments to SA Government

2.9 Current and Non-Current items

2.10 Cash

2.11

2.12 Inventories

2.13 Non-Current Asset Acquisition and Recognition

The Department controls several types of assets at the reporting date that meet the definition of self-generating 
and regenerating assets as defined by AASB 1035 ‘Self-Generating and Regenerating Assets’. Livestock has 
been brought to account at net market value in the Statement of Financial Position. Crops, orchards and 
vineyards are grown primarily for research purposes but also have a commercial element and have been valued 
at net market value.

Assets are initially recorded at cost or at the value of any assets transferred, plus any incidental cost involved 
with the acquisition.  Where assets are acquired at no value, or minimal value, they are recorded at their fair 
value in the Statement of Financial Position.  If however, the assets are acquired at no or nominal value as part 
of a restructuring of administrative arrangements then the assets are recorded at the value recorded by the 
transferor prior to transfer.

The Department capitalises all non-current physical assets with a value of $2,000 or greater in accordance with 
Accounting Policy Statement 2 'Asset Recognition'. Amounts less than $2,000 are expensed in the period 
incurred.

Trade receivables arise in the normal course of selling goods and services to other agencies and to the public.
Trade receivables are payable within 30 days.

Trade debtors greater than 120 days in arrears at balance date are assessed each year and provision is made 
for any doubtful accounts.

In addition, a general doubtful debt provision amounting to five percent of the balance of the outstanding loan 
portfolio is provided for each year.  This level was determined in 1997-98 by the Rural Finance and 
Development Steering Committee and it is reviewed each year. Reviews of individual loan balances are also 
undertaken and specific provisions are created where appropriate. 

Inventories (other than self generating assets such as livestock and produce) are measured at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value on an item by item basis, as illustrated in Note 21.

Amounts appropriated to the Department for transfer to eligible beneficiaries in accordance with legislation or 
other authoritative requirements are not controlled by the Department and therefore not recognised as 
revenues, but are reported as revenues in the Administered Financial Statements Schedule. Similarly, the 
amounts transferred, are not recognised as expenses, but are reported as administered expenses in the 
Administered Financial Statements Schedule.

Assets and liabilities are characterised as either current or non-current in nature.  The Department has an 
operating cycle of twelve months, therefore assets and liabilities that are realised as part of the normal 
operating cycle are classified as current assets or current liabilities.  All other assets and liabilities are classified 
as non-current.

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash at bank and deposits at call that are 
readily converted to cash and are used in the cash management function on a day-to-day basis.  Cash is 
measured at nominal value.

Receivables

Grants are amounts provided by the Department, to entities for general assistance or for a particular purpose. 
Grants may be for capital or recurrent purposes and the name or category reflects the use of the grant. The 
grants given are usually subject to terms and conditions set out in the contract, correspondence, or by 
legislation.

Appropriations for program funding are recognised as revenues when the Department obtains control over the 
assets. Control over appropriations is normally obtained upon their receipt and are accounted for in accordance 
with Treasurer’s Instruction 3 'Appropriation'.
Where money has been appropriated in the form of borrowings, the Department has recorded a liability to the 
Treasurer (borrowings) and an asset loan receivable (loans to the rural sector).
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2.14 Valuation of Non-Current Assets

(i) Land and Buildings

(ii) Leasehold Improvements

(iii) Core Trays

(iv) Plant and Equipment

2.15 Lease Incentives under Non-Cancellable Operating Leases

2.16 Works in Progress

2.17 Intangible Assets

2.18 Depreciation and Amortisation of Non-Current Assets

The fit-out costs for this leased property were met by the lessor.  In accordance with Urgent Issues Group 
Abstract 3 ‘Lessee Accounting for Lease Incentives under a Non-Cancellable Operating Lease’, this fit-out has 
been treated as a lease incentive giving rise to both an asset and a liability being the cost of the fit-out.  The 
asset is amortised over the period of the lease and the liability is reduced through lease payments over the term 
of the lease.

Works in progress relate to costs associated with the systems development, purchase of vessels and other 
plant and equipment developments. 

The Department has developed software internally.  The software is capitalised when the expenditure meets the 
definition and recognition criteria of an asset and when the amounts of expenditure are greater than $2,000.

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their useful lives in a 
manner which reflects the consumption of their service potential. Amortisation is used in relation to intangible 
assets, while depreciation is applied to physical assets such as property, plant and equipment.  The estimated 
useful lives of buildings and items of plant and equipment valued in excess of $1 million are reassessed every 
three years by an independent valuer as part of the valuation process described in Note 2.14 above.

Core Trays were independently valued by Valcorp Australia Pty Ltd at 30 June 2003.

In accordance with Accounting Policy Statement 3 'Revaluation of Non-Current Assets' all plant and equipment 
below the revaluation threshold are deemed to have been revalued to their fair values immediately following 
recognition at cost.

Plant and equipment that are acquired between revaluations are held at cost until the next valuation, where they 
are revalued to fair value.

On 1 August 1998, the Department, through the Department for Administrative and Information Services, 
entered into a 10 year non-cancellable operating lease over part of a property located at 101 Grenfell Street, 
Adelaide.

The Department obtains independent valuations every three years.  The next valuation process is due to occur 
during 2005-06, however, if at any time management considers that the carrying amount of an asset materially 
differs from its fair value then the asset will be revalued regardless of when the last valuation took place. 

Land and buildings were independently valued by Valcorp Australia Pty Ltd as at 30 June 2003, on the basis of 
fair value as defined in AASB 1041 'Revaluation of Non-Current Assets'.  Buildings include ‘infrastructure’ which 
represents roads, fencing, signage etc. 

Land and buildings that are acquired between revaluations are held at cost until the next valuation, where they 
are revalued to fair value.

Leasehold improvements are brought to account at cost and are revalued in accordance with the valuation 
processes outlined above.

In accordance with Accounting Policy Statement 3 ‘Revaluation of Non-Current Assets’,  revaluation of non-
current assets only applies to assets, or group of assets, when it's fair value at the time of acquisition is greater 
than $1 million and estimated useful life is greater than three years.
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Depreciation / amortisation for non current assets is determined as follows:

Class of Asset Depreciation Method Years
Buildings and Infrastructure Straight Line 20 – 70
Plant and equipment Straight Line 3 – 20
Intangibles Straight Line 1 – 4
Leasehold improvements Straight Line 10                

2.19 Payables

2.20 Employee Benefits

2.21 Provisions

2.22 Reserves

A liability has been reported to reflect unsettled workers compensation claims.  The workers compensation 
provision is based on an actuarial assessment performed by the Public Sector Occupational Health and Injury 
Management Branch of the Department for Administrative and Information Services.

The General Reserve for Rural Finance and Development was established to cover unforeseen losses which 
may arise from the Rural Industry Adjustment and Development Fund loan portfolio. The amount in the reserve 
is reviewed annually by The Rural Finance and Development Steering Committee.  The Committee agreed 
during the year that this reserve was no longer required and therefore that the General Reserve be 
discontinued.  This reserve has been transferred to the accumulated surplus during the 2004-05 financial year.

The Committed Grants Reserve for Rural Finance and Development was established to provide for grant 
commitments which are committed but not advanced as at the end of the financial year.

These benefits accrue for employees as a result of services provided up to the reporting date that remain 
unpaid.  No provision has been made for sick leave as all sick leave is non-vesting and the average sick leave 
taken in future years by employees is estimated to be less than the annual entitlement of sick leave.

The liability for salary and wages is measured as the amount unpaid at the reporting date at remuneration rates 
current at reporting date.

The liability for annual leave reflects the value of total annual leave entitlements of all employees as at 30 June 
2005 and is measured at the nominal amount.

A liability for long service leave is recognised, and is measured as the current value of payments to be made in 
respect of employees with seven or more years service up to the reporting date. This base provides a 
reasonable approximation of the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for these 
entitlements and is consistent with Accounting Policy Statement 9 'Employee Benefits'.

All amounts are measured at their nominal amount and are normally settled within 30 days in accordance with 
Treasurer's Instruction 8 'Expenditure for Supply Operations and Other Goods and Services' after the 
Department receives an invoice.
Payables include expenses consequential to employment but which are not employee benefits, such as 
superannuation contributions and payroll tax, with respect to outstanding liabilities for salaries and wages, long 
service leave and annual leave.
The Department makes contributions to several superannuation schemes operated by the State Government.
These contributions are treated as an expense when they occur.  There is no liability for payments to 
beneficiaries as the South Australian Superannuation Board (SASB) has assumed these.  The Department has 
recorded a liability for outstanding employer superannuation contributions payable to the South Australian 
Superannuation Board.
During the year the Department paid $9.0 million ($7.9 million) to the Department of Treasury and Finance 
towards the accruing government liability for superannuation in respect of its employees.

Payables include creditors, accrued expenses and employment on-costs.

Creditors represent the amounts owing for goods and services received prior to the end of the reporting period 
that are unpaid at the end of the reporting period.  Creditors include all unpaid invoices received relating to the 
normal operations of the Department.
Accrued expenses represent goods and services provided by other parties during the period that are unpaid at 
the end of the reporting period and where an invoice has not been received.
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2.23 Government/Non-Government Disclosures

3. Changes in Accounting Policies

Impact of adopting AIFRS

Reconciliation of key aggregates AASB 141 

Agriculture

AASB 108 

Accounting

Policies, Changes 

in Accounting 

Estimates and 

Errors

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Net Cost of Services 127,571       -            3,092                 130,663    
Net Result from Ordinary Activities 1,243           -            (3,092)                (1,849)       
Opening Equity 151,144       374           3,092                 154,610    
Closing Equity 152,387     374         -                    152,761    

Total Assets 202,481       374           -                     202,855    
Total Liabilities 50,094         -                     50,094      
Net Assets 152,387     374         -                    152,761    

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 3,819           -            874                    4,693        
Cash Flows from Investing Activities (8,514)          -            -                     (8,514)       
Cash Flows from Financing Activities (2,448)          -            -                     (2,448)       
Opening Cash 67,910         -            (874)                   67,036      
Closing Cash 60,767       -          -                    60,767      

AASB 141 'Agriculture'

AASB 108 'Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Error'

The new accounting standard AASB 141 requires biological assets to be measured at fair value less estimated 
point of sale costs from initial recognition of the biological assets up to the point of harvest, other than when fair 
value cannot be measured reliably on initial recognition.
This will not result in changes to the values reported in the financial statements except that the Department will 
be required to bring into account fruit trees orchards and grape vines for the first time.  As at 30 June 2005, 
these assets have a fair value less estimated point of sale costs of $0.374m. The financial effect of these 
transactions is disclosed in the above table.
The main impacts of this standard are the increased disclosure requirements, which include reconciliations of 
the changes in the carrying amount of the classes of biological assets between the start and end of the financial 
reporting period and disclosure of information relating to biological assets that have not been brought to 
account due to the fair value not being able to be measured reliably.  There are also specific disclosure 
requirements for government grants related to biological assets.  These will be required to be measured at fair 
value less estimated point-of-sale costs.

This standard requires that prior period errors must be corrected retrospectively by restating comparative 
amounts for the prior periods presented or, if the error occurred in a period prior to those presented in the 
financial report, restate the opening balances of the identified assets, liabilities and equity.

Impact of Adopting Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 

Australia will be adopting Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS) for 
reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2005.  The Department for Primary Industries and 
Resources will adopt these standards for the first time in the published financial report for the year ended 30 
June 2006.

In accordance with requirements of AASB 1047 Disclosing the Impacts of Adopting Australian Equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the Department of Treasury and Finance Model Financial 
Report, a table has been prepared summarising any known or reliably estimated information about the impacts 
on the financial report had it been prepared using the AIFRS. 

Amount

currently

reported per 

Generally

Accepted

Accounting

Principles

Known or reliably estimated 

impact on the financial report

Amount to be 

reported after 

adopting

AIFRS

In accordance with APS 13 details of revenue, expenditure, financial assets and financial liabilities according to 
whether the transactions are with entities internal to the SA Government must be disclosed in the notes to the 
accounts. In accordance with Paragraph 18 of APS 13, the threshold of $100,000 for the separate identification 
has been applied.
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AASB 136 'Impairment of Assets'

AASB 5 'Non-current Assets held for Sale and Discontinued Operations'

4. Programs of the Department

Program 1 – Mineral Resources Development

Program 2 – Energy

Program 3 – Agriculture, Food and Fisheries
To deliver specialist services and advice across the State, fostering growth and development, increasing the 
prosperity of South Australians, improving the quality of life, while supporting environmentally sustainable 
development of the State's resources.

This standard requires that assets meeting the criteria in the standard, should be classified as current assets 
'held for sale' on the face of the statement of financial position. The effect on the financial statements will be to 
reclassify these assets from non-current to current.

The Program Schedule provides details of expenses and revenues applicable to the programs of the Department. 
Information about the Department’s programs is set out below and in the Program Schedule. The major change from 
the 2003-04 program presentation is the consolidation of functions at the program level and is consistent with 
Ministerial responsibilities and the portfolio structure.

The vision of the Mineral Resources program is to make South Australia a favoured mineral investment destination for 
private investment with exploration expenditure targeted to reach $100 million per annum by 2007 and mineral 
production and processing to reach $4 billion by 2020.  Uncover the petroleum prospectivity and potential of South 
Australia.

Ensure coordinated development and implementation of policies, regulatory responsibilities in the delivery of 
programs for the competitive, sustainable, safe, and reliable supply and use of energy, for the benefit of the South 
Australian community.

This standard requires Intangible assets to be measured at cost unless it is acquired for no cost or for a 
nominal amount. In these instances, the asset’s fair value is deemed to be the cost. Research and borrowing 
costs are required to be expensed in the period in which they are incurred. The standard does not allow 
previously expensed costs to be brought to account as development costs in relation to internally generated 
intangibles and has increased disclosure requirements in relation to each class of intangible assets. As at 30 
June 2005 the Department's intangible assets comprise one class, Internally Generated Software.

This standard requires an assessment at the end of each financial year to determine whether there is any 
indication or evidence that an asset or group of assets are impaired based on the impairment indicators.
An asset or group of assets are impaired when the carrying amount exceeds it's recoverable amount. 
If there is evidence of impairment in future reporting periods, then the Department will be required to revalue the 
asset/s down to their recoverable amount.

During 2004/05, the Department recognised $3.092m in prior period adjustments in the statement of financial 
performance due mainly to the recognition of Non-Current Assets, of 4 internally generated software systems 
for which the costs had been expensed in prior years. Other prior period adjustments were recognised as the 
result of completing a full reconciliation of the Department's Cash at Bank account and Fixed Asset Register as 
at 30 June 2004.
Under the AIFRS, these errors will be reversed out of the net cost of services and reflected in the opening 
balances of the identified assets and liabilities. The financial effect of these transactions is disclosed in the 
above table.

The following standards will have some impact on the financial statements, mainly in disclosure 

requirements, although it is expected that the impact will not be significant.

AASB 138 'Intangibles'
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5. Employee Expenses

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Salaries and wages 72,695        70,361     
TVSP (refer below) -             1,452       
Annual leave (1)

4,671          998          
Long service leave 2,703          2,524       
Employment on-costs 13,878        13,085     
Board fees 182             294          
Total Employee Expenses 94,129        88,714     

(1)

2005 2004
Targeted Voluntary Separation Packages $' 000 $' 000
Amount paid to these employees:

TVSPs -             1,452       
Annual Leave and Long Service Leave paid during the reporting period -             539          

-             1,991       
Recovery from the Department of the Premier and Cabinet -             1,452       

Number of employees that were paid TVSPs during the reporting period -             18            

Employee Remuneration Packages 2005 2004

$100 000 - $109 999 13 11            
$110 000 - $119 999 11 5              
$120 000 - $129 999 4 7              
$130 000 - $139 999 2 2              
$140 000 - $149 999 4 3              
$150 000 - $159 999 3 2              
$160 000 - $169 999 -             1              
$170 000 - $179 999 3 3              
$180 000 - $189 999 1 1              
$200 000 - $209 999 1 -           
$260 000 - $269 999 1 1              
Total Number of Employees 43 36            

Total remuneration received by the above employees was $5.619 million ($4.763 million).

PRIMARY INDUSTRIES AND RESOURCES

The 2004-05 figure contains the annual leave expense accruing for the year while the 2003-04 figure is only the movement in the annual leave liability 
for the year with the actual leave taken included in salaries and wages.  When including annual leave taken the annual leave figure for 2003-04 is 
$3.717 million.

The number of employees whose total remuneration received or receivable falls 
within the following bands:

Average number of employees during the reporting period: On average, the Department employed 1 332.76 
(1 271.12) full time equivalents (FTEs) throughout the reporting period.
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6. Supplies and Services

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Supplies and Services provided by entities within SA Government

Professional services (1)
403             415          

Operational and administrative costs (2)
1,907          740          

Utility and property costs 3,085          1,754       
Computing costs 2,265          3,392       
Vehicle and equipment operating costs 95 148          
Telephone calls and rental 217             311          
Operating lease costs 9,036          7,906       
Other 7 165          
Total Supplies and Services - SA Government entities 17,015        14,831     

Supplies and Services provided by entities external to the SA Government

Professional services (1)
13,221        12,591     

Operational and administrative costs 17,226        18,321     
Utility and property costs 6,132          4,705       
Computing costs 2,623          1,792       

Travel (3)
4,556          3,978       

Vehicle and equipment operating costs 2,555          2,352       

Adverse events (4)
-             1,414       

Telephone calls and rental 2,095          1,690       

Staff training and development (3)
2,116          1,806       

Operating lease costs 131             (88)           

Workers compensation expense (3)
285             73            

Other 155             559          
Total Supplies and Services - Non SA Government entities 51,095        49,193     
Total Supplies and Services 68,110        64,024     

(1) Includes consultancies costs which are further broken down below.
(2) Includes Audit fees paid/payable to the Auditor-General (refer note 11).
(3) Includes payments to SA Government entities totalling less than $100,000.
(4)

Number $' 000 Number $' 000
Below $10,000 32               101                        16               36            
Between $10,000 and $50,000 14               311                        15               348          
Above $50,000 -              -                         1                 60            
Total paid / payable to the consultants engaged 46               412                        32               444          

7. Depreciation and Amortisation

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Depreciation

Plant and equipment 3,581          3,456       
Buildings and infrastructure 2,029          2,006       
Core Trays 634             633          
Total Depreciation 6,244          6,095       

Amortisation

Leasehold improvements 397             397          
Software 729             195          
Amdel Loan -             16            
Total Amortisation 1,126          608          
Total Depreciation and Amortisation 7,370          6,703       

Expenditure on ad-hoc emergencies that affect the agricultural and fisheries sectors (eg fruit fly and State Ovine Johne's disease).  Employee costs 
associated with adverse events are not disclosed separately but are included in Note 5.

The number and dollar amount of Consultancies

paid/payable (included in supplies and services expense) 

that fell within the following bands: 2005 2004
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8. Grants and Subsidies

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Rural Finance and Development 9,879          9,843       
Other State and Local Government agencies 2,355          845          
Private Sector 23,470        11,859     
Total Grants and Subsidies 35,704        22,547     

The major grant programs paid to entities within SA Government

University of Adelaide 838             347          
Other 742             879          

Total Grants and Subsidies - SA Government entities 1,580          1,226       

The major grant programs paid to entities external to the SA Government

Marine Scalefish Fishery - Commercial Net Restructure 10,852        -           
FarmBis 4,669          2,227       
Remote Areas Energy Scheme 3,781          3,978       
Eyre Peninsula Bushfire Relief 2,494          -           
Collaborative Programs 1,920          2,193       
Solar Hot Water System Rebates 1,791          1,783       
Plan for Accelerated Exploration 1,347          -           

Roxby Downs Council (1)
1,225          525          

Lower Murray Reclaimed Irrigation Areas 888             -           
Branched Broomrape 561             -           
Exceptional Circumstances Drought 2003 545             552          
Food Industry Development Funding 516             -           
Aquafin Cooperative Research Centre Contributions 500             500          
River Fishery Structural Adjustment -             2,349       
Central North East Farm Assistance Program -             1,471       
Drought Relief Assistance Scheme -             1,078       
Riverland Rural Partnership Program -             626          
Other 3,035          4,039       

Total Grants and Subsidies - Non SA Government entities 34,124        21,321     
Total Grants and Subsidies 35,704        22,547     

(1) The increase in 2004-05 is due to a change in accounting treatment with the accrual of the 2004-05 contribution.  Previously payments had been made 
one year in arrears and not accrued.
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9. Net Expenses and Revenue Resulting from prior period adjustments

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Expense resulting from prior period adjustments

Cash at Bank reconciliation adjustments (1)
49               -           

Recognition of non-current asset previously expensed (2)
(3,270)         -           

Accumulated Funds adjustments 670             -           
Recognition of funds previously excluded 976             -           
Adjustments resulting from balance sheet reconciliations 361             -           
Total Net Expenses (1,214)         -

Revenue resulting from prior period adjustments

Cash at Bank reconciliation adjustments (1)
(84)             -           

Adjustments to non-current asset from reconciliations 586             -           
Accumulated Funds adjustments 952             -           
Adjustments resulting from balance sheet reconciliations (3)

423             -           
Total Net Revenue 1,878          -           

Net Impact of Prior Year Adjustments

Cash at Bank reconciliation adjustments (1)
(132)           -           

Adjustments to non-current assets (2)
3,856          -           

Accumulated Funds adjustments 283             -           
Recognition of funds previously excluded (976)           -           
Adjustments resulting from balance sheet reconciliations (3)

62               -           
Net increase in operating surplus resulting from prior period adjustments 3,092          -           

(1)

(2)

(3)

10. Other

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Other Expenses paid/payable to entities within SA Government

Contributions to external bodies 494             18            
Total Other - SA Government entities 494             18            

Other Expenses paid/payable to entities external to the SA Government

Guarantee Fees 26 32            
Contributions to external bodies 2,938          3,252       
Other (1)

298             (295)         
Total Other - Non SA Government entities 3,262          2,989       
Total Other 3,756          3,007       

(1) Includes payments to SA Government entities totalling less than $100,000.

11. Auditor's Remuneration

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

229             228          
Total Audit Fees 229             228          

Other Services

No other services were provided by the Auditor-General's Department.

These expenses were previously recorded as operating expenditure and have since been identified as expenditure that has generated assets for the 
Department.  This includes expenditure on internally developed software for which the policies of the Department have changed to recognise such 
expenditure as an intangible asset rather than an operating expense.
Includes balances of receipts held in holding accounts previously not brought to account in the statement of financial position.  Identified through the 
reconciliation processes undertaken.

Audit fees paid/payable to the Auditor-General's Department.

The above adjustments have been identified as part of the Department addressing issues raised in last years audit of the 
financial statements.

Adjustments required to cash at bank resulting from reconciliations undertaken to address audit issues raised in the 2003-04 audit of the financial 
statements.  Current reconciliations are undertaken to ensure that reconciling items are adjusted in periods that they occur.
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12. User Charges and Fees

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

User charges and fees received/receivable from entities within SA Government

Mining and petroleum rentals 113             154          
Consultancy and service 6,864          4,759       
Total Fees and Charges - SA Government entities 6,977          4,913       

User charges and fees received/receivable from entities external to SA Government

Fishing licences (1) 9,305          10,811     
Mining and petroleum application fees 458             445          
Gas and electricity licence fees (2) 1,450       
Remote Areas Energy Scheme electricity sales 1,027          1,101       
Mining and petroleum rentals 5,805          5,660       
Consultancy and service 10,352        9,018       
Other licences 665             832          
Seed analysis and certification 923             713
Inspection and registration 533             540          
Other 175             160          
Total Fees and Charges - Non SA Government entities 29,241        30,730     
Total Fees and Charges 36,218        35,643     

(1)

13. Advances & Grants

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Commonwealth Grants 4,132          5,561       
State Grants 9,050          3,654       
Industry Grants 19,066        21,238     
Total Advances and Grants Revenue 32,248        30,453     

Advances & Grants received/receivable from entities within SA Government

Office of the Technical Regulator 2,758          1,367       
Lower Murray Reclaimed Irrigation Areas 1,134          -           
Aquaculture License Fees 857             -           
Sheep Industry 666             664          
Branched Broomrape 506             -           
All other projects 3,129          1,623       
Total Advances & Grants - SA Government entities 9,050          3,654       

Advances & Grants received/receivable from entities external to SA Government

Grains Industry 5,702          5,807       
Fisheries Industry (1)

2,451          1,945       
Horticulture Industry 1,194          1,425       
Field Crop Oat Breeding 1,087          -           
International Wool Secretariat (1)

1,071          764          
Aquafin CRC 880             1,500       
Agricultural Development Northern Adelaide Plains (1)

614             -           
Farmbis 600             3,947       
Australian Fisheries Management Authority 582             -           
Exceptional Circumstances/Drought Assistance 525             516          
Gas Industry Regulation -             1,242       
Central Northeast Farm Assistance Program -             757          
All other projects 8,492          8,896       
Total Advances & Grants - Non SA Government entities 23,198        26,799     
Total Advances & Grants 32,248        30,453     

(1) Includes revenues from SA Government entities totalling less than $100,000.

The above contributions are allocated to a large range of projects involving the Commonwealth, other state departments and 
industry groups. In 2005, the larger advance and grants were as follows:

Represents costs recovered from the Fisheries Research and Development Fund and Aquaculture Resource Management Fund for the administration
of licences.



PIRSA ANNUAL REPORT 2004–05 98

PRIMARY INDUSTRIES AND RESOURCES

14. Interest

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Deposits lodged with the Treasurer 3,385          3,115       
Loans to the rural sector 816             1,047       
Other 46 -           
Total Interest 4,247          4,162       

15. Sale of Goods

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Sale of goods received/receivable from entities external to SA Government

Livestock 1,357          1,255       

Publications, books, maps and compact discs (1)
431             419          

Milk 888             856          
Fruit and vegetables 177             178          
Cereals 227             606          
Wool and skins 273             317          
Other (1) 280             406          
Total Sale of Goods - Non SA Government entities 3,633          4,037       
Total Sale of Goods 3,633          4,037       

(1) Includes revenues from SA Government entities totalling less than $100,000.

16. Net Gain (Loss) from Disposal of Assets

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Land and Buildings
Proceeds from disposal 376             135          
Net book value of assets disposed 280             521          

Net gain (loss) from disposal of land and buildings 96 (386)         

Plant and Equipment
Proceeds from disposal 330             516          
Net book value of assets disposed 740             584          

Net gain (loss) from disposal of plant and equipment (410)           (68)           

Total Assets
Total proceeds from disposal 706             651          
Total value of assets disposed 1,020          1,105       

Total net gain (loss) from disposal of assets (314)           (454)         

17. Other Revenue

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Other Revenue received/receivable from entities within SA Government

Core Client Access Licenses contributed from Department Administrative and Information Services 491             -           
Total Other Revenues - SA Government entities 491             -           

Other Revenue received/receivable from entities external to SA Government

Seed royalties 572             466          
Government Employment Scheme recoups 42 63            
Reimbursements of salaries and project costs 1,153          3,243       
Revenue in-kind 73 66            
Reduction in provision for doubtful debts 35 154          
Other 508             975          

Total Other Revenues - Non SA Government entities
 (1)

2,383          4,967       
Total Other Revenues 2,874          4,967       

(1) Includes revenues from SA Government entities totalling less than $100,000.
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18. Revenues from SA Government

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Revenues from SA Government

Appropriations from Consolidated Account pursuant to the Appropriation Act 2004 128,814      107,877   
Total Revenues from SA Government 128,814      107,877   

19. Cash

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Deposits with the Treasurer 60,746        67,984     
Cash held in imprest account and petty cash 21 (74)           
Total Cash 60,767        67,910     

Deposits with the Treasurer

20. Receivables

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Current

Receivables 8,285          1,712       
Less: Provision for Doubtful debts 459             352          

7,826          1,360       

Accrued interest on loans and deposits 550             673          
Other accrued revenue 908             1,182       
GST Receivable 2,395          1,063       

3,853          2,918       

Loans receivable 1,337          1,126       

Total Current Receivables 13,016        5,404       
Non-Current

Loans receivable 8,153          11,638     
Less:  Provision for doubtful debts 621             775          
Total Non-Current Receivables 7,532          10,863     
Total Receivables 20,548        16,267     

Government / Non Government Receivables

Receivables from SA Government entities

Receivables 1,966          1,626       
Accrued Revenues 247             -           
Total Receivables from SA Government entities 2,213          1,626       

Receivables from Non SA Government entities

Receivables 5,860          74            
Accrued Revenues 1,211          1,182       
Loan Receivables 8,869          11,989     
Other 2,395          1,396       
Total Receivables from Non SA Government entities 18,335        14,641     
Total Receivables 20,548        16,267     

Includes Accrual Appropriation Account Cash Balance.  To date the Department has not been required to transfer any cash 
balances under the cash alignment policy, but it may be required to transfer a portion of the cash balance to the Consolidated 
Account in future years
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21. Inventories

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Current

Livestock (at net realisable value) 1,859          2,311       
Publications and maps (at net realisable value) 672             849          
Plants and related items (at cost) 5 21            
Other (at cost) 153             53            
Total Current Inventories 2,689          3,234       
Total Inventories 2,689          3,234       

22. Investments

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Non-Current

Investments in Shares 3,330          2,657       
Total Investments 3,330          2,657       

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Movement in Investments

Carrying amount at 1 July 2,657          1,625
Cash contribution 610             952
Leased facilities 63 80
Carrying amount at 30 June 3,330          2,657       

As at 30 June 2005 the Department holds twenty five percent of the issued capital of the entity.  The Department holds joint 
control along with the University of Adelaide and Grains Research and Development Corporation.  The Department’s 
shareholding has been recognised at cost and equity accounts have not been prepared due to the materiality of the balance.

Other investments includes $1 shares in Provisor Pty Ltd, purchased in 2003-04 ($189 800), a grape and wine research 
company. The Department's shareholding in Provisor does not give it controlling interest in the company. This investment is 
also recorded at cost.

During 2004-05 the Department purchased 673 784 (842 231) $1 ordinary shares in Australian Grain Technologies (AGT) Pty 
Ltd, a joint venture entity involved in researching to assist wheat breeding programs.  The purchase consideration for these 
shares consisted of a mixture of cash and leased facilities.
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23. Property, Plant and Equipment

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Land and Buildings

Land at Fair Value 17,104        17,384     
Buildings and Infrastructure at Fair Value 68,768        70,520     
Accumulated depreciation 5,858          6,190       
Total Land and Buildings 80,014        81,714     
Leasehold Improvements

Leasehold Improvements at Fair Value 3,971          3,971       
Accumulated amortisation 2,746          2,349       
Total Leasehold Improvements 1,225          1,622       
Plant and Equipment

Core Trays at Fair Value 10,801        10,778     
Accumulated depreciation - Core Trays 1,267          633          
Plant & Equipment at Fair Value 46,691        44,249     
Accumulated depreciation - Plant and Equipment 30,042        31,410     
Total Plant and Equipment 26,183        22,984     
Total Property, Plant and Equipment 107,422      106,320   

Reconciliation of Property, Plant and Equipment

The following table shows the movement of Property, Plant and Equipment during 2004-05

 Land 
Buildings and 
Infrastructure

 Leasehold 
Improvements

 Core Trays 
 Plant and 
Equipment

Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Carrying Amount 1 July 2004 17,384    64,330         1,622             10,145                    12,839        106,320

Additions -         690              -                23                           10,125        10,838

Disposals (280)       -              -                -                          (740)           (1,020)

Write-off Non-Current Assets -         -              -                -                          (147)           (147)

Depreciation/amortisation expense -         (2,029)         (397)              (634)                        (3,581)         (6,641)

Other Movements -         (81)              -                -                          (1,847)         (1,928)

Carrying Amount 30 June 2005 17,104    62,910       1,225           9,534                     16,649        107,422

24. Intangibles

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Software

Computer software 5,676          1,801       
Accumulated amortisation 1,784          1,055       
Total Computer Software 3,892          746          

Reconciliation of Intangibles

The following table shows the movement of Intangibles during 2004-05
2005 2004

$' 000 $' 000

Carrying amount 1 July 746             390
Additions 1,042          551
Amortisation expense (729)           (195)

Other Movements (1)
2,833          -           

Carrying amount 30 June 3,892          746

(1) Recognition of internally developed software that had been expensed in previous financial years.
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25. Other Assets

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Current Assets

Worker's compensation recoveries 11 17            
Prepayments 84 491          
Total Current Other Assets 95 508          

Non-Current:

Worker's compensation recoveries 37 53            
Total Non-Current Other Assets 37 53            
Total Other Assets 132             561          

26. Payables

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Current

Creditors 1,183          1,071       
Accrued expenses 5,466          2,685       
Accrued interest on borrowings 135             181          
Commonwealth excise funding -             50            
Employee on-costs 1,225          2,244       
Total Current Payables 8,009          6,231       
Non-Current:

Employee on-costs 2,137          1,962       
Total Non-Current Payables 2,137          1,962       
Total Payables 10,146        8,193       

Government / Non Government Payables

Payables to SA Government entities

Accrued Expenses 1,015          597          
Accrued interest on borrowings 135             181          
Employee On-Costs 3,320          4,083       
Total Payables to SA Government entities 4,470          4,861       

Payables to Non SA Government entities

Creditors 1,183          1,071       
Accrued Expenses 4,451          2,088       
Employee On-Costs 42 123          
Commonwealth excise funding -             50            
Total Payables to Non SA Government entities 5,676          3,332       
Total Payables 10,146        8,193       

27. A Employee Benefits

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Current

Annual Leave 6,027          5,451       
Long Service Leave 465             527          
Accrued Salaries and Wages 1,255          876          
Total Current Employee Benefits 7,747          6,854       
Non-Current

Long Service Leave 18,909        17,084     
Total Non-Current Employee Benefits 18,909        17,084     
Total Employee Benefits 26,656        23,938     
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27. B Employee Benefits and Related On-costs

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Accrued Salaries and Wages

On-costs included in payables - current (note 26) 204             156          
Provision for employee benefits - current (note 27A) 1,255          876          

1,459          1,032       
Annual Leave

On-costs included in payables - current (note 26) 968             885          
Provision for employee benefits - current (note 27A) 6,027          5,451       

6,995          6,336       
Long Service Leave

On-costs included in payables - current (note 26) 53 61            
Provision for employee benefits - current (note 27A) 465             527          

518             588          
On-costs included in payables - non-current (note 26) 2,137          1,962       
Provision for employee benefits - non-current (note 27A) 18,909        17,084     

21,046        19,046     

Aggregate Employee Benefits and Related On-costs 30,018        27,002     

28. Interest Bearing Liabilities

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

(a) Borrowings consists of:
Indebtedness to SA Government Financing Authority 5,581          7,487       
Indebtedness to the Treasurer 1,461          1,996       

47               54            
Total Borrowings 7,089          9,537       

(b) Balance of Borrowings Outstanding Classifications:
Current 466             443          
Non-Current 6,623          9,094       

Total Borrowings 7,089          9,537       

29. Provisions

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Current

Provision for Workers Compensation 318             316          
Total Current Provisions 318             316          
Non-Current

Provision for Workers Compensation 814             732          
Total Non-Current Provisions 814             732          
Total Provisions 1,132          1,048       

Carrying amount at 1 July 1,048          1,406       
Increase (Decrease) in the provision 84 (358)         
Carrying amount at 30 June 1,132          1,048       

30. Other Liabilities

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Current

Unearned Revenue 3,846          2,444       
Total Current Other Liabilities 3,846          2,444       
Non-Current

Lease incentive 1,225          1,622       
Total Non-Current Other Liabilities 1,225          1,622       
Total Other Liabilities 5,071          4,066       

Indebtedness to Department of Trade and Economic Development 
(formerly Department for Business Manufacturing and Trade)
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31. Equity

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Accumulated Surplus 130,413      122,897   
Asset Revaluation Reserve 20,286        20,286     
Committed Grants Reserve 1,688          5,961       
General Reserve -             2,000       
Total Equity 152,387      151,144   

Accumulated Surplus

Balance at the 1 July 122,897      121,725   
Operating Surplus (Deficit) 1,243          1,073       
Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets due to administrative restructure -             (5,147)      
Transfers from reserves 6,273          5,246       
Balance at 30 June 130,413      122,897   

Asset Revaluation Reserve

Balance at 1 July 20,286        20,286     
Balance at 30 June 20,286        20,286     

Committed Grants Reserve

Balance at 1 July 5,961          11,207     
Transfers to accumulated surplus (4,273)         (5,246)      
Balance at 30 June 1,688          5,961       

General Reserve

Balance at 1 July 2,000          2,000       
Transfers to accumulated surplus (2,000)         -           
Balance at 30 June -             2,000       
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32. Financial Instruments

(a) Terms, conditions and accounting policies

(i) Financial Assets
Cash is available at call and is recorded at nominal value.

Receivables are normally settled within 30 days.
(ii) Financial Liabilities

(b) Credit risk

(c) Interest rate risk

Financial Instrument

1 year or 

less

Over 1 to 5 

years

More than 5 

years

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 Percent

Financial Assets:
60,767   -         -            -              -                         60,767        5.35

550      -         -            -              11,129                   11,679        -

-       -         -            -              3,330                     3,330          -

-       1,312      6,910         176             57                          8,455          7.79

-       -         -            -              414 414             -

61,317   1,312      6,910         176             14,930                   84,645        

Financial Liabilities:
-       3,563      3,334         192             -                         7,089          5.92

135      -         -            -              10,011                   10,146        -

135      3,563      3,334         192             10,011                   17,235        

Financial Instrument

1 year or 
less

Over 1 to 5 
years

More than 5 
years

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 Percent

Financial Assets:
67,910 -         -              -                -                          67,910        5.10

673      -         -              -                3,605                      4,278          -
-       -         -              -                2,657                      2,657          -
-       5,753      4,959           777               84                           11,573        7.44
-       -         -              -                416                         416             -

68,583 5,753      4,959           777               6,762                      86,834        
Financial Liabilities:

-       5,996      3,291           250               -                          9,537          5.84
181      -         -              -                8,012                      8,193          -
181      5,996      3,291           250               8,012                      17,730        

(d) Net fair value

Financial instruments are valued at the carrying amount as per the Statement of Financial Position which approximates the 
net fair value. The carrying amount of financial assets approximates net fair value due to their short-term to maturity or 
being receivable on demand. The carrying amount of financial liabilities is considered to be a reasonable estimate of net fair
value.

Loans to Rural Sector
Loans other

Borrowings
Payables

Weighted
Average
Effective

Interest Rate

Cash
Receivables
Investments

Floating
Interest

Rate

Fixed Interest Maturing in

Non-Interest Bearing  2004 Total 

Loans other

Borrowings
Payables

2004

Cash
Receivables
Investments
Loans to Rural Sector

The Department's maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date 
to recognise financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for doubtful debts, as disclosed in the Statement 
of Financial Position.

The Department's exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk a financial instrument's value will fluctuate as a result of
changes in market interest rates and the effective weighted average interest rate on those financial assets and financial 
liabilities, is as follows:

2005

Floating

Interest

Rate

Fixed Interest Maturing in

Non-Interest Bearing  2005 Total 

Weighted

Average

Effective

Interest Rate

Receivables are raised for all goods and services provided for which payment has not been received.

Creditors and accruals are raised for all amounts billed but unpaid. Sundry creditors are normally settled within 30 days.
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33. Commitments

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Operating Lease Commitments

Not later than one year 4,041          4,208       
Later than one year and not later than five years 7,059          9,489       
Later than five years 149             135          
Total Operating Lease Commitments 11,249        13,832     

Capital Commitments

Not later than one year 441             -           
Later than one year and not later than five years -             -           
Later than five years -             -           
Total Capital Commitments 441             -           

34. Restructuring of Administrative Arrangements

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Net Expenses from Restructuring of Administrative Arrangements

Department of Trade and Economic Development (DTED) -             2,234
Essential Services Commission of South Australia (ESCOSA) -             (108)
Department of Water, Land and Biodiversity Conservation (DWLBC) -             (7,273)

Total Net Expenses from Restructuring of Administrative Arrangements -             (5,147)

Transferred
to ESCOSA 

1.7.03
Transferred to 

DWLBC 18.6.04 

Transferred
from DTED 

1.1.04 Total
Assets: $000 $000 $000 $000

Cash (104)            (7,273)                    2,653          (4,724)
Plant and equipment (4)                -                         28              24

Total Assets (108)            (7,273)                    2,681          (4,700)
Liabilities:

Employee Entitlements -              -                         447             447
Total Liabilities -              -                         447             447
Net Assets (108)            (7,273)                    2,234          (5,147)

   DTED 1.7.03 to 
31.12.03

PIRSA
1.01.04 to 

30.6.04

Total

$000 $000 $000
Revenue 903                        2,234          3,137
Expenditure 899                        1,818          2,717
Result                             4              416          420 

Summary of Total Revenues and Expenses from Ordinary Activities for the period of 1 July 2003 to 30 June 2004 for the 
Activities Transferred to the Department

Capital commitments relate to the purchase of a replacement offshore fishing patrol vessel.

The net revenues/(expenses) relating to the restructuring of Administrative arrangements recognised 
in the Statement of Financial Performance are shown below.

During the reporting period ending 30 June 2004, assets and liabilities amounting to $4.7 million and $0.447 million respectively
were transferred to (from) the Department as summarised below.

Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases at the reporting date are not recognised as 
payables in the financial statements, these are payable as follows:

Operating leases relate to property, which are non-cancellable leases, with rental payable monthly in advance. Contingent 
rental provisions within the lease agreements allow for the review of lease payments every two years. Any changes in lease 
payments would be based on market rates. Options exist to renew the leases at the end of their terms.

Capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting date but are not yet recognised as liabilities in the 
financial report, are payable as follows:
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35. Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Contingent Assets

Contingent Liabilities

36. Trust Funds

The Trust Funds of the Department are:

Pleuro Pneumonia Fund

Extractive Areas Rehabilitation Fund

2005 2004
Operations $000 $000

Revenue                    4                      1,124 1,128          1,121
Less: Expenditure                   -                           946 946             629

Net Operating Surplus 4                 178                        182             492
Net Assets

Cash at Bank 75               4,680                     4,755          4,576
Add Receivables -              1                            1 -
Less Payables -              -                         -             2

Net Assets 75               4,681                     4,756          4,574

Funds

Balance of funds 1 July 71               4,503                     4,574          4,082
Add: Net receipts 4                 178                        182             492

Fund Balance 30 June 75               4,681                     4,756          4,574

Commitments in place at 30 June -              1,311                     1,311          1,123

This Fund consists of monies belonging to all State Governments and the Federal Government. The Fund is controlled by the 
Standing Committee of Agriculture and all expenditure is subject to the approval of the Chairman.  Funds are to be used 
principally for publication of the history of the Pleuro Pneumonia Eradication Campaign and are held in a Section 21 Deposit 
Account.

This Fund is credited with amounts by way of royalty on extractive minerals and is used for the rehabilitation of land disturbed
by mining operations.  The funds collected are used to limit damage to any aspect of the environment by such mining 
operations in addition to the promotion of research into methods of mining engineering and practice by which environmental 
damage might be reduced.

Aggregate details of the transactions and balances relating to these Trust Funds for the year ended 30 June are as follows:

Pleuro

Pneumonia

Fund

Extractive Areas 

Rehabilit-ation Fund

Total

The Department owns intangible assets consisting of intellectual property.  These include core samples provided by the mineral 
and petroleum industries, which are stored by the Department, and research developed in house or in conjunction with industry.
These assets are not recognised in the financial statements due to difficulties in determining reliable fair values.

The nature of activities that the Department is involved in can create potential exposure to environmental, fisheries and 
petroleum matters, which the Department may be required to remedy in the future.  The Department has some potential 
outstanding litigation in a number of these areas, specifically resulting from interpretation of past mining practices and 
petroleum exploration.
Certain matters associated with contaminants such as contaminated land and hazardous materials have been identified and 
are managed in accordance with recognised standards.  This includes the environmental liabilities of past mining practices 
where there is no longer an active licence.  For new activities, it is a lease condition that rehabilitation be undertaken by the
leaseholder before a lease is surrendered.  The Department’s responsibility is to ensure that a lease is not surrendered before
appropriate rehabilitation has occurred, thus minimising the likelihood of future environmental risks to Government.  Work is 
progressing to determine any liabilities that may be associated with this role.  At this time, the financial impact cannot be 
reliably estimated.
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37. Cashflow Reconciliation

2005 2004
$000 $000

Reconciliation of Cash – Cash at year end as per

Statement of Cash Flows 60,767        67,910     
Statement of Financial Position 60,767        67,910     

Net Cost of Services from Ordinary Activities (127,571)     (106,804)
less Revenue from SA Government 128,814      107,877   
Decrease in net assets due to restructuring -             (5,147)      
Add (Less) Non-cash items:

Depreciation and amortisation 7,370          6,703       
Loss on disposal of assets 314             454          
Other movements in property, plant and equipment (764)           (1,125)      
Prior Period adjustments (3,917)         -           
Doubtful debts expense (47)             (154)         
Restructuring expenses -             423          
Other non-cash items (63)             (589)         
Changes in Assets / Liabilities (net of restructure transfer)

Decrease in receivables (7,741)         1,920       
Decrease in inventories 545             298          
(Increase) Decrease in other assets 407             (366)         
Increase (Decrease) in payables and provisions 466             (374)         
Increase in employee benefits 4,604          2,910       
Increase in other liabilities 1,402          603          
Net Cash provided by Operating Activities 3,819          6,629       

38. Significant Events after Balance Date

The functions transferring from the Department are Energy SA and the Office of the Technical Regulator.

Reconciliation of Net Cost of Services to Net Cash provided by Operating Activities :

It should be noted that, as of 1 July 2005, there are functions transferring between the Department and the Department for 
Transport Energy and Infrastructure.  The effects of these transfers will be reported in the financial statements for the year 
ending 30 June 2006.

The functions that are transferring to the Department are Planning SA, the Office of Local Government, the Office of the North,
the Office of the North West, the Office of the Upper Spencer Gulf, Flinders Ranges and the Outback, the Office of the Murray, 
and the Office for the Southern Suburbs.
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2005 2004
Note $' 000 $' 000

Revenues from Ordinary Activities

Revenues from SA Government A5 92,214         91,086          
User charges and fees A6 18,044         16,556          
Advances and grants A7 3,049           1,698            
Interest 399              323               
Levies collection A8 921              1,541            
Commonwealth rebates A9 3,021           4,766            
Natural Gas revenue 150,167       191,186        
Royalties 101,002       75,177          
Other revenues A10 1,263           2,125            
Assets Received Free of Charge 160              -                
Prior year revenue adjustment A11 (2,387)          -                

Total revenues from ordinary activities 367,853       384,458        

Expenses from Ordinary Activities

Employee expenses A12 312              294               
Supplies and services A13 17,746         18,186          
Grants and subsidies A14 93,675         90,383          
Commonwealth rebates A15 2,091           3,238            
Levies Payments A16 1,351           894               
Payment to Cooper Basin Gas Producers 150,167       191,186        
Payment of Royalties to Consolidated Account 101,002       75,177          
Other expenses 29                5                   

Total expenses from ordinary activities 366,373       379,363        

Operating Surplus 1,480           5,095            
Increase/(Decrease) in the Asset Revaluation Reserve 472              -                

1,952            5,095            

The above Statement should be read in conjunction with accompanying notes.

PRIMARY INDUSTRIES AND RESOURCES - ADMINISTERED ITEMS SCHEDULE

STATEMENT OF ADMINISTERED FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

Total Changes in Equity other than those resulting from 

transaction with State Government as owners



PIRSA ANNUAL REPORT 2004–05 110

PRIMARY INDUSTRIES AND RESOURCES - ADMINISTERED ITEMS SCHEDULE

2005 2004
Note $' 000 $' 000

Current Assets

Cash A17 28,733         28,428          
Receivables A18 1,001           2,448            

Total Current Assets 29,734          30,876          
Non-Current Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment A19 632              -                
Total Non-Current Assets 632               -                
Total Assets 30,366          30,876          

Current Liabilities

Payables A20 11,687         14,167          
Advances A21 650              600               
Other liabilities 671              103               

Total Current Liabilities 13,008          14,870          
Non-Current Liabilities

Advances A21 637              1,237            
Total  Non-Current Liabilities 637               1,237            
Total Liabilities 13,645          16,107          
Net Assets 16,721          14,769          

Equity

Accumulated surplus 16,249         14,769          
Asset revaluation reserve 472              -                

TOTAL EQUITY A22 16,721          14,769          

The above Statement should be read in conjunction with accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF ADMINISTERED FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 30 June 2005
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2005 2004
Note $' 000 $' 000

Cash flows from Operating Activities

Cash Inflows

Revenues from Government 92,214         91,015          
User charges and fees 19,516         16,556          
Advances and grants 2,949           1,698            
Interest 393              314               
Levies Collection 921              1,541            
Commonwealth Rebates 3,021           4,766            
Natural Gas Revenue 150,167       191,186        
Royalties 101,670       75,177          
Other revenues 1,245           111               
Prior year revenue adjustment (2,305)          -                

Total Cash Inflows 369,791       382,364        
Cash Outflows

Employee expenses (312)             (291)              
Supplies and services (17,845)        (17,389)         
Grants and subsidies (94,697)        (89,083)         
Commonwealth rebates (2,091)          (3,238)           
Payment of Royalties to Consolidated Account (102,459) (63,286)         
Levies payments (1,351)          (894)              
Payment to Cooper Basin Gas Producers (150,167) (191,186)
Other expenses (14)               (5)                  

Total Cash Outflows (368,936) (365,372)
Net Cash Inflows from Operating Activities A23 855              16,992          
Cash flows from Financing Activities

Cash Inflows

Proceeds of advances to PIRSA 50                -                
Total Cash Inflows 50                -                
Cash Outflows

Repayment of advances to PIRSA (600)             (600)              
Total Cash Outflows (600)             (600)              
Net Cash (Outflows) from financing activities (550)             (600)              

NET INCREASE IN CASH HELD 305              16,392          
CASH AT 1 JULY 28,428         12,036          
CASH AT 30 JUNE 28,733         28,428          

As at 30 June 2005

ADMINISTERED OF STATEMENT CASH FLOWS
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SA Sheep 
Industry

Levy Fund

Grains
Industry

Levy Fund

SA Cattle 
Industry

Fund

Gulf St 
Vincent
Prawn
Fishery
Fund

SA Pig 
Industry

Fund

Fisheries
Research and 
Development

Fund

Langhorne
Creek Wine 

Industry
Fund

Riverland
Wine

Industry
Fund

McLaren
Vale Wine 
Industry

Fund

Adelaide
Hills Wine 
Industry

Fund

SA Apiary 
Industry

Fund

Marine
Scalefish
Industry

Fund

Renewable
Remote
Power

Generation
Fund

Photovoltaic
Rebate Fund

Natural
Gas

Authority
SA

Energy
Management
Task Force 

SA Water 
Corp. CSO 

Subsidy

Royalties Aquaculture
Resource

Mgt

Petroleum
Products
Subsidy

Other
Funds

Total

2005
$'000

2005
$'000

2005
$'000

2005
$'000

2005
$'000

2005
$'000

2005
$'000

2005
$'000

2005
$'000

2005
$'000

2005
$'000

2005
$'000

2005
$'000

2005
$'000

2005
$'000

2005
$'000

2005
$'000

2005
$'000

2005
$'000

2005
$'000

2005
$'000

2005
$'000

Administered Revenues from Ordinary Activities

Revenues

Appropriation -            -          -           -           -        -               -            -         -          -          -          -          -             -            -         -               91,998    -         -             -          216       92,214       
User charges and fees 2,674        -          275          -           155       11,787         131            573        370         211         26           -          -             -            -         -               -          -         1,816         -          26         18,044       
Advances and grants -            -          -           -           -        -               -            -         -          -          -          -          -             -            -         3,045           -          -         -             -          4           3,049         
Interest 76             11           135          1              80         -               5                18          11           7             9             2              -             -            7            -               -          -         31              -          6           399            
Levies collection -            724         -           -           -        -               -            -         -          -          -          -          -             -            -         -               -          -         -             -          197       921            
Commonwealth rebates -            -          -           -           -        -               -            -         -          -          -          -          830            2,191         -         -               -          -         -             -          -        3,021         
Natural Gas revenue -            -          -           -           -        -               -            -         -          -          -          -          -             -            150,167 -               -          -         -             -          -        150,167     
Royalties -            -          -           -           -        -               -            -         -          -          -          -          -             -            -         -               -          101,002 -             -          -        101,002     
Other Revenue 86             -          37            -           -        303              -            -         -          -          -          -          -             -            -         -               -          -         -             266         571       1,263         
Assets Received Free of Charge -              -           -           -           160         -                 -              -           -            -            -            -          -              -              -           -                 -            -           -               -            -         160            
Prior year revenue adjustment 4               1             -           -           - (82)               -            -         -          -          -          -          - (563)          -         -               -          -         -             - (1,747)   (2,387)        

Total Administered Revenues 2,840          736          447          1              395         12,008           136              591          381           218           35             2              830             1,628           150,174   3,045             91,998      101,002   1,847           266           (727)       367,853     

Administered Expenses from Ordinary Activities

Expenses

Employee expenses 13             -          -           -           -        83                -            -         -          -          -          -          -             -            -         -               -          -         -             -          216       312            
Supplies and services 1,395        -          387          -           157       11,875         10              12          22           6 (1)            40            -             -            -         1,854           -          -         1,396         -          593       17,746       
Grants & Subsidies 168           -          -           -           102       -               111            590        280         160         -          -          -             -            -         -               91,998    -         -             266         -        93,675       
Commonwealth rebates -            -          -           -           -        -               -            -         -          -          -          -          817            1,274         -         -               -          -         -             -          -        2,091         
Commonwealth levies -            1,185      -           -           -        -               -            -         -          -          -          -          -             -            -         -               -          -         -             -          166       1,351         
Payment to Cooper Basin Gas 
Producers

-              -           -           -           -          -                 -              -           -            -            -            -          -              -              150,167   -                 -            -           -               -            -         150,167     

Payment of Royalties to 
Consolidated Account

-              -           -           -           -          -                 -              -           -            -            -            -          -              -              -           -                 -            101,002   -               -            -         101,002     

Prior Period Expenses -            -          -           -           -        -               -            -         -          -          -          -          3                -            -         -               -          -         -             -          -        3                
Other expenses -            -          5              -           15         6                  -            -         -          -          -          -          -             -            -         -               -          -         -             -          -        26              

Total Administered Expenses 1,576          1,185       392          -           274         11,964           121              602          302           166           (1)              40            820             1,274           150,167   1,854             91,998      101,002   1,396           266           975        366,373     

Administered Surplus (Deficit) 1,264          (449)         55            1              121         44                  15                (11)           79             52             36             (38)          10               354              7              1,191             -            -           451              -            (1,702)    1,480         

PRIMARY INDUSTRIES AND RESOURCES - ADMINISTERED ITEMS SCHEDULE

Program Schedule of  Administered Revenues and Expenses

For the Year Ended 30 June 2005
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A1. The Department

A1.1 Purpose and Funding

A1.2 Response to 2003-04 Audit Findings

A2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A2.1 The Reporting Entity

A2.2 Basis of Accounting

A2.3 Valuation of Non-Current Assets

PRIMARY INDUSTRIES AND RESOURCES - ADMINISTERED ITEMS SCHEDULE

Notes to the Administered Items Financial Staements

The Department administers, but does not control, certain resources on behalf of the South Australian 
Government, the Commonwealth Government, private sector organisations and other State Government 
Departments.  These activities are classified as administered items as the Department has no control 
over these monies and is unable to use the monies to achieve its own objectives

The principal sources of funds for the Department’s administered programs consists of monies 
appropriated by Parliament, licence receipts, Commonwealth grants and rebates, fees and levies, 
Royalties and Natural Gas Revenue.

In response to the audit qualification on the 2003-04 financial statements the Department has invested 
significant effort in reviewing, understanding and resolving the underlying issues that led to the 
qualifications.
In addition to addressing the issues raised, the Department has implemented further key control 
enhancements to ensure the process improvements are maintained in the future

The reporting entity is disclosed in note 2.2 in the Department's Financial Statements.

The Administered Items Financial Statements represents the operations of the Department in respect of 
Administered Items for the year 1 July 2004 to 30 June 2005.  Unless otherwise stated, the policies 
outlined in Note 2 of the Department's financial statements apply to the Administered Items Financial 
Statements Schedule.

Land and buildings were independently valued by Tony Richardson Valuation Services Pty Ltd as at 22 
July 2004, on the basis of fair value as defined in AASB 1041 'Revaluation of Non-Current Assets'.
Buildings include ‘infrastructure’ which represents roads, fencing, signage etc.
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A3

Impact of adopting AIFRS

Known or reliably 

estimated impact on 

the financial report

Reconciliation of key aggregates AASB 108 Accounting 
Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates 
and Errors

$'000 $'000 $'000

Operating Surplus 1,480                 2,387                         3,867
Asset Revaluation Reserve 472                    472
Opening Equity 14,769               (2,387)                        12,382
Closing Equity 16,721               -                             16,721

Total Assets 30,366               -                             30,366
Total Liabilities 13,645               -                             13,645
Net Assets 16,721               -                             16,721

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 855                    2,328                         3,183
Cash Flows from Investing Activities -                    -                             -
Cash Flows from Financing Activities (550)                  -                             (550)
Opening Cash 28,428               (2,328)                        26,100
Closing Cash 28,733               -                             28,733

AASB 108 'Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Error'

AASB 5 'Non-current Assets held for Sale and Discontinued Operations'

Impact of Adopting Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 

In accordance with requirements of AASB 1047 Disclosing the Impacts of Adopting Australian Equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the Department of Treasury and Finance Model Financial 
Report, a table has been prepared summarising any known or reliably estimated information about the impacts 
on the financial report had it been prepared using the AIFRS. 

Amount currently 

reported per 

Generally

Accepted

Accounting

Principles

Amount to be 

reported after 

adopting AIFRS

This standard requires that prior period errors must be corrected retrospectively by restating comparative 
amounts for the prior periods presented or, if the error occurred in a period prior to those presented in the 
financial report, restate the opening balances of the identified assets, liabilities and equity.

During 2004/05, the Department recognised $2.304m in prior period adjustments in the statement of financial 
performance mainly as a result of completing a full reconciliation of the Department's Cash at Bank account.

Under the AIFRS, these errors would be reversed out of the net cost of services and reflected in the opening 
balances of the identified assets and liabilities.

The following standard will have some impact on the financial statements, mainly in disclosure 

requirements, although it is expected that the impact will not be significant.

This standard requires that assets meeting the criteria in the standard, should be classified as current assets 
'held for sale' on the face of the balance sheet. As at the 30 June 2005, the Department has land and buildings 
valued at $0.632m which would be classified as 'held for sale' under this standard. The effect on the financial 
statements will be to reclassify these assets from Non-current to current.
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A4. Administered Funds of the Department

SA Sheep Industry Fund

Grains Industry Levy Fund

SA Cattle Industry Fund

Gulf of St Vincent Prawn Fishery Levy

SA Pig Industry Fund

Fisheries Research & Development Fund

Langhorne Creek Wine Industry Fund

Riverland Wine Industry Fund

The Program Schedules provide details of expenses, revenues, assets and liabilities applicable to the 
administered funds of the Department.  Information about the Department’s administered funds is set out below.

The South Australian Sheep Industry Fund was established by Regulations under the Primary Industry Funding 
Schemes Act 1998.  The purposes of the Fund are to make financial assistance or ex gratia payments to 
farmers in line with the Regulations, undertake projects as recommended by the South Australian Sheep 
Advisory Group (SASAG) and provide contributions to the Dog Fence Board towards the maintenance or 
improvement of the dog-proof fence.

Two voluntary levies are collected from grain producers under the Commonwealth Wheat Marketing Act 1989.
A three-cent levy is collected and returned quarterly to the South Australian Farmers Federation.  A thirteen-
cent levy is collected and returned quarterly to the South Australian Grains Industry Trust fund.

The South Australian Cattle Industry Fund was established by Regulations under the Primary Industry Funding 
Schemes Act 1998 on 1 July 2000.  The primary purposes of the fund are to undertake programs relating to 
cattle, cattle products or any other aspect of the cattle industry, and payment of compensation and other 
amounts in line with Regulations.

The fund was established for the purpose of facilitating transactions associated with the voluntary buy back of 
Prawn Fishery licenses in the Gulf St Vincent under the Gulf St Vincent Prawn Fishery Rationalisation Act 1987.

The South Australian Pig Industry Fund was established by Regulations under the Primary Industry Funding 
Schemes Act 1998 on 1 October 2001.  The primary purposes of the fund are to undertake research, 
investigations or other programs relating to pigs, pig products or any other aspect of the pig industry and 
payment of compensation in line with Regulations.

Under the Fisheries Act 1982, all commercial licence fees received by the Department are required to be paid 
into this fund. The primary purposes of the fund are to carry out research, exploration, experiments, works or 
operations for the conservation, management or enhancement of living resources found in waters to which the 
Fisheries Act applies or promotion of any fishing, fish farming or fish processing activity.

This fund was established by Regulations under the Primary Industry Funding Schemes Act 1998 on 14 June 
2001.  The primary purposes of the fund are to promote the Langhorne Creek wine industry, undertake research
and development and encourage communication and co-operation between participants in the Langhorne 
Creek wine industry.

This fund was established by Regulations under the Primary Industry Funding Schemes Act 1998 on 14 June 
2001.  The primary purposes of the fund are to promote the Riverland wine industry, undertake research and 
development and encourage communication and co-operation between participants in the Riverland wine 
industry.
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McLaren Vale Wine Industry Fund

Adelaide Hills Wine Industry Fund

SA Apiary Industry Fund

Marine Scalefish Industry Fund

Renewable Remote Power Generation Fund

Photovoltaic Rebate Fund

Natural Gas Authority SA

Energy Management Task Force

SA Water CSO Subsidy

Royalties

This fund was established by Regulations under the Primary Industry Funding Schemes Act 1998 on 5 June 
2003.  The primary purposes of the fund are to promote the McLaren Vale wine industry, undertake research 
and development and encourage communication and co-operation between participants in the McLaren Vale 
wine industry.

This fund was established by Regulations under the Primary Industry Funding Schemes Act 1998 on 8 August 
2003.  The primary purposes of the fund are to promote the Adelaide Hills wine industry, undertake research 
and development and encourage communication and co-operation between participants in the Adelaide Hills 
wine industry.

This fund was established by Regulations under the Primary Industry Funding Schemes Act 1998 on 31 
January 2001.  The primary purpose of the fund is to undertake programs relating to the apiary industry or 
apiary products or any other aspect of the apiary industry recommended by the Apiary Industry Advisory Group.

This fund was established by Regulations under the Primary Industry Funding Schemes Act 1998  on 16 
January 2003.  The primary purposes of the fund are to make payments to organisations which represent the 
marine scalefish industry in relation to the promotion, development and environmental management of the 
industry and make payments for other purposes to benefit the marine scalefish industry.

This is a Commonwealth program administered for the State by Energy SA with the aim to encourage greater 
utilisation of renewable energy in South Australia.  The fund provides rebates to replace or augment diesel 
generators with renewable generation technology.

This is a Commonwealth program administered for the State by Energy SA with the aim to encourage greater 
utilisation of renewable energy in South Australia.  The fund provides rebates for grid-connected or stand-alone 
systems on residential and community buildings.

This fund was established to purchase natural gas from gas producers and sell to AGL Wholesale Gas (SA) 
and Origin Energy.  This fund provides an important link in the State's gas supply chain and facilitates dialogue 
between the producers, retailers and the pipeline contractors.

EMTF Central Fund receives contributions from all States and is used to fund projects involving energy 
efficiency and greenhouse gas reduction measures approved by the national body.

The Department receives appropriation to make payment to SA Water representing Community Service 
Obligations for the provision of country water and wastewater services, administration of the River Murray levy 
and water conservation initiatives.

The Department receives royalties levied on minerals and petroleum production on behalf of the State 
Government.  The royalties received are deposited into the Consolidated Account.
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Aquaculture Resource Management Fund

Petroleum Products Subsidy

Other Funds

The fund, established under the Aquiculture Act 2001, came into operation on 11 November 2002. Under the 
Act, fees are paid into the fund and are to be utilised primarily for the purposes of any investigation or other 
projects relating to the management of aquaculture resources.

The scheme operates under the Petroleum Products Subsidy Act 1965 and provides subsidies to registered 
distributors of eligible petroleum products. The scheme is fully funded by the Commonwealth under the States 
Grants Petroleum Products Act 1965 and applies to all States. In South Australia, PIRSA is responsible for 
administering the scheme.

This is the total of all other administered funds including the payment of the Minister's salary and allowances, 
and production receipts from companies for forwarding to native title claimants.
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A5. Revenues from SA Government

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

91,998         90,819         
Appropriations under other Acts 216              267              
Total Revenues from SA Government 92,214         91,086         

A6. User Charges and Fees

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Industry Contribution 3,378           2,609           
Fishing licences 13,004         12,326         
Fees and Levies 1,662           1,621           
Total Users Fees and Charges

 (1)
18,044         16,556         

(1) Fees and Charges are from Non SA Government sources

A7. Advances and Grants

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Energy Management Task Force 3,045           1,691           
Agricultural Research 4                  7                  
Total Advances and Grants 3,049           1,698           

A8. Levies Collection

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Commonwealth Levy Collection 849              1,477           
72                64                

Total Levies Collection 921              1,541           

A9. Commonwealth Rebates

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Renewable Remote Power Generation 830              2,029           
Photovoltaic Rebate Claims 2,191           2,737           
Total Commonwealth Rebates 3,021           4,766           

A10.Other Revenue

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Reimbursements of salaries and project costs 285              57                
Other 978              2,068           
Total Other Revenue 1,263           2,125           

PRIMARY INDUSTRIES AND RESOURCES - ADMINISTERED ITEMS SCHEDULE

Appropriations from Consolidated Account pursuant to the Appropriation Act 2004

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development Report Levy Collection
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A11.Prior Year Revenue Adjustment

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Cash at Bank reconciliation adjustments (1)
(2,309)          -               

Accumulated Fund adjustment (78)               -               
Total Prior Year Revenue Adjustment (2,387)          -               

(1)

A12.Employee Expenses

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Salaries and wages 216              271              
Employment on-costs 12                2                  
Board fees 84                21                
Total Employee Expenses 312              294              

A13.Supplies and Services

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Supplies and services provided by entities within the SA Government

Professional services 310              -               

Distribution of licence and lease fees  (2)
9,474           11,193         

12                29                
Total Supplies and Services - SA Government entities 9,796           11,222         

Supplies and services provided by entities external to the SA Government

Professional services (1)
2,486           2,193           

Operational and administrative costs 4,124           3,794           

Distribution of licence and lease fees  (2)
1,194           944              

Other 146              33                
Total Supplies and Services - Non SA Government entities 7,950           6,964           
Total Supplies and Services 17,746         18,186         

(1) Includes consultancies costs which are further broken down below.
(2)

No. $'000 No. $'000
Below $10,000 37 169 21                54                
Between $10,000 and $50,000 21 444 20                463              
Above $50,000 6 1,296 8                  1,439           
Total paid / payable to the consultants engaged 64 1,909 49                1,956           

Adjustments required to cash at bank resulting from reconciliations undertaken to address audit issues raised in the 2003-04 audit of the 
financial statements mainly reflecting the reversal of revenue recognised twice in the previous financial year.

The number and dollar amount of Consultancies

paid/payable (included in supplies and services 

expense) that fell within the following bands: 2005 2004

Audit fees

Represents the distribution of licence and lease fees from the Fisheries Research and Development Fund and the Aquaculture 
Resource Management Fund to the fishing industry and the Department. 
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A14.Grants and Subsidies

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Grants and subsidies paid to entities within the SA Government

SA Water Corporation CSO Subsidy 91,998         89,535         
Total Grants and Subsidies - SA Government entities 91,998         89,535         

Grants and subsidies paid to entities external to the SA Government

Riverland Wine Industry Fund 590              491              
McLaren Vale Wine Industry Fund 280              170              
Petroleum Products Subsidy 266              -               
Sheep Industry Fund 168              -               
Adelaide Hills Wine Industry Fund 160              70                
Langhorne Creek Wine Industry Fund 111              100              
Pig Industry Fund 102              -               
Cattle Industry Fund -               5                  
Marine Scalefish Industry Fund -               12                

Total Grants and Subsidies - Non SA Government entities 1,677           848              
Total Grants and Subsidies 93,675         90,383         

A15.Commonwealth Rebates

2005 2004
$' 000 $' 000

Renewable Remote Power Generation Program 1,274           1,601           
Photovoltaic Rebate Claims 817              1,637           
Total Commonwealth Rebate Payments 2,091           3,238           

A16.Levies Payments

2005 2004
$'000 $'000

Commonwealth Levy Payments 1,279           832              
72                62

Total Levies Payments 1,351           894              

A17.Cash

2005 2004
$'000 $'000

Deposits with the Treasurer 28,733         28,428         
Total Cash 28,733         28,428         

A18.Receivables

2005 2004
$'000 $'000

Current

Trade accounts receivable 764              2,348           
Accrued interest on loans and deposits 31                24                
Other accrued revenue 206              76                
Total Receivables

 (1)
1,001           2,448           

(1) Includes receivables from other SA Government entities less than $100,000.

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development Report Levy Collection
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A19 Property, Plant and Equipment

2005 2004
$'000 $'000

Land 282              -               
Buildings 350              -               
Total Land and Building 632              -

Total Property, Plant and Equipment 632              -               

Reconciliation of Property, Plant and Equipment

The following table shows the movement of Property, Plant and Equipment during 2004-05
 Land  Buildings Total

$'000 $'000 $'000
Carrying Amount 1 July 2004 -            -               -

Additions 90               70                160              
Revaluation Increment 192             280              472              
Carrying Amount at 30 June 2005 282           350              632

A20.Payables

2005 2004
$'000 $'000

Current

Creditors 67                8                  
Royalties payable to the Consolidated Account 10,434         11,891         
Accrued expenses 1,186           2,268           
Total Current Payables 11,687         14,167         
Total Payables

 (1)
11,687         14,167         

Government / Non Government Payables

Payables to SA Government entities

Royalties payable to the Conslidated Account 10,434         11,891         
Accrued expenses 1,157           2,158           
Total Payables to SA Government entities 11,591         14,049         

Payables to Non SA Government entities

Creditors 67                8                  
Accrued expenses 29                110              
Total Payables to Non SA Government entities 96                118              
Total Payables 11,687         14,167

(1) Liabilities for employee benefits annual leave, long service leave and related on-costs are taken into account in the Departmental
Financial Statements.
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A21.Advances

2005 2004
$'000 $'000

Current

Advances 650              600              
Total Current Advances 650              600              

Non Current

Advances 637              1,237           
Total Non Current Advances 637              1,237           
Total Advances 1,287           1,837

Government / Non Government Advances

Advances paid/payable to SA Government entities

Advances 1,237           1,237
Total Advances paid/payable to SAG entities 1,237           1,237           

Advances paid/payable to Non SA Government entities

Advances 50                -               
Total Advances paid/payable to Non SAG entities 50                -               
Total Advances 1,287           1,237           

A22 Equity

2005 2004
$'000 $'000

Accumulated surplus 16,249         14,769         
Assets Revaluation Reserve 472              -

Total Equity 16,721         14,769         

Accumulated surplus

Balance at 1 July 14,769         9,674           
Operating surplus 1,480           5,095           
Balance at 30 June 16,249         14,769         

Asset revaluation reserve

Balance at 1 July -               -               
Revaluation increment land 192              -               
Revaluation increment buildings 280              -               
Balance at 30 June 472              -               

A23.

2005 2004
$'000 $'000

Reconciliation of Cash – Cash at 30 June as per

Statement of Cash Flows 28,733         28,428         
Statement of Financial Position 28,733         28,428         

Operating Surplus 1,480           5,095           
Changes in Assets / Liabilities

Recognition of Assets (160)             -               
(Increase) Decrease in receivables 1,447           (1,997)          
Increase (Decrease) in payables and provisions (2,480)          13,888         
Increase in other liabilities 568              6                  
Net Cash provided by Operating Activities 855              16,992         

Cash Flow Reconciliation

Reconciliation of Net Cost of Services to Net Cash provided by Operating 

Activities :







PIRSA ANNUAL REPORT 2004–05 125

Rural Industry Adjustment and Development Fund 
Statement of Financial Performance for the year ended 30 June 2005 

2005 2004 
 Note $’000 $’000 
EXPENSES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES:
 Grants 3 496 799
Doubtful debts expense 4 (21) 123
 Interest on borrowings 10 1 1
 Administration 5 50 60
Audit Fee 6 4 5

Total Expenses 530 988

REVENUES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES: 
 Interest revenue 7 910 876
Prior periods adjustments  21 10

Total Revenues 931 886

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 401 (102)

TOTAL CHANGES IN EQUITY OTHER THAN THOSE RESULTING FROM
TRANSACTIONS WITH THE STATE GOVERNMENT AS OWNER  401 (102)

Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2005 

2005 2004 
 Note $’000 $’000 
CURRENT ASSETS: 
 Cash 14 15 527 14 632
 Loans 8 420 380
 Receivables  9 271 180

Total Current Assets 16 218 15 192
NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
 Loans  8 736 1 368

Total Non-Current Assets 736 1 368

Total Assets 16 954 16 560
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Borrowings 10 13 12
 Payables 6 4 5

Total Current Liabilities 17 17
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
 Borrowings  10 34 41

Total Non-Current Liabilities 34 41

Total Liabilities 51 58

NET ASSETS  16 903 16 502

EQUITY:
 General Reserve 11, 12 – 2 000
 Committed Grants Reserve 11, 12 575 1 077
 Accumulated Surplus  16 328 13 425

TOTAL EQUITY 12 16 903 16 502
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2005 

2005 2004 
Inflows Inflows 

(Outflows) (Outflows)
Note $’000 $’000 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Interest on loans to Rural Sector  142 182
 Interest on deposits lodged with Treasurer   796 720
 Grants   (496) (799)
 Administration expenses   (50) (75)
 Interest expenses  (1) (1)
Other expenses  (4) (5)
Other revenue  21 10

Net Cash provided by Operating Activities 13 408 32

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
 Loans repaid by the Rural Sector  494 683

Net Cash provided by Investing Activities 494 683

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
 Principal repaid to the Department for Trade and Economic Development (7) (13)

Net Cash used in Financing Activities (7) (13)

NET INCREASE IN CASH HELD 895 702
CASH AT 1 JULY 14 632 13 930
CASH AT 30 JUNE 14 15 527 14 632
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

RURAL INDUSTRY ADJUSTMENT AND DEVELOPMENT FUND

1.  Fund and Purpose 
The Rural Industry Adjustment and Development Fund (RIADF) is established under the Rural 
Industry Adjustment and Development Act, 1985. The primary purpose of the Fund is to provide loans 
and grants, at Ministerial discretion, to develop a farm, make adjustments to farming methods or to 
undertake a project or research for the benefit of farmers. 

Response to 2003–04 Audit Findings 
In response to the audit qualification on the 2003–04 financial statements the Department has invested 
significant effort in reviewing, understanding and resolving the underlying issues that led to the 
qualifications.

In addition to addressing the issues raised, the Department has implemented further key control 
enhancements to ensure the process improvements are maintained in the future. 

2.  Statement of Accounting Policies 
(a)  Basis of Accounting 
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Statements of Accounting Concepts, 
applicable Australian Accounting Standards, Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views and Treasurer’s 
Instructions issued pursuant to the Public Finance and Audit Act 1987. The statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention using the accrual method of accounting. 

(b)  Employee Benefits and Related Costs 
The Department of Primary Industries and Resources (the Department) administers the operations of 
the RIADF through the Rural Finance and Development (RF&D) Unit. 

(c)  Provision for Doubtful Debts 
A general provision is calculated at 5 percent of the total loans to the rural sector. In addition any 
specific doubtful debts are assessed each year and a provision created if appropriate. 

(d)  Recognition of Revenue 
Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of returns, trade allowances and duties and taxes paid. Revenue 
is recognised when it is earned.

(e)  Financial Instruments 
Financial Assets. Cash comprises cash on hand and deposits at call with the Westpac Banking 
Corporation. Interest revenues are recognised as they accrue. 

Receivables are reported as amounts due, less the provision for doubtful debts. 

Financial Liabilities. Payables are recognised for goods and services that have been supplied but have 
not been paid as at 30 June 2005. Payables are recorded at cost and are normally settled within 30 
days. 

(f)  Impact of Adopting Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 
Australia will be adopting Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 
(AIFRS) for reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2005. The Department for Primary 
Industries and Resources will adopt these standards for the first time in preparing Rural Industry 
Adjustment and Development Fund financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2006. It is not 
anticipated there will be any material impacts in regard to the presentation of financial statements for 
the Fund. 
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(g)  Government/Non-Government Disclosures 
In accordance with APS 13 details of revenue, expenditure, assets and liabilities according to whether 
the transactions are with entities internal to the SA Government must be disclosed in the notes to the 
accounts. In accordance with Paragraph 18 of APS 13, the threshold of $100 000 for the separate 
identification has been applied. 

3.  Grant Funding comprises payments for the following activities: 
2005 2004 
$’000 $’000 

Livestock Markets  200 200 
Primary Industries – Kangaroo Island 52 43
Industry Development Board for Horticulture - 38
Measuring Sustainability and Structural Adjustment - 73
Structural Adjustment Project 84 100 
Inland Aquaculture Association of SA  - 15
Industry Development Board for Sustainable Industries Rangelands - 80
Industry Development Board for Better Beef SA Project 35 50
Industry Development Board for Meat - 20
Industry Development Board for Dairy 125 100 
Industry Development Board for Wool - 80

496 799 

4.  Provision for Doubtful Debts 
Movements in the provision for doubtful debts during the year were: 

2005 2004 

$’000 $’000 

Balance 1 July 258 135

Less:     Bad Debt projected to be written off  (177) -
Less:      Adjustment to provision (21) (43)

Add:      Bad Debt to be written off  177 166

Balance 30 June 237 258

5.  Administration 
A fixed amount of $50 000 ($60 000) has been allocated as RIADF administration expenditure. 

6.  Audit Fee 
Represents audit fees paid/payable to the Auditor-General’s Department for auditing the financial 
statements. 

7.  Interest revenue 
2005 2004 

$’000 $’000 

Interest received on loans to Rural Sector 107 148

Interest received on deposits lodged with the Treasurer 803 728

910 876



PIRSA ANNUAL REPORT 2004–05 129

8.  Loans to the Rural Sector 
2005 2004 

$’000 $’000 

Balance 1 July  2 006 2 689

                 Interest Capitalised 142 182

2 148 2 871

Less: Principal Repayments 754 865
Gross Loans to Rural Sector 1 394 2 006

Less: Provision for Doubtful Debts 

Specific 177 166

General 61 92

Net Loans to Rural Sector 1 156 1 748

Current Loans 619 566

Less: Provision for Doubtful Debts 199 186

Net Current Loans 420 380

Non-Current Loans 775 1 440

Less: Provision for Doubtful Debts 39 72

Net Non-Current Loans 736 1 368

9.  Receivables 
2005 2004 
$’000 $’000 

Accrued interest on loans to Rural Sector 82 118 
Accrued interest on deposits with Treasurer 69 62
      Accrued loan repayment 120 -

271 180 

10.  Borrowings 
Represents borrowings from the Department of Trade and Economic Development.  

11.  Reserves 
The General reserve was established to cover unforeseen losses which may arise from the loan 
portfolio.  The amount in the reserve is reviewed annually by the Rural Finance and Development 
Steering Committee and during the year the Committee agreed that this reserve was no longer required 
and therefore that the General Reserve be discontinued.  This reserve has been transferred to the 
accumulated surplus during the 2004–05 financial year. 

The Committed Grants Reserve was established to provide for grant commitments which as at 30 June 
2005 had not been advanced. During 2004–05 an amount of $502 000 was transferred from the 
Committed Grants Reserve to Accumulated Surplus. 
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12.  Equity 
 Committed   

Accumulated Grants General  
Surplus Reserve Reserve Total 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Balance at 1 July 13 425 1 077 2000 16 502 
Net surplus from ordinary activities 401 – – 401 
Transfer to/(from) reserves 2 502 (502) (2 000) -
Balance at 30 June  16 328 575 – 16 903 

13.  Reconciliation of Net Surplus from Ordinary Activities to Net Cash provided 
by/(used in) Operating Activities 

2005 2004 

$’000 $’000 

Net surplus/(deficit) from Ordinary Activities 401 (102)

Doubtful Debts Expense (21) 123

Change in Assets and Liabilities 

Decrease (Increase) in Receivables 29 26

Increase (Decrease) in Payables (1) (15)

Net Cash provided by used in Operating Activities 408 32

14.  Cash at Bank 
The Rural Industry and Development Fund monies are maintained within the Department’s controlled 
Westpac Bank Account. 

15.  Additional Financial Instruments Disclosure 
(a) Credit Risk 
The Rural Industry Adjustment and Development Fund’s maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding 
the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date to recognised financial assets is the 
carrying amount, net of any provisions for doubtful debts, as disclosed in the Statement of Financial 
Position.

(b) Interest Rate Risk 
The Rural Industry Adjustment and Development Fund’s exposure to interest rate risk, which is the 
risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates and 
the effective weighted average interest rate on those financial assets and financial liabilities, is as 
follows:
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2005 
Fixed interest maturing in 

Weighted 
Average/
Effective 
Interest 

Rate 

Floating
Interest 1 year 

or less 
1 to 5 
years 

More 
than 5 
years 

Non-
Interest 
Bearing 

2005 
Total 

2004 
Total 

Percent $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Financial Assets:         
 Cash 5.35 15 527     15 527 14 632 
 Receivables:         
 Interest on deposits 5.35 69     69 62 
 Interest on loans 6.41 82     82 118 
    Accrued loan    
    repayment 

6.41 120     120 – 

 Loans to Rural 
Sector

6.41  420 684  52 1 156 1 748 

Total  15 798 420 684  52 16 954 16 560 
         
Financial Liabilities:         
 Borrowings 6.50   47   47 53 
 Payables –     4 4 5 
Total    47  4 51 58 

(c) Net Fair Value 
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities at the reporting date all approximate their net 
fair values. 
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